
AGENDA FOR THE SPECIAL MEETING OF THE GOVERNING BOARD OF THE 

SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

November 22, 2022 

3:30pm 

Loyalton: Sierra County Office of Education, Room 4, 109 Beckwith Rd, Loyalton, CA 96118 

Patty Hall, Vice President, District l - phall@spjusd.org 

Tom Mooers, District 2 - tmooers@spjusd.org 

Christina Potter, Clerk, District 3 - cpotter@spjusd.org 

Vacant, District 4 

Dorie Gayner, District 5 - dgayner@spjusd.org 

In accordance with AB 361, effective October 1, 2021, pertaining to the convening of public meetings in 

response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Governing Board of the Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School 

District will suspend the Brown Act teleconferencing posting requirements for any Board members that 

choose to participate via Zoom videoconferencing. 

Zoom: bttps:/ /us02web.zo 111. us/j/81978623 7 51 

Phone dial-in: 669-900-9128 Webinar ID: 819 7862 3751 

(Press *6 to unmute) 

Any individual who requires disability-related accommodations or modifications including auxiliary aids and services in order to participate in 

the Board meeting should contact the Superintendent or designee in writing. 

Public inspection of agenda documents that are distributed lo the Board less than 72 hours before the meeting, will be made available at Sierra County 

Office of Education, Room 3, 109 Beckwith Road, Loyalton, CA, 96118, and posted with the online agenda at 

hllp:llwww.sierracountyofficeofeducation.org (Government Code 54957.5). 

A. CALL TO ORDER

Please be advised that this meeting will be recorded.

B. ROLL CALL

C. From meeting adjoDrned earlv due to loss of quorum November 08, 2022:

Approval of utilizing AB 361 for meetings conducted through December 13, 2022

~ This suspends the Brown Act teleconferencing posting requirements for any Board 

members that choose to participate via Zoom videoconferencing 

~AB 361 expires January OJ, 2024 

~Zoom will be available for the public with or without utilizing AB 361 

D. APPROVAL OF AGENDA

E. FLAG SALUTE

F. PUBLIC COMMENT

Special Meeting Agenda Items only, please.
This is an opportunity for members of the public to directly address the governing board on any item of interest that is

within the subject matter jurisdiction of the governing board listed on this agenda. Three (3) minutes may be allotted to

each speaker and a maximum of twenty (20) minutes to each subject matter. (Education Code 35145.5; Bylaw 9322;

Government Code 54954.3)

G. CONSENT CALENDAR

1. Approval of minutes for the Regular Board Meeting held November 08, 2022 * * 

From meeting adjourned early due to los of quorum on November 08, 2022: 

2. Approval of minutes for the Regular Board Meeting held October 11, 2022(##)

3. Approval of Board Report-Checks Dated 10/01/2022 through I 0/31/2022(##)

Page I of 3 
SPJUSD Special Meeting Agenda- November 22, 2022 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/81978623751


4. Approval of the following Personnel items:

a. Assignment of Faith Edwards, 2022-2023 Friday Night Live Kids Advisor

(TK/K-6), Downieville Elementary School

b. Assignment of Misty Painter, Custodian, Downieville Schools, .38 FTE (3

hours/day), effective October 04, 2022

c. Assignment of Misty Painter, Noon Supervisor, Downieville Schools, .25 FTE

(1.5 hours/day), effective October 04, 2022

d. Assignment of Rebekah Perez, 2022-2023 W ASC Lead, Loyalton High School

e. Assignment of Taya Hernandez, Instructional Aide, Loyalton High School, .25

FTE (1.5 hours/day), effective October 17, 2022

f. Acceptance of Retirement for Kathy Henson, Instructional Aide, Loyalton

Elementary School, .23 FTE (1 .4 hours/day), effective December 30, 2022

g. Authorization to fill Instructional Aide, Loyalton Elementary School, .23 FTE

(1.4 hours/day)

h. Acceptance of Retirement for Kathy Henson, Cashier, Loyalton Elementary

School, .67 FTE (4 hours/day), effective December 30, 2022

1. Authorization to fill Cashier, Loyalton Elementary School, .5 FTE (3 hours/day)

J. Approval to increase FTE for vacant Instructional Aide, Loyalton Elementary

School, from .33 FTE to .58 FTE (add 1.5 hours/day-total of 3.5 hours/day)

k. Authorization to fill Classroom Specialist (Nurse Duties), Districtwide, .5 FTE (3

hours/day)

I. Acceptance of Resignation for Kimberly Askew, Educational Research

Technician, Districtwide, .25 FTE ( 10 hours weekly), effective October 31, 2022

H. ACTION ITEMS

1. New Business

From meeting adjourned early clue to los of quorum on November 08. 2022:

a. Soccer Field Committee presentation by Board Member, Dorie Gayner(##)

b. Career Technical Education (CTE) annual report for the 2021-2022 School Year

c. California Assessment of Student Performance and Progress (CAASPP) report

for the 2021-2022 School Year

d. Universal Pre-Kindergarten

e. Review and award bid for the 2000 GMC Safari SLE AWD Van(##)

f. Acceptance of the Sierra-Plumas Teachers Association Sunshine Proposal for

the 2023-2024 School Year to begin negotiations/\/\(##)

BOARD POLICIES, ADMINISTRATIVE REGULATIONS, EXHIBITS, BOARD BYLAWS 

From meeting adjourned early due to I of quorum on November 08, 2022: 

g. 614 3-Courses of Study

1. Board Policy, revisions/\/\(##)

2. Administrative Regulation, revisions/\/\(##)

h. 6146.1-High School Graduation Requirements

I. Board Policy, revisions/\/\(##)

2. Administrative Regulation, DELETE

1. 6158-Independent Study

1. Board Policy, revisions/\/\(_##)

2. Administrative Regulation, revisions/\/\(##)

Page 2 of 3 
SPJUSD Special Meeting Agenda- November 22, 2022 



J. 6164.2-Guidance/Counsel ing Services

1. Board Policy, revisionsN\(##)

k. 6178-Career Technical Education

1. Board Policy, revisionsN\(##)

2. Administrative Regulation, revisionsN\(##)

I. 6200-Adult Education

1. Board Policy, revisionsN\(##)

2. Administrative Regulation, revisionsN\(##)

m. 7110-Facilities Master Plan

l. Board Policy, revisionsN\(##)

n. 7150-Site Selection and Development

l .  Board Policy, revisionsN\(##)

2. Administrative Regulation, revisionsN\(##)

I. ADV AN CED PLANNING

l. Next Regular Board Meetings will be held on December 13, 2022, at Downieville

School, 130 School St, Downieville CA 95936, beginning with Closed Session as needed

at 5:00pm and the Regular Board Meetings at 6:00pm. Zoom videoconferencing will also

be available for the public.

2. Suggested Agenda Items

-Addendum to Superintendent contract reflecting 5% raise

J. ADJOURN

** enclosed 

* handout
N\ County agenda backup 

(##) prior meeting material 

James Berardi, Superintendent 

James Berardi, Superintendent - jberardi@spjusd.org 

Kristie Jacobsen, Administrative Assistant to the Superintendent - kjacobsen@spjusd.org 

Nona Griesert, Director of Business Services/CBO - ngriesert@spjusd.org 

Office: 530-993-1660 x0 

Email schoolinfo@spjusd.org to be added to the agenda email list. 

Page 3 of 3 

SPJUSD Special Meeting Agenda - November 22, 2022 



Page 1 of 6 

SPJUSD Minutes – November 08, 2022 

MINUTES FOR THE REGULAR MEETING OF THE GOVERNING BOARD OF THE 

SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

November 08, 2022 

5:00pm CLOSED Session 

Regular Session immediately followed the 6:00pm meeting of the Sierra County Board of Education 

Loyalton: Sierra County Office of Education, Room 4, 109 Beckwith Rd, Loyalton CA 96118 

Zoom videoconferencing was also available for the public. 

In accordance with AB 361, effective October 1, 2021, pertaining to the convening of public meetings in response 

to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Governing Board of the Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District suspended 

the Brown Act teleconferencing posting requirements for any Board members choosing to participate via Zoom 

videoconferencing. 

 

A. CALL TO ORDER 

Vice President PATTY HALL called the meeting to order at 5:04pm. 

B. ROLL CALL 

PRESENT: Patty Hall, Vice President, District 1 (via Zoom) 

Tom Mooers, District 2 (via Zoom) 

Christina Potter, Clerk, District 3 

Dorie Gayner, District 5 

ABSENT: None 

VACANT:  District 4 

C. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

POTTER/GAYNER 

4/0 

D. PUBLIC COMMENT FOR CLOSED SESSION 

None 

E. CLOSED SESSION 

The Board of Trustees, Superintendent James Berardi and Business Manager Nona Griesert moved 

into Closed Session at 5:05pm to discuss the following item(s): 

1. Government Code 54957.6 

CONFERENCE WITH LABOR NEGOTIATORS 

Agency Negotiator for the Board: James Berardi, Superintendent 

Employee Organizations: 

Unrepresented Employees:  Sierra-Plumas Teachers’ Association 

Classified Employees 

Confidential Employees 

Administrative Employees 

F. RETURN TO OPEN SESSION and ADJOURN FOR BREAK at 6:00pm 

G. 6:00PM – RECESS TO THE SIERRA COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION MEETING 



Page 2 of 6 

SPJUSD Minutes – November 08, 2022 

H. RECONVENE THE SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT GOVERNING 

BOARD MEETING at 6:47pm 

I. REPORT OUT FROM CLOSED SESSION 

MOOERS: Discussed plan to constructively and positively engage in the next round of negotiations 

with all groups. Also discussed the Superintendent’s salary after receiving communication from 

other employees in the District indicating that the Board has been remiss in keeping the 

Superintendent’s pay on par with other employees. As a Board, we agreed this was a mistake in not 

making a salary adjustment at the time of the last Superintendent Annual Review. The Board 

intends to remedy this mistake with a modest increase in pay now with the opportunity to further 

address a potential adjustment at the next Annual Review. 

MOOERS motioned to adjust the Superintendent’s salary with a 5% increase retroactive to July 

1, 2022, with the acknowledged intent to further address potential adjustments at the next 

Annual Review. Second by GAYNER. 

4/0 

J. INFORMATION/DISCUSSION ITEMS 

1. Superintendent’s Report 

a. First reading of the proposed Board Meeting Calendars for 2023 

BERARDI: Looking to streamline meetings and get better organized to make 

the meetings more succinct and efficient. 

b. Update on Mental Health Student Services Act Grant 

BERARDI: Still in discussion phase about where the Wellness Center will be 

placed. Program Planning—starting billing process and working on job 

descriptions. Problem we foresee is obtaining staff. We can build a building 

with the intent to provide services for students, but we can’t provide services 

without proper staff in place. Having a hard time finding people to fill in open 

positions currently which is starting to make us consider online options. 

c. Nurse update 

BERARDI: Looking at MOU with Sierra County Health Department for five 

hours per week for a nurse. Also increasing hours for an Aide qualified to 

perform some basic nurse duties. 

d. Website update 

BERARDI: Moving forward with a contract to rebuild all of the websites in the 

District. Hoping to have this completed within six weeks. 

e. Security update 

BERARDI: Updating equipment and installing new equipment for camera 

systems at each school site. Moving forward with rekeying all sites across the 

district. Looking at replacing the front door at LHS next summer. 

f. Liberty Charging Stations proposal for Sierra County Office of Education 

BERARDI: Previous discussions about putting in charging stations on District 

property was not favored by members of the public and the Board. Liberty has 

since reached out again to let us know they still have grant funds for this 

project. It doesn’t appear there would be room in the parking lot between LES, 

District Office and the daycare. Exploring the possibility of trying to use the 



Page 3 of 6 

SPJUSD Minutes – November 08, 2022 

same grant funds to put charging stations in at the City Park by the Probation 

Office to help the community at large. 

g. Bus update 

BERARDI: Doing much better on personnel with getting new bus drivers. 

Continued issues with buses themselves. Issues with the electric buses are 

putting a strain on the diesel-powered buses which have their own mechanical 

issues to address. May need to buy a newer-used bus. Also exploring the 

possibility of a lease option with Truckee if they have any extra buses 

available. 

h. Deferred Maintenance List 

1. Loyalton campus plan improvements 

2. Soccer field 

BERARDI: We have a lot of expenses for large projects coming up that need to 

be addressed – roofing, windows, walls, flooring, paint, HVAC, etc. We need to 

prioritize projects in a manner that may push campus plan improvements and 

soccer field improvements further down the list. These are all positive and 

important projects to consider, but some of the infrastructure projects have 

been neglected too long to not prioritize first. 

2. Business Report 

a. Letter from the California Department of Education approving the 2022-2023 

Adopted Budgets 

b. Account Object Summary-Balance from 07/01/2022 to 10/31/2022 

c. Second Month Enrollments for the 2022-2023 School Year 

3. Staff Reports 

LES—CERESOLA: In October we Celebrated Red Ribbon week – thank you to Kim 

Askew and Anne Anne Reugebrink! Held our Annual Fall Festival – thank you to 

the 6th Grade class and Mrs. Petterson! Held our second Cub Store for kids to use 

Paw Bucks. Held our Fall Book Fair – thank you to GCPC! Next week parent-

teacher conferences coming up, first trimester coming to an end. Basketball is 

starting up. We are in need of parent volunteers. Looking to bring back the annual 

tournament in January. Next week the garden will be closing for the winter months 

– thank you to Sherrill Rahe for running such a great program! We sent out our 

first trimester newsletter; assembly on December 2nd at 8:30am. We are bringing 

back our Annual Christmas Program on December 21st. 

LHS—MESCHERY: Thank you to my staff while I was out Friday and Monday!  

End of Quarter 1 was last week – 73% of students with 3.0 GPA or higher. 

Academic Awards Assembly will be held Thursday at 10:30am. Site Council met 

for Quarter 1. Created a parent survey to get input before Winter Break. Red 

Ribbon week was great! Theater Class is performing Waking Sleepy Hollow this 

Thursday at 6pm. Football team in playoffs. 

DES & DHS—BERARDI: Had first WASC visit of the year last week. Another 3-

day visit scheduled for March. Currently working on our next six-year report. Held 

our Halloween Carnival and had a great turnout. A lot of field trips taking place – 

recent trip put on by FNL for LHS & DHS to Disneyland for a Youth Summit. 



Page 4 of 6 

SPJUSD Minutes – November 08, 2022 

Rafting trip coming up next week for DHS. Thank you for donations making this 

trip possible! Trip this upcoming Monday for LHS & DHS to Tahoe Meadows 

Community College. Held River Day in Downieville last weekend with involvement 

from students. Great, positive impact on the students! Second “Pizza with the 

Principal” with the elementary students went well. Parent-Teacher Conferences 

were held two weeks ago which were successful. New music program for 6th-12th 

grades starting up with help from Sierra Arts Council. Still looking to fill the 

Downieville Principal position. 

4. SPTA Report 

PRESIDENT—PETTERSON: SPTA submitted their Sunshine Proposal to begin 

negotiations for the 2023-2024 school year. 

5. Board Members’ Report 

None 

6. Public Comment 

Kelly Champion—Looking for clarification on times to speak on different items – 

only allowed during Public Comment? Can I ask questions during Action Items, 

Consent Calendar? Can some of the services we are contracting for be billed 

through the Mental Health services grant? 

Cali Griffin—Ag Department and FFA update. Big thank you to Kristal Emsoff for 

her help while I was out! In October the students did some pumpkin carving and 

delivered to businesses. Students attended the National FFA Convention. We have 

11-13 students currently working on their CA State Degrees. Sheep are back from 

the summer. Students learning about inducing lambing sooner this year due to the 

earlier date set for the fair. I’m on the state committee working to update the Ag 

Incentive Grant. I’m also a facilitator for Superior Region for new Ag teachers. 

Staci Armstrong—Concerns regarding Liberty Charging stations. These would still 

be too close to the schools if put in by the Probation Office. There’s no secure 

fencing between that area and the schools. Also concerned about the mention of 

using grant money for these charging stations. Grant money was used for the 

electric buses and they are still costing the district thousands of dollars. 

Amber Donnelly—Would like to bring up sub pay. Plumas County subs are paid 

higher than Sierra County. Higher sub pay could bring in more subs and better 

qualified people. 

John Martinetti—Question/concern about the Ethnic Studies requirement in 

updates to policies in courses of study. I feel it’s a tremendous waste of time. 

K. CONSENT CALENDAR 

1. Approval of minutes for the Regular Board Meeting held October 11, 2022 

2. Approval of Board Report-Checks Dated 10/01/2022 through 10/31/2022 

3. Approval of the following Personnel items: 

a. Assignment of Faith Edwards, 2022-2023 Friday Night Live Kids Advisor 

(TK/K-6), Downieville Elementary School 

b. Assignment of Misty Painter, Custodian, Downieville Schools, .38 FTE (3 

hours/day), effective October 04, 2022 



Page 5 of 6 

SPJUSD Minutes – November 08, 2022 

c. Assignment of Misty Painter, Noon Supervisor, Downieville Schools, .25 FTE 

(1.5 hours/day), effective October 04, 2022 

d. Assignment of Rebekah Perez, 2022-2023 WASC Lead, Loyalton High School 

e. Assignment of Taya Hernandez, Instructional Aide, Loyalton High School, .25 

FTE (1.5 hours/day), effective October 17, 2022 

f. Acceptance of Retirement for Kathy Henson, Instructional Aide, Loyalton 

Elementary School, .23 FTE (1.4 hours/day), effective December 30, 2022 

g. Authorization to fill Instructional Aide, Loyalton Elementary School, .23 FTE 

(1.4 hours/day) 

h. Acceptance of Retirement for Kathy Henson, Cashier, Loyalton Elementary 

School, .67 FTE (4 hours/day), effective December 30, 2022 

i. Authorization to fill Cashier, Loyalton Elementary School, .5 FTE (3 hours/day) 

j. Approval to increase FTE for vacant Instructional Aide, Loyalton Elementary 

School, from .33 FTE to .58 FTE (add 1.5 hours/day – total of 3.5 hours/day) 

k. Authorization to fill Classroom Specialist (Nurse Duties), Districtwide, .5 FTE (3 

hours/day) 

l. Acceptance of Resignation for Kimberly Askew, Educational Research 

Technician, Districtwide, .25 FTE (10 hours weekly), effective October 31, 2022 

GAYNER/MOOERS 

Questions from Kelly Champion regarding Board Report-Checks. 

**ADJOURNED MEETING AT 7:46PM DUE TO LOSS OF QUORUM – POWER OUTAGE IN SIERRA 

CITY AND DOWNIEVILLE** 

L. ACTION ITEMS 

1. New Business 

a. Soccer Field Committee presentation by Board Member, Dorie Gayner 

b. Career Technical Education (CTE) annual report for the 2021-2022 School Year 

c. California Assessment of Student Performance and Progress (CAASPP) report 

for the 2021-2022 School Year 

d. Universal Pre-Kindergarten 

e. Review and award bid for the 2000 GMC Safari SLE AWD Van 

f. Acceptance of the Sierra-Plumas Teachers Association Sunshine Proposal for 

the 2023-2024 School Year to begin negotiations 

g. Approval of utilizing AB 361 for meetings conducted through December 13, 2022 

~This suspends the Brown Act teleconferencing posting requirements for 

any Board members that choose to participate via Zoom videoconferencing  

~AB 361 expires January 01, 2024 

~Zoom will be available for the public with or without utilizing AB 361 

BOARD POLICIES, ADMINISTRATIVE REGULATIONS, EXHIBITS, BOARD BYLAWS 

h. 6143—Courses of Study 

1. Board Policy, revisions^^ 

2. Administrative Regulation, revisions^^ 

i. 6146.1—High School Graduation Requirements 

1. Board Policy, revisions^^ 



Page 6 of 6 

SPJUSD Minutes – November 08, 2022 

2. Administrative Regulation, DELETE 

j. 6158—Independent Study 

1. Board Policy, revisions^^ 

2. Administrative Regulation, revisions^^ 

k. 6164.2—Guidance/Counseling Services 

1. Board Policy, revisions^^ 

l. 6178—Career Technical Education 

1. Board Policy, revisions^^ 

2. Administrative Regulation, revisions^^ 

m. 6200—Adult Education 

1. Board Policy, revisions^^ 

2. Administrative Regulation, revisions^^ 

n. 7110—Facilities Master Plan 

1. Board Policy, revisions^^ 

o. 7150—Site Selection and Development 

1. Board Policy, revisions^^ 

2. Administrative Regulation, revisions^^ 

M. ADVANCED PLANNING 

1. Next Regular Board Meetings will be held on December 13, 2022, at Downieville 

School, 130 School St, Downieville CA 95936, beginning with Closed Session as needed 

at 5:00pm and the Regular Board Meetings at 6:00pm. Zoom videoconferencing will also 

be available for the public. 

2. Suggested Agenda Items 

N. ADJOURN  

**ADJOURNED MEETING AT 7:46PM DUE TO LOSS OF QUORUM – POWER OUTAGE IN SIERRA 

CITY AND DOWNIEVILLE** 

 

 

 

_______________________________  _______________________________ 

Christina Potter, Clerk    James Berardi, Superintendent 





Page 1 of 5 

SPJUSD Minutes – October 11, 2022 

MINUTES FOR THE REGULAR MEETING OF THE GOVERNING BOARD OF THE 

SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

October 11, 2022 

5:30pm CLOSED Session 

Regular Session immediately followed the 6:00pm meeting of the Sierra County Board of Education 

Downieville: Downieville School, 130 School St, Downieville CA 95936 

Zoom videoconferencing was also available for the public. 

In accordance with AB 361, effective October 1, 2021, pertaining to the convening of public meetings in response 

to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Governing Board of the Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District suspended 

the Brown Act teleconferencing posting requirements for any Board members choosing to participate via Zoom 

videoconferencing. 

 

A. CALL TO ORDER 

Vice President PATTY HALL called the meeting to order at 5:33pm. 

B. ROLL CALL 

PRESENT: Patty Hall, Vice President, District 1 

Tom Mooers, District 2 (via Zoom) 

Dorie Gayner, District 5 

ABSENT: Christina Potter, Clerk, District 3 

VACANT:  District 4 

C. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

GAYNER/MOOERS 

3/0 

D. PUBLIC COMMENT FOR CLOSED SESSION 

None 

E. CLOSED SESSION 

The Board of Trustees, and Superintendent James Berardi and Business Manager Nona Griesert 

moved into Closed Session at 5:35pm to discuss the following item(s): 

1. Government Code 54957 

PUBLIC EMPLOYMENT DISCIPLINE/DISMISSAL/RELEASE 

2. Government Code 54957.6 

CONFERENCE WITH LABOR NEGOTIATORS 

Agency Negotiator for the Board: James Berardi, Superintendent 

Employee Organizations: 

Unrepresented Employees:  Sierra-Plumas Teachers’ Association 

Classified Employees 

Confidential Employees 

Administrative Employees 

F. RETURN TO OPEN SESSION and ADJOURN FOR BREAK at 6:00pm 

G. 6:00PM – RECESS TO THE SIERRA COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION MEETING 



Page 2 of 5 

SPJUSD Minutes – October 11, 2022 

 

H. RECONVENE THE SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT GOVERNING 

BOARD MEETING at 6:40pm 

I. REPORT OUT FROM CLOSED SESSION 

GAYNER: Discussion in preparation for upcoming negotiations expected in November. Planning 

Professional Development for teachers, administrators and board members about Sensitivity training. 

J. INFORMATION/DISCUSSION ITEMS 

1. Superintendent’s Report 

a. Bus update 

BERARDI: Setting up meetings with Plumas County regarding the electric buses 

we have on the east side. We want to approach Lyon about the issues we’ve been 

having in both Sierra and Plumas Counties that have been very unexpected and 

push for them to address the issues. Also, on the west side the company we 

contract with submitted a new contract proposal which we hope to address by the 

next board meeting. New bus drive, Isaac Price, is doing a phenomenal job as a 

driver as well as an addition to the maintenance staff at LHS. 

b. Sports funding 

GRIESERT: Approximately $100K goes to the sports programs districtwide 

annually. 

BERARDI: There is funding for sports, but there needs to be further 

discussions whether it’s enough ongoing and where additional funding would 

come from. 

c. Soccer field/grass maintenance update 

BERARDI: All of our research so far is showing that this will be a very costly 

project even with the bare minimum being done: baseline $200K-$450K. I’m 

having ongoing discussions with the administrators and board member 

Gayner, heading up the committee, to ensure all aspects are covered. 

d. Nurse 

BERARDI: Still no nurse hired due to a number of different circumstances. We 

are starting to consider virtual options. Will continue to work with Megan 

Dahle’s office to write proposed changes to laws that would allow small rural 

areas like Sierra County to have an easier time hiring people into positions 

such as the nurse that are difficult to fill. 

2. Business Report 

a. Account Object Summary-Balance from 07/01/2022 to 09/30/2022 

b. First Month Enrollments for the 2022-2023 School Year 

3. Staff Reports 

LES—CERESOLA: Last month we were dealing with smoke and heat…now 

dealing with water issues. City providing bottled water. Tutoring and After-School 

programs are going well. Sports going strong. GCPC fundraiser was successful 

last weekend. Lots of field trips going on. Wild Things assembly back again this 

year. First Annual Bike Rodeo held at LES with CHP and Probation and it was a 

great turnout! Tons of kids brought their bikes to learn about bike safety and run 



Page 3 of 5 

SPJUSD Minutes – October 11, 2022 

through the courses set up. Pop with a Cop starting up again with local CHP, 

Sherriff’s department and Probation. Participated in dress up days for 

Homecoming and took students uptown to watch parade. It was a great event for 

the kiddos to participate in. 

LHS—MESCHERY: Homecoming last week went well. The parade on Friday 

instead of Saturday was successful. Great to have the elementary students 

involved! PSAT coming up. Cash for College night this week. A lot going on with 

sports – makeup games going on due to heat and smoke. 

DES & DHS—BERARDI: Prepping for upcoming WASC visitation. Parent-

Teacher conferences coming up. Fall carnival on the 28th. Wild Things assembly 

held in Downieville too – the kids love it. Lots of Friday Night Live activities for 

the kids. Field trips. Having a good time with Pizza with the Principal. College 

Night – FAFSA for seniors. 

4. SPTA Report 

None 

5. Board Members’ Report 

GAYNER: The doors at LHS look amazing. Visiting LES tomorrow. 

MOOERS: Promoting Downieville 6th grade fundraiser for Science Camp. 

HALL: Attended the Wild Things assembly in Downieville. It’s one of the best 

programs that the kids get do. 

6. Public Comment 

Kelly Champion—LES looks really good. Appreciate all of the field trips offered 

for the kids. Interested in revisiting the MOU with Behavioral Health regarding the 

grant money to be used for a Wellness Center, how it’s being used, what plans are 

currently in place and being worked on, etc. Would like to see an update on the 

next agenda. 

Megan Meschery—Thank you to the community! Sierra Schools Foundation annual 

Golf Tournament fundraiser was held last weekend and was a success. Thank you 

to GAYNER for her art contribution and attending the dinner. Fall grant cycle is 

now open through mid-November. Grants available to help seniors with Senior 

Projects. Newsletter expected around Thanksgiving time. 

K. CONSENT CALENDAR 

1. Approval of minutes for the Regular Board Meeting held September 13, 2022 

2. Approval of minutes for the Special Board Meeting held September 22, 2022 

3. Approval of Board Report-Checks Dated 09/01/2022 through 09/30/2022 

4. Approval of Quarterly Report on Williams Uniform Complaints for the quarter ending 

September 30, 2022 

5. Approval of Assignment of Robin Bolle, 2022-2023 WASC Lead for maintenance year, 

Downieville Schools 

GAYNER/MOOERS 

3/0 

 

 



Page 4 of 5 

SPJUSD Minutes – October 11, 2022 

L. ACTION ITEMS 

1. New Business 

PUBLIC HEARING—Textbooks and Instructional Materials 

a. Public Hearing to receive comments on the sufficiency of textbooks and 

instructional materials for Transitional Kindergarten through 12th grade in each 

subject and to assure that they are aligned with the state standards adopted 

pursuant to Ed Code 60605 or 60605.8. Also meet the reporting and 

sufficiency requirements contained in Ed Code 60119. 

Opened at 7:24pm.  

Kelly Champion—Will look for SARCs for lists of current 

curriculum/textbook lists. Would like to see this information made more 

easily available for the public. 

Note from County meeting: The purpose of this Hearing and the 

subsequent Resolution is an annual process required by Ed Code to 

declare at a public meeting that all students have sufficient textbooks and 

instructional materials for the current school year. Williams Uniform 

Complaint procedures can be used at any time during the school year if 

there is any concern that the sufficiency of textbooks or instructional 

materials are lacking in any subject area at any grade level. All 

materials listed in the Resolution in each subject area were adopted 

using a rigorous adoption process. 

Closed at 7:26pm. 

b. Adoption of Resolution No. 23-003D, Sufficiency of Textbooks or 

Instructional Materials 

HALL/MOOERS 

ROLL CALL VOTE: 

HALL – Aye 

MOOERS – Aye 

GAYNER – Aye 

3/0 

c. Approval of utilizing AB 361 for meetings conducted through November 08, 2022 

~This suspends the Brown Act teleconferencing posting requirements for 

any Board members that choose to participate via Zoom videoconferencing  

~AB 361 expires January 01, 2024 

~Zoom will be available for the public with or without utilizing AB 361 

MOOERS/GAYNER 

3/0 

BOARD POLICIES, ADMINISTRATIVE REGULATIONS, EXHIBITS, BOARD BYLAWS 

MOOERS motioned to approve all policies as was done in County meeting.  

Second by GAYNER. 

3/0 

d. 0420.41—Charter School Oversight 

1. Board Policy, revisions 

2. Exhibit, revisions 



Page 5 of 5 

SPJUSD Minutes – October 11, 2022 

e. 3517—Facilities Inspection 

1. Administrative Regulation, revisions 

2. Exhibit, revisions 

f. 3550—Food Service/Child Nutrition Program 

1. Board Policy, revisions 

2. Administrative Regulation, revisions 

g. 3551—Food Service Operations/Cafeteria Fund 

1. Board Policy, revisions 

2. Administrative Regulation, revisions 

h. 3553—Free and Reduced Price Meals 

1. Board Policy, revisions 

2. Administrative Regulation, revisions 

i. 9100—Organization 

1. Bylaw, revisions 

M. ADVANCED PLANNING 

1. Next Regular Board Meetings will be held on November 08, 2022, at Sierra County 

Office of Education, Room 4, 109 Beckwith Rd, Loyalton CA 96118, beginning with 

Closed Session as needed at 5:00pm and the Regular Board Meetings at 6:00pm. Zoom 

videoconferencing will also be available for the public. 

2. Suggested Agenda Items 

-Update on MOU with Behavioral Health and progress with plan for Wellness Center 

N. ADJOURN at 7:30pm 

GAYNER/MOOERS 

3/0 

 

 

 

_______________________________  _______________________________ 

Christina Potter, Clerk    James Berardi, Superintendent 







Board ReportReqPay12c

Checks Dated 10/01/2022 through 10/31/2022

Check 
AmountPay to the Order of

Check 
Number

Check 
Date

Expensed 
AmountFund-Object Comment

00085641 10/07/2022 ACADEMIC INNOVATIONS 01-4300 FRESHMAN FOCUS CURRICULUM 594.33 

00085642 10/07/2022 AIRGAS, USA, LLC 01-5600 TANK RENTAL LHS/DVL 281.80 

00085643 10/07/2022 AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES 01-4300 CLASSROOM SUPPLIES 677.76 

INSTRUCTIONAL SUPPLIES 96.59 

LABOR LAWS POSTERS 55.72 

library supplies 84.60 

SCISSORS 27.87 

01-4301 INSTRUCTIONAL SUPPLIES 219.69 

01-4302 INSTRUCTIONAL SUPPLIES 67.70 

TONER 43.20 

01-4305 ART SUPPLIES 165.45 

Volleyball Supplies 110.46 

01-4320 office supplies 7.84-

WALKIE TALKIES 53.61 

WALL MOUNT FAN 545.72 

01-4330 FLAG HOLDER 86.71 

OFFICE SUPPLIES 281.12 2,508.36 

00085644 10/07/2022 AMERIGAS 01-5540 PROPANE 1,486.02 

00085645 10/07/2022 AMS.NET C/O FREMONT BANK 01-4400 E-RATE 25 - RUCKUS WIRELESS 1,687.20 

00085646 10/07/2022 AT&T 01-5890 PHONE SERVICES 46.38 

01-5899 PHONE SERVICES 22.63 

01-5910 PHONE SERVICES 436.60 505.61 

00085647 10/07/2022 ATKINSON, ANDELSON, LOYA, RUUD & ROMO 01-5810 LEGAL FEES 963.05 

00085648 10/07/2022 B & C TRUEVALUE HOME CENTER 01-4320 MISC MAINT SUPPLIES 69.35 

00085649 10/07/2022 BRADY INDUSTRIES 01-4320 cleaning supplies 513.63 

00085650 10/07/2022 PAMELA BRANDON 01-5600 TECH COTTAGE RENTAL 100.00 

00085651 10/07/2022 CITY OF LOYALTON 01-5530 WATER AND SEWER - LOYALTON SITES 4,094.82 

01-5899 WATER AND SEWER - LOYALTON SITES 242.51 4,337.33 

00085652 10/07/2022 COMMERCIAL APPLIANCE SERVICE 13-5600 DISHWASHER REPAIR 1,224.04 

00085653 10/07/2022 CURRENT ELECTRIC & ALARM, INC. 01-5600 ALARM MONITORING 573.75 

01-5899 ALARM MONITORING 26.25 600.00 

00085654 10/07/2022 DOCUMENT TRACKING SERVICES 01-5890 SCHOOL ACCOUNTABILITY REPORTING 1,575.00 

00085655 10/07/2022 DOWNIEVILLE PUBLIC UTILITY DIS 01-5530 Water 1,056.44 

00085656 10/07/2022 FEATHER RIVER OFFICIALS ASSN. 01-5800 Volleyball/Football Officials 1,500.00 

00085657 10/07/2022 GOSECURE 01-5890 EMAIL/INTERNET FILTERING 3,016.18 

00085658 10/07/2022 JANET HAMILTON 01-5600 TECH COTTAGE RENTAL 100.00 

00085659 10/07/2022 HOUGHTON MIFFLIN HARCOURT PUBLISHING CO. 01-4100 SCIENCE TEXTBOOKS 7,400.09 

The preceding Checks have been issued in accordance with the District's Policy and authorization of the Board of Trustees.  It is recommended that the 

preceding Checks be approved. Page 1 of 5

Generated for Adrienne Garza (ABALL), Nov  1 2022  9:26AM006 - Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District



Board ReportReqPay12c

Checks Dated 10/01/2022 through 10/31/2022

Check 
AmountPay to the Order of

Check 
Number

Check 
Date

Expensed 
AmountFund-Object Comment

00085660 10/07/2022 INTEGRITY HEATING & AIR 01-5600 HVAC DIAGNOSE/REPAIR 512.10 

00085661 10/07/2022 IXL LEARNING 01-4300 IXL learning program 1,050.00 

01-9330 IXL learning program 1,785.00 2,835.00 

00085662 10/07/2022 K 12 MANAGEMENT DBA FUELED 01-5890 ONLINE/ISP COURSES 7,867.50 

00085663 10/07/2022 KS TELECOM 01-5890 CABLING PROJECT 15,420.00 

00085664 10/07/2022 LES SCHWAB TIRE CENTER 01-4350 TRACTOR TIRES 348.82 

Vehicle Maintenance 376.15 724.97 

00085665 10/07/2022 LIBERTY UTILITIES 01-5510 ELECTRIC - LOYALTON SITES 5,456.28 

01-5899 ELECTRIC - LOYALTON SITES 99.59 5,555.87 

00085666 10/07/2022 LOYALTON BOOSTER CLUB 01-4305 FUEL REIMBURSEMENT 391.33 

00085667 10/07/2022 MCGRAW-HILL SCHOOL EDUCATION HOLDINGS, LLC 01-4100 curriculum 237.82 

00085668 10/07/2022 MODEL DAIRY, LLC 13-4700 DAIRY PRODUCTS 1,129.65 

00085669 10/07/2022 MOULE PAINT & GLASS 40-6200 GLASS REPLACEMENT 4,664.16 

00085670 10/07/2022 MOUNTAIN MESSENGER 01-5890 ADVERTISEMENTS AND PUBLIC 

HEARINGS

240.14 

00085671 10/07/2022 BCM ONE 01-5899 PHONE SERVICES 27.43 

01-5910 PHONE SERVICES 411.41 438.84 

00085672 10/07/2022 NORTHAM DISTRIBUTING, INC. 13-4340 CAFE FOOD/SUPPLIES 388.62 

13-4700 CAFE FOOD/SUPPLIES 3,472.94 3,861.56 

00085673 10/07/2022 NORTHEASTERN JOINT POWERS AUTHORITY 76-9571 WORKER'S COMP 28,624.00 

00085674 10/07/2022 OFFICE DEPOT 01-4301 Supplies 17.02 

01-4302 office supplies 1,112.90 

Supplies 1,401.13 

01-4330 OFFICE SUPPLIES 281.13 

Supplies 51.15 2,863.33 

00085675 10/07/2022 PACIFIC GAS & ELECTRIC COMPANY 01-5510 Electricity 3,733.33 

00085676 10/07/2022 AIMEE PAUL-PHEBUS 01-5200 REIMBURSEMENT 808.06 

00085677 10/07/2022 PIONEER ATHLETICS 01-4305 Field Paint 1,717.44 

Paint Machine Cleaner 86.68 1,804.12 

00085678 10/07/2022 PLACER COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 01-5200 COLLABORATION, TEAM BUILDING 1,562.50 

00085679 10/07/2022 PLUMAS COUNTY GLASS 01-4320 GLASS 286.36 

00085680 10/07/2022 PLUMAS COUNTY CLERK-RECORDER REGISTRAR 01-5812 ELECTION COSTS 500.00 

00085681 10/07/2022 ISAAC PRICE 01-5200 REIMBURSEMENT 609.70 

00085682 10/07/2022 QUALITY SUITES Reissued 141.74 *

Reissued on 10/05/2022

00085683 10/07/2022 RAY MORGAN COMPANY 01-5600 COPIER MAINT. 378.46 

01-5899 COPIER MAINT. 78.33 456.79 

00085684 10/07/2022 SCHOOL OUTFITTERS 01-4320 TABLE 648.57 

The preceding Checks have been issued in accordance with the District's Policy and authorization of the Board of Trustees.  It is recommended that the 

preceding Checks be approved. Page 2 of 5

Generated for Adrienne Garza (ABALL), Nov  1 2022  9:26AM006 - Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District



Board ReportReqPay12c

Checks Dated 10/01/2022 through 10/31/2022

Check 
AmountPay to the Order of

Check 
Number

Check 
Date

Expensed 
AmountFund-Object Comment

00085685 10/07/2022 SCHOOL SPECIALTY LLC 01-4300 classroom supplies 569.50 

PLAYGROUND SUPPLIES 784.79 1,354.29 

00085686 10/07/2022 SCHOOL PATHWAYS LLC 01-5890 CALPADS REPORTING 10,710.00 

00085687 10/07/2022 STEPHANIE SHELBY 01-4305 Reim. for practice soccer balls 157.68 

00085688 10/07/2022 SIERRA COUNTY HEALTH DEPARTMENT 01-5510 ELECTRICAL SERVICES FOR TECH 

COTTAGE

289.50 

00085689 10/07/2022 INTERMOUNTAIN DISPOSAL, INC. 01-5520 GARBAGE SERVICE 617.05 

01-5899 GARBAGE SERVICE 11.77 628.82 

00085690 10/07/2022 SIERRA HARDWARE 01-4320 Misc Maintenance supplies 288.09 

00085691 10/07/2022 SIERRA VALLEY HOME CENTER 01-4320 MAINT. SUPPLIES 644.48 

MAINT/CUSTODIAL SUPPLIES 510.01 1,154.49 

00085692 10/07/2022 STARFALL EDUCATION 01-5300 membership renewal 355.00 

00085693 10/07/2022 DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE ACCOUNTING OFFICE 01-5890 EMPLOYMENT FINGERPRINTING 546.00 

00085694 10/07/2022 CDE, CASHIER'S OFFICE 13-4700 COMMODITIES 1,656.07 

13-8221 COMMODITIES 1,597.57- 58.50 

00085695 10/07/2022 TRI COUNTY SCHOOLS INS. GR. 01-3901 HEALTH INSURANCE 2,922.76 

01-5400 PROPERTY/CASUALTY/SELF 203,885.20 

01-9535 HEALTH INSURANCE 8,476.24 

76-9576 HEALTH INSURANCE 71,652.44 286,936.64 

00085696 10/07/2022 VERIZON WIRELESS 01-5899 CELL PHONE SERVICE 448.64 

01-5910 CELL PHONE SERVICE 152.66 601.30 

00085697 10/07/2022 U.S. BANK VOYAGER 01-4305 FUEL FOR ATHLETIC TRIPS 801.80 

01-4351 BUS FUEL 2,928.61 

Fuel for Maintenance 316.59 4,047.00 

00085698 10/07/2022 YOUNGS CARPET ONE, INC 01-5890 CARPET 11,930.00 

00085699 10/07/2022 QUALITY INN 01-5200 HOTEL ACCOMODATIONS 141.74 

00085700 10/21/2022 ACCREDITING COMM. FOR SCHOOLS 01-4330 WASC STAMP 40.00 

00085701 10/21/2022 AIRGAS, USA, LLC 01-5600 TANK RENTAL LHS/DVL 274.00 

00085702 10/21/2022 AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES 01-4300 CLASSROOM SUPPLIES 107.11 

SUPPLIES 241.48 

01-4320 MAINT SUPPLIES 96.42 445.01 

00085703 10/21/2022 AMERIGAS 01-5540 PROPANE 1,251.41 

01-5899 PROPANE 598.35 1,849.76 

00085704 10/21/2022 AT&T 01-5890 PHONE SERVICES 46.39 

01-5899 PHONE SERVICES 22.59 

01-5910 PHONE SERVICES 388.83 457.81 

00085705 10/21/2022 COMMERCIAL APPLIANCE SERVICE 13-5600 DISHWASHER REPAIR 1,063.59 

00085706 10/21/2022 DOWNIEVILLE PUBLIC UTILITY DIS 01-5530 Water 807.51 

The preceding Checks have been issued in accordance with the District's Policy and authorization of the Board of Trustees.  It is recommended that the 

preceding Checks be approved. Page 3 of 5

Generated for Adrienne Garza (ABALL), Nov  1 2022  9:26AM006 - Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District



Board ReportReqPay12c

Checks Dated 10/01/2022 through 10/31/2022

Check 
AmountPay to the Order of

Check 
Number

Check 
Date

Expensed 
AmountFund-Object Comment

00085707 10/21/2022 EDULINK SYSTEMS INC. 01-5890 EDULINK SUPPORT CONTRACT 1,295.00 

00085708 10/21/2022 EDWARDS, STEVENS AND TUCKER, LLP 01-5810 LEGAL FEES 1,091.50 

00085709 10/21/2022 MESA ENERGY SYSTEMS INC 01-5600 BOILER MAINTENANCE 1,022.00 

00085710 10/21/2022 EXPLORELEARNING 01-4300 REFLEX MATH 350.00 

00085711 10/21/2022 GIGAKOM 01-6400 ERATE - NETWORK EQUIPMENT 53.18 

00085712 10/21/2022 KS TELECOM 01-5890 CABLING PROJECT 9,960.00 

00085713 10/21/2022 MODEL DAIRY, LLC 13-4700 DAIRY PRODUCTS 251.63 

00085714 10/21/2022 NORTHAM DISTRIBUTING, INC. 13-4340 CAFE FOOD/SUPPLIES 115.72 

13-4700 CAFE FOOD/SUPPLIES 1,657.30 1,773.02 

00085715 10/21/2022 PACIFIC GAS & ELECTRIC COMPANY 01-5510 Electricity 3,238.85 

00085716 10/21/2022 RENAISSANCE LEARNING, INC. 01-5890 AR/STAR PROGRAMS 8,495.75 

00085717 10/21/2022 SIERRA BOOSTER 01-5890 ADVERTISEMENTS/LEGAL/PUBLIC 

NOTICES

209.28 

00085718 10/21/2022 INTERMOUNTAIN DISPOSAL, INC. 01-5520 GARBAGE SERVICE 589.61 

01-5899 GARBAGE SERVICE 11.76 601.37 

00085719 10/21/2022 SIERRA HARDWARE 01-4320 Misc Maintenance supplies 134.41 

00085720 10/21/2022 SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED 01-5890 BANK SERVICE FEES 53.22 

00085721 10/21/2022 DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE ACCOUNTING OFFICE 01-5890 EMPLOYMENT FINGERPRINTING 480.00 

00085722 10/21/2022 SUPER CIRCUITS 01-4400 VIDEO CAMERAS 3,016.28 

00085723 10/21/2022 SYSCO SACRAMENTO 13-4340 CAFETERIA - FOOD AND SUPPLIES 229.64 

13-4700 CAFETERIA - FOOD AND SUPPLIES 2,738.86 2,968.50 

00085724 10/21/2022 VERIZON WIRELESS 01-5899 CELL PHONE SERVICE 152.83 

01-5910 CELL PHONE SERVICE 154.80 307.63 

Total Number of Checks 84 474,874.22 

Net Issue

Reissue

AmountCount

 1 141.74 

474,732.48 

Fund Summary

Fund Description Check Count Expensed Amount

General Fund 73 357,461.39 01

Cafeteria Fund 8 12,330.49 13

Special Reserve for Capital Ou 1 4,664.16 40

Warrant/Pass Though (payroll) 2 100,276.44 76

The preceding Checks have been issued in accordance with the District's Policy and authorization of the Board of Trustees.  It is recommended that the 

preceding Checks be approved. Page 4 of 5

Generated for Adrienne Garza (ABALL), Nov  1 2022  9:26AM006 - Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District



Board ReportReqPay12c

Checks Dated 10/01/2022 through 10/31/2022

Check 
AmountPay to the Order of

Check 
Number

Check 
Date

Expensed 
AmountFund-Object Comment

Net (Check Amount)

Less Unpaid Sales Tax Liability

Total Number of Checks 83 474,732.48 

.00 

474,732.48 

The preceding Checks have been issued in accordance with the District's Policy and authorization of the Board of Trustees.  It is recommended that the 

preceding Checks be approved. Page 5 of 5

Generated for Adrienne Garza (ABALL), Nov  1 2022  9:26AM006 - Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District



11/2/2022 

School Field Restoration Project 

For the SPJUSD Board 

 

The soccer field is used for students to do physical education and can be used for 

soccer practice and games for the young students. To make this useable, it will take 

several steps. 

The job will include the following: 

Civil Survey and Plan with District  

Engineer  

Mobilization  

Excavation  

Green Waste disposal  

Irrigation  

Drainage  

Soil Addition  

Soil Amendment  

Grading  

Seed  

Sod  

Maintenance  

Water  

 

Mr. Berardi got a quote of $300,000.00 for the field, it is a starting point.  

If this is favorable for the community and the school board, then we will move forward to 

finish the RFP and put it out to bid.  

The job can be done many ways, and a bid process will give us more information 

pertaining to cost. 

 

Should the committee move forward with the Bid process? 

 









 

 

Sierra-  Plumas Teachers  Associat ion  

( C T A / N E A ) 

Initial Bargaining Proposal for Sunshine 

2023-24 School Year 
 

 

The S i e r r a - P l u m a s T e a c h e r s A s s o c i a t i o n hereby submits the following initial 

proposal for annual reopener bargaining with the Sierra-Plumas Unified School District and the 

Sierra County Office of Education. All agreements reached on individual items during these 

negotiations shall be tentative, subject to a final tentative agreement on all Articles presented 

for Sunshine below. Absent a final agreement modifying the contract, the existing contract 

language shall remain in full effect. 

 

The Sierra-Plumas Teachers Association reserves the right to create, add to, delete from, amend, 

and modify its proposals and/or open articles of the contract during the negotiations process. 

Unless otherwise indicated, proposals are in conceptual format. The SPTA is Sunshining this 

year to the automatic annual reopener subjects of bargaining per the Educational Employment 

Relations Act (EERA); salary and health benefits and two (2) other elective Articles of choice 

per our reopener negotiations agreement in the collective bargaining agreement. Agreement over 

these four articles will close all negotiations by the SPTA for the 2023-2024 school year. 

 

Article 4. Class Size 

• Assess optimum class sizes by grade level and explore incentives to allow for district 

flexibility and greater unit member equity while providing the best possible educational 

opportunities to students. 

Article 11. Health Benefits 

• Increase the District contribution towards health benefits for unit members so they 

and their families can attain affordable, high quality care options to support their 

overall health and well-being. 

Article 12. Salary (and all relevant appendixes) 

• Increase wages and stipends to support unit members with the continued increase to 

the cost of living which has also been exasperated due to inflation. 

Article 17. Seniority Determination 

 

• Update the language to be more concise, understandable, and agreeable in order to 

avoid future disputes and inequity for all parties involved. 

 

Respectfully submitted by, 

Laurie Peterson 

SPTA President 



Page 1 of 4 
 

CSBA POLICY GUIDE SHEET – November 08, 2022 
 

 
Board Policy 6143 - Courses of Study 

Policy updated to (1) expand student characteristics for which districts may not provide any course separately 
or require or refuse participation, (2) include that the district's course of study may provide for a rigorous 
academic curriculum that integrates academic and career skills, includes applied learning across all 
disciplines, and prepares students for high school graduation and career entry, and (3) clarify that the a-g 
requirements for the University of California and California State University system is 15 yearlong or 30 
semesters. 

 
Administrative Regulation 6143 - Courses of Study 

Regulation updated to clarify that optional instruction in prenatal care is for pregnant individuals, to reflect 
NEW LAW (AB 101, 2021) which, subject to funding in the annual Budget Act or other statute, requires a 
one-semester course in ethnic studies beginning in the 2025-26 school year and as a requirement for 
graduation beginning with students who graduate in the 2029-30 school year, clarify that the a-g requirements 
for the University of California and California State University system is 15 yearlong or 30 semesters, and 
add a new section "Financial Aid Requirements for Students in Grade 12 that reflects NEW LAW (AB 132, 
2021) which (1) requires, starting in the 2022-23 school year, districts to confirm that each student in grade 
12 completes and submits a Free Application for Federal Student Aid (FAFSA) to the U.S. Department of 
Education and/or if a student is exempt from paying nonresident tuition, a California Dream Act Application 
(CADAA) to the Student Aid Commission unless the student's parent/guardian, emancipated minor, or 
student age 18 years or older submits an opt-out form to the district, or the district, in specified circumstances, 
exempts the student or the student's parent/guardian from completing the FAFSA, CADAA, or opt-out form 
and completes and submits an opt-out form on the student's behalf, (2) requires districts to ensure that each 
high school student in Grade 12, and if applicable the student's parent/guardian, be directed to any support 
and assistance necessary to complete the FAFSA and/or CADAA, and (3) that information shared by students 
and parents/guardians in completing and submitting the FAFSA and CADAA is handled in compliance with 
the federal Family Rights and Privacy Act and applicable state law, regardless of any person's immigration 
status or other personal information. 

 
 
 
Board Policy 6146.1 – High School Graduation Requirements 

Policy updated to move to the beginning of the policy students’ obligation to complete statewide and 
Governing Board adopted graduation requirements unless exempted from local requirements, and include 
eligibility for students exempt from local requirements to participate in any graduation ceremony and 
school activity related to graduation in which other students are eligible to participate. Policy also updated 
to reflect NEW LAW (AB 101, 2021) which (1) no longer authorizes a course in career technical 
education to serve as an alternative to the visual or performing arts or world language course 
requirement for high school graduation, and (2) requires, beginning with the 2029-30 school year, a 
student to complete a one-semester course in ethnic studies, as specified, to graduate from high school. 
Additionally, policy updated to reflect NEW LAW (AB 181, 2022) which requires districts to (1) exempt 
eligible students with disabilities from all coursework and other requirements adopted by the Board that 
are in addition to the statewide course requirements and award such students a high school diploma, and 
(2) notify the parents/guardians of eligible students of such exemption, as specified. Policy also updated to 
delete material applicable only to the 2020- 21 school year, and to incorporate material from the 
accompanying AR, as the AR is being deleted as otherwise unnecessary. 

 
OCT 31, 2022 UPDATE – Board Policy 6146.1 – High School Graduation Requirements 

Policy updated to reflect NEW LAW (AB 185, 2022) which restores the option to authorize the 
completion of a course in career technical education in lieu of the visual or performing arts or world 
language course requirement for high school, which authority was deleted by prior legislation. 

 

Note: Descriptions below identify revisions made to CSBA's sample board policies, administrative regulations, 
board bylaws, and/or exhibits. Editorial changes have also been made. Districts and county offices of education 
should review the sample materials and modify their own policies accordingly. 



Page 2 of 4 
 

DELETE – Administrative Regulation 6146.1 – High School Graduation Requirements 
Regulation deleted as unnecessary with key concepts incorporated into the BP. 

 
 
 

Board Policy 6158 – Independent Study 
Policy updated to reflect NEW LAW (AB 181, 2022) which (1) encourages districts to consider offering 
more than one independent study model for short- and long-term placements when adopting policy, (2) 
changes the threshold for when tiered reengagement strategies are required to be implemented, (3) adds 
that tiered reengagement strategies procedures include local programs intended to address chronic 
absenteeism,(4) includes that the requirement to develop a plan to transition students whose families wish 
to return to in- person instruction, as specified, applies to students who participate in independent study for 
at least 15 school days, (5) creates an exemption from the live interaction and/or synchronous instruction, 
tiered reengagement strategies, and transition back to in-person instruction requirements for any student 
who is enrolled in classroom-based instruction and is participating in independent study due to necessary 
medical treatment or inpatient treatment for mental health or substance abuse under the care of 
appropriately licensed professionals, (6) specifies that a signed written/learning agreement be obtained 
before the student begins independent study for students participating in independent study for 15 school 
days or more, and within ten school days of the first day of the student’s enrollment for student 
participation of less than 15 school days, (for both traditional and course-based independent study), (7) 
adds that for students with disabilities the certificated employee designated as having responsibility for 
the special education programming of the student is required to sign the written/learning agreement, (for 
both traditional and course-based independent study), and (8) includes that a student with disabilities may 
participate in a course-based independent study program if the student’s individualized education program 
specifically provides for such participation. Policy also updated to (1) move and expand material regarding 
the requirement for Governing Boards to hold a public hearing when setting policy, as specified, (2) 
emphasize that no student may be required to participate in independent study, (3) clarify that for course-
based independent study procedures tiered reengagement strategies are not required to include notification 
to parents/guardians of lack of participation within one school day of the absence or lack of participation, 
and (4) delete material applicable only to the 2021-22 school year. 

 
Administrative Regulation 6158 – Independent Study 

Regulation updated to reflect NEW LAW (AB 181, 2022) which (1) no longer includes individualized 
alternative education designed to teach the knowledge and skills of the core curriculum in the list of 
educational opportunities that may be provided through independent study, (2) includes that a student with 
disabilities may participate in independent study if the student’s individualized education program 
specifically provides for such participation, (3) specifies that if a parent/guardian of a student with 
disabilities requests independent study because the student’s heath would be put at risk by in-person 
instruction, the student’s individualized education program (IEP) team is required to make an 
individualized determination as to whether the student can receive a free appropriate public education 
(FAPE) in an independent study placement, (4) provides that a student’s inability to work independently, 
need for adult support, or need for special education or related services does not preclude the IEP team 
from determining that the student can receive FAPE in an independent study placement, (5) clarifies that, 
until July 1, 2024, any student who receives services from a nonpublic, nonsectarian school through a 
virtual program may be permitted to participate in independent study if the student’s IEP team determines 
that FAPE can be provided by means of the virtual program, as specified, and (6) creates an exception to the 
limitation on the percentage of students enrolled in a continuation high school or opportunity school or 
program who are eligible for apportionment credit for independent study for students participating in 
independent study due to an emergency, as specified. Regulation also updated to clarify that if a student 
transfers to another public school in California, a written record of findings from any evaluation conducted 
because a student has failed to make satisfactory educational progress be forwarded to that school. 
Additionally, regulation updated to delete material pertaining to adult education and that which is 
applicable only to the 2021-22 school year. 

 
 
 

 
 



Page 3 of 4 
 

Board Policy 6164.2 – Guidance/Counseling Services 
Policy updated to expand the Governing Board’s philosophical statement to include student well-being, 
and reflect NEW LAW (AB 2508, 2022) which (1) urges districts to adopt a comprehensive educational 
counseling program and, for districts that provide such services, to implement a structured and coherent 
counseling program within a Multi-Tiered Systems of Support framework, (2) revises the definition of 
“educational counseling,” (3) amends the legislative intent of the responsibilities of school counselors, (4) 
requires educational counseling to include specified postsecondary services, and (5) revises the 
components that educational counseling is required and authorized to include. Policy also updated to reflect 
NEW LAW (AB 643, 2021) which encourages districts to host apprenticeship and/or career technical 
education fair events, such as college and career fairs and for districts that do hold such events to notify 
apprenticeship programs in their county, as specified. Additionally, policy updated to move material 
regarding early identification and intervention plans for students who may be at risk for violence. 

 
 
 

Board Policy 6178 – Career Technical Education 
Policy updated to move material regarding career technical education program components to be with 
related content, reflect NEW LAW (AB 101, 2021) which no longer authorizes a course in career technical 
education to serve as an alternative to the visual or performing arts or world language course requirement 
for high school graduation, and reflect NEW LAW (AB 643, 2021) which encourages districts to host 
apprenticeship and/or career technical education fair events, such as college and career fairs, and for 
districts that do hold such events to notify apprenticeship programs in their county, as specified. 

 
OCT 31, 2022 UPDATE – Board Policy 6178 – Career Technical Education 

Policy updated to make a minor revision to the note to reflect NEW LAW (AB 185, 2022) which restores 
the option to authorize the completion of a course in career technical education in lieu of the visual or 
performing arts or world language course requirement for high school, which authority was deleted by prior 
legislation. 
 

Administrative Regulations 6178 – Career Technical Education 
Regulation updated to reflect NEW LAW (AB 1923, 2022) which includes science, technology, 
engineering, and mathematics courses as required alternative courses that must be offered to students 
participating in partnership academies. 

 
 
 

Board Policy 6200 – Adult Education 
Policy updated to reflect NEW LAW (AB 486, 2021) which repeals the authorization for districts in 
sparsely populated areas to participate in the adult education program administered by the county office of 
education. Policy also updated to (1) expand the Board’s philosophical statement, (2) move material 
regarding the district’s participation in a consortium to be with newly added material of similar content, 
(3) include that the Board may authorize an adult education student pursuing a high school diploma or a 
high school equivalency certificate, upon recommendation of the student’s adult school or noncredit 
program of attendance, to attend a community college during any session or term as a special part-time 
student, and (4) provide that a district may, with the approval of the County Superintendent of Schools and 
the Superintendent of Public Instruction, contract with another district to provide adult education 
instruction if the district has an adult school or classes but is unable to maintain that school or class(es) 
because of an inability to secure a teacher(s) or because of a lack of facilities. 

 
Administrative Regulation 6200 – Adult Education 

Regulation updated to reorder material related to enrollment, clarify that the exception to the requirement 
for adult education classes to be located in a facility which is identified as being open to the general public 
is for programs for adults with disabilities, reflect NEW LAW (AB 486, 2022) which (1) changes the 
classes/courses which are authorized for apportionment purposes from the Adult Education Program 
funds, (2) includes that programs for immigrants may include immigrant integration, (3) repeals that a 
course taken through independent study be required to meet state or local high school graduation 
requirements, and (4) repeals the authorization for materials purchased from the incidental expense 
account to be sold to adult school students for use in their classes. Regulation also updated to clarify that 



Page 4 of 4 
 

programs offering pre- apprenticeship training activities be conducted in coordination with apprenticeship 
programs approved by the Division of Apprenticeship Standards for the occupation and geographic area, 
provide that approval for courses be submitted to the California Department of Education regularly, 
emphasize that no student may be required to participate in independent study, delete material regarding 
continued engagement in K-12 independent study as not being applicable to this AR, include that fees 
may be required for enrollment in adult education class(es) before listing the exceptions, and amend 
language to be more closely aligned with law. 

 
 
 

Board Policy 7110 – Facilities Master Plan 
Policy updated to recognize the importance of teacher housing needs, and reflect NEW LAW (AB 306, 
2021) which adds the definition of “residential housing” as it applies to district facilities, excludes from 
the definition of “school building” any building used or intended to be used by a district as “residential 
housing,” and specifies that the Department of General Services is not required to approve residential 
housing for earthquake safety and access by persons with disabilities. 

 
 
 

Board Policy 7150 – Site Selection and Development 
Policy updated to add material regarding the Governing Board’s obligations when evaluating property 
prior to acquiring a new school or an addition to an existing school site, and reflect NEW LAW (AB 819, 
2021) which requires the district to post specified environmental review documents. 

 
Administrative Regulation 7150 – Site Selection and Development 

Regulation updated to specify that the request for information to evaluate the safety of a proposed site be 
in writing, and reflect NEW LAW (AB 819, 2021) which requires the district to post specified 
environmental review documents. 



Page 1 of 2 
 

Board Policy Manual 
Sierra County/Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District 

Instruction 
Policy 6143: Courses Of Study 

 

 
The Governing Board of Education recognizes that a well-aligned sequence of courses fosters 
academic growth and provides for the best possible use of instructional time.  The district's course 
of study shall provide students with opportunities to attain the skills, knowledge, and abilities they need 
to be successful academically, professionally, and personally. 
 

Note:  The following optional paragraph should be revised to reflect the grade levels offered by the district. For 
example, unified school districts need to be concerned about articulation of courses within the district and with 
postsecondary institutions, whereas elementary districts and high school districts will need to address articulation 
with each other. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall establish processes for ensuring the articulation of courses across 
grade levels within the district.  As necessary, the Superintendent or designee shall work with 
representatives of appropriate area districts and postsecondary institutions to ensure articulation 
of courses with other institutions to which district students may matriculate.  The sequence of 
courses shall be designed to ensure that each course provides adequate preparation for the next course in 
the sequence, only utilizes prerequisites that are essential to success in a given program or course, 
avoids significant duplication of content, and allows for reinforcement and progression in the subject 
matter. 
 
The district shall not provide any course separately or require or refuse participation by any student on 
the basis of the student's actual or perceived sex, sexual orientation, gender, gender expression, gender 
identity, ethnic group identification, immigration status, race, ancestry, national origin, religion, color, 
or mental or physical disability or require or refuse participation by any of its students on, or any 
other characteristic listed in Education Code 200 and 220, Government Code 11135, or Penal 
Code 422.55, or the student's association with a person or group with one or more of such 
basis.  (actual or perceived characteristics.  (Education Code 200, 220; Government Code 
11135; Penal Code 422.55; 5 CCR 4940) 
 
Elementary Grades 
 

Note:  The following section is for use by districts offering elementary grades and may be revised to reflect district 
practice. Education Code 51225.4 mandates elementary school districts to certify to the Superintendent of Public 
Instruction that they have adopted a policy to implement a course of instruction that sufficiently prepares students 
for the secondary courses required for graduation pursuant to Education Code 51225.3. 

 
The Board shall adopt a course of study for elementary grades that sufficiently prepares students 
for the secondary course of study. 
 
Secondary Grades 
 
 

Note:  Education Code 51228 requires districts to offer students in grades 7-12 a course of study that fulfills the 
requirements and prerequisites for admission to California public colleges. Education Code 51228 also requires 
districts to offer such students the opportunity to attain entry-level employment skills. Pursuant to Education Code 
51228, districts that adopt a course of study that meets or exceeds the state model curriculum standards in career 
technical education will be deemed to have satisfied the requirement. 
 



Page 2 of 2 
 

Education Code 66204 prohibits a public school from establishing any policy or practice that directs any student 
away from choosing programs that prepare a student academically for college, especially for cultural or linguistic 
reasons. 
 
The following paragraph is for use by districts maintaining any of grades 7-12 and should be revised to reflect the 
grade levels offered by the district. 

 
The district shall offer all otherwise qualified students in grades 7-12 a course of study that prepares 
them, upon graduation from high school, to meet the requirements and prerequisites for 
admission to California public colleges and universities and to attain entry-level employment 
skills in business or industry.  (Education Code 51228) 
 
 The district's course of study may provide for a rigorous academic curriculum that integrates 
academic and career skills, includes applied learning across all disciplines, and prepares all 
students for high school graduation and career entry.  (Education Code 51228) 
 

Note:  The remainder of this policy is for use by districts maintaining any of grades 9-12. 
 
In addition, the course of study for students in grades 9-12 shall include instruction in skills and 
knowledge for adult life, career technical training, and a timely opportunity for all otherwise qualified 
students to enroll, within four years, in each course necessary to fulfill the requirements and 
prerequisites for admission to California public colleges and universities prior to 
graduation.   (Education Code 51224, 51228) 
 

Note:  Among the criteria for admission to the University of California (UC) or California State University system 
is a requirement that high school students satisfactorily complete 15 yearlong/30 semesters of specified courses 
("a-g" courses). These include a growing number of career technical education courses that connect knowledge of 
academic content with practical or work-related applications. 
 
In order to qualify as an "a-g" course, the course must first be submitted to and approved by UC.  Education Code 
51229 requires that districts annually provide the list of certified courses to students in grades 9-12 and their 
parents/guardians; see the accompanying administrative regulation and E 5145.6 - Parental Notifications. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall develop a process by which courses that meet California college 
admission criteria (referred to as "a-g" course requirements) are submitted to the University of 
California for review and certification.  The Superintendent or designee shall maintain an accurate list 
of all current high school courses that have been so certified, shall ensure that the list is provided annually 
to all students in grades 9-12 and their parents/guardians, and shall make updated lists readily 
available.   (Education Code 51229, 66204) 
 
SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Policy adopted: April 10, 2007 
revised: May 08, 2012 
revised: February 11, 2020 
revised: November 08, 2022 



Page 1 of 8 

Board Policy Manual 
Sierra County/Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District 

Instruction 
Regulation 6143: Courses Of Study 

 

 
Note:  Education Code requirements for courses of study are generally classified into requirements for grades 1-
6 and 7-12. Therefore, K-8 districts and high school districts need to collaborate with appropriate area districts to 
ensure that all required courses are offered sometime during grades 7-12. 
 
The district should select the sections below ("Grades 1-6" and/or "Grades 7-12") that correspond with the grade 
levels offered. 

 
Grades 1-6 
 

Note:  Items #1-7 below are areas of study required by law for grades 1-6. The Governing Board may add other 
studies to this list. 

 
Courses of study for grades 1-6 shall include the following: 
 

1. English: knowledge and appreciation of language and literature, and the skills of speaking, 
reading, listening, spelling, handwriting, and composition (Education Code 51210) 
 

2. Mathematics: concepts, operational skills, and problem solving (Education Code 51210) 
 

3. Social sciences: age-appropriate instruction drawing upon the disciplines of anthropology, 
economics, geography, history, political science, psychology, and sociology, including instruction 
in:  (Education Code 51210) 
a. The history, resources, development, and government of California and the United States 
 Instruction shall include the early history of California and a study of the role and 

contributions of men and women, Native Americans, African Americans, Mexican 
Americans, Asian Americans, Pacific Islanders, European Americans, lesbian, gay, 
bisexual, and transgender Americans, persons with disabilities, and members of other 
ethnic and cultural groups to the economic, political, and social development of 
California and the United States, with particular emphasis on portraying the role of 
these groups in contemporary society. (Education Code 51204.5, 60040) 

 
b. The development of the American economic system, including the role of the 

entrepreneur and labor 
 
c. The relations of persons to their human and natural environments 
 
d. Eastern and western cultures and civilizations 
 
e. Contemporary issues 
 
f. The wise use of natural resources 

 
4. Science: biological and physical aspects, with emphasis on experimental inquiry and the place of 

humans in ecological systems (Education Code 51210) 
 
5. Visual and performing arts:  instruction in dance, music, theatre, and visual arts aimed at 

developing aesthetic appreciation and creative expression (Education Code 51210) 
 



Page 2 of 8 

Note:  Education Code 51202 requires that certain health-related topics be addressed at "the appropriate 
elementary and secondary grade levels" during grades K-12. Districts may revise #6a-e below to indicate topics 
that will be addressed in grades K-6. 
 
Education Code 51203 requires the Board to adopt regulations specifying the grade(s) and course(s) in which 
drug and alcohol education will be given. For language fulfilling this mandate, see AR 5131.6 - Alcohol and 
Other Drugs. 

 
6. Health: principles and practices of individual, family, and community health, including 

instruction at the appropriate grade levels and subject areas in:  (Education Code 51202, 51210) 
 

a. Personal and public safety and accident prevention, including instruction in emergency 
first aid, hemorrhage control, treatment for poisoning, resuscitation techniques, and 
cardiopulmonary resuscitation (CPR) when appropriate equipment is available 

 
b. Fire prevention 
 
c. The protection and conservation of resources, including the necessity for the protection of 

the environment 
 
d. Venereal disease 

 
e. The effects of alcohol, narcotics, drugs, and tobacco upon the human body 

 
Note: The following item is optional pursuant to Education Code 51202. 

 
f. Violence as a public health issue 

 
7. Physical education: with emphasis on physical activities conducive to health and vigor of body 

and mind (Education Code 51210) 
 

Note:  Item #8 below is optional. Education Code 51210.5 authorizes age-appropriate instruction on violence 
awareness and prevention within any area of study listed in items #1-7 above. Pursuant to Education Code 
51210.5, such instruction may include personal testimony in the form of oral or video histories that illustrate the 
economic and cultural effects of violence within a city, the state, and the country. See BP 6142.94 - History-
Social Science Instruction. 

 
8. Violence awareness and prevention 
 

Note:  Optional item #9 below is not required by state law but is a highly recommended component of school-
to-career instruction. 

 
9. Career awareness exploration 
 
Grades 7-12 
 

Note:  Items #1-11 below are areas of study required by law for grades 7-12. The Board may add other studies to 
this list. 

 
Courses of study for grades 7-12 shall include the following: 
 
1. English:  knowledge and appreciation of literature, language, and composition, and the skills of 

reading, listening, and speaking  (Education Code 51220) 
 



Page 3 of 8 

2. Social sciences: age-appropriate instruction drawing upon the disciplines of anthropology, 
economics, geography, history, political science, psychology, and sociology, with instruction in:  
(Education Code 51220) 
 
a. The history, resources, development, and government of California and the United States, 

including instruction in: 
 
(1) The early history of California and a study of the role and contributions of both 

men and women, Native Americans, African Americans, Mexican Americans, 
Asian Americans, Pacific Islanders, European Americans, lesbian, gay, 
bisexual, and transgender Americans, persons with disabilities, and members of 
other ethnic and cultural groups to the economic, political, and social 
development of California and the United States, with particular emphasis on 
portraying the role of these groups in contemporary society  (Education Code 
51204.5) 

 
Note:  Education Code 51221.3 and 51221.4 encourage, but do not require, instruction on the topics described in 
optional subitems #(2)-(4) below. These items may be modified or deleted to reflect district practice. 
 
For districts that choose to offer such instruction, Education Code 51221.3 and 51221.4 encourage that a 
component be drawn from personal testimony, especially in the form of oral or video history. If oral histories are 
used, they must conform to the requirements of Education Code 51221.3 and 51221.4. See BP 6142.94 - 
History-Social Science Instruction. 

 
(2) World War II, including the role of Americans and Filipino Americans who 

served in the United States Army during that time 
 
(3) The Vietnam War, including the "Secret War" in Laos and role of Southeast 

Asians in that war 
 

(4) The Bracero program, in which there was a 1942 agreement between the United 
States and Mexico authorizing the temporary migration of laborers to the United 
States 

 
b. The American legal system, the operation of the juvenile and adult criminal justice 

systems, and the rights and duties of citizens under the criminal and civil law and the 
state and federal constitutions 

 
c. The development of the American economic system, including the role of the 

entrepreneur and labor 
 
d. The relations of persons to their human and natural environments, including the wise use 

of natural resources (Education Code 51221) 
 

e. Eastern and western cultures and civilizations 
 

Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 51220, instruction related to human rights issues, as provided in item #2f 
below, may include the study of the Armenian genocide. Education Code 51226.3 encourages the incorporation 
of oral testimony into instruction in human rights, the Holocaust, and genocide, including the Armenian, 
Cambodian, Darfur, and Rwandan genocides. 

 
f. Human rights issues, with particular attention to the study of the inhumanity of genocide 

(which may include, but is not limited to, the Armenian, Cambodian, Darfur, and 
Rwandan genocides), slavery, and the Holocaust 



Page 4 of 8 

 
g. Contemporary issues 

 
3. World language(s): understanding, speaking, reading, and writing, beginning not later than grade 

7 (Education Code 51220) 
 
4. Physical education: with emphasis on physical activities conducive to health and vigor of body 

and mind, as required by Education Code 51222 (Education Code 51220) 
 
5. Science: physical and biological aspects; emphasis on basic concepts, theories, and processes of 

scientific investigation and on the place of humans in ecological systems; appropriate applications 
of the interrelation and interdependence of the sciences (Education Code 51220) 

 
6. Mathematics: mathematical understandings, operational skills, and problem-solving procedures; 

algebra (Education Code 51220, 51224.5) 
 
7. Visual and performing arts:  dance, music, theatre, and visual arts, with emphasis upon 

development of aesthetic appreciation and creative expression (Education Code 51220) 
 
8. Applied arts:  consumer education, family and consumer sciences education, industrial arts, 

general business education, or general agriculture (Education Code 51220) 
 
9. Career technical/vocational-technical education:  in the occupations and in the numbers 

appropriate to the personnel needs of the state and community served and relevant to the career 
desires and needs of students (Education Code 51220) 

 
Note:  Education Code 51934 requires that students be provided comprehensive sexual health and HIV 
prevention instruction at least once in middle school or junior high school and at least once in high school. See 
BP/AR 6142.1 - Sexual Health and HIV/AIDS Prevention Instruction for required components of such 
instruction. 

 
10. Comprehensive sexual health and HIV prevention (Education Code 51225.36, 51934) 
 

Note:  Education Code 51202 requires that certain health-related topics be addressed at "the appropriate 
elementary and secondary grade levels" during grades K-12. Districts may revise item #11 below to indicate 
topics that will be addressed in grades 7-12. 
 
Education Code 51203 requires the Board to adopt regulations specifying the grade(s) and course(s) in which 
drug and alcohol education will be given. For language fulfilling this mandate, see AR 5131.6 - Alcohol and 
Other Drugs. 

 
11. Personal and public safety, accident prevention and health, including instruction in:  (Education 

Code 51202, 51203) 
 

a. Emergency first aid, hemorrhage control, treatment for poisoning, resuscitation 
techniques, and cardiopulmonary resuscitation (CPR)CPR when appropriate 
equipment is available 

 
Note:  The following paragraph is for use by districts that require a course in health education for high school 
graduation; see BP 6146.1 - High School Graduation Requirements. Pursuant to Education Code 51225.6, such 
districts are required to include instruction in performing compression-only cardiopulmonary resuscitation 
(CPR), as described below. Such instruction must be based on national evidence-based emergency 
cardiovascular care guidelines for the performance of compression-only CPR, such as those developed by the 
American Heart Association or the American Red Cross, and must include hands-on practice in compression-



Page 5 of 8 

only CPR. On its web site, the California Department of Education provides guidance on how to implement this 
requirement. 
 
Education Code 51225.6 also encourages districts to provide students with general information on the use and 
importance of an automated external defibrillator. 

 
Instruction shall be provided in compression-only CPR based on national guidelines and 
shall include hands-on practice.  (Education Code 51225.6) 

 
b. Fire prevention 

 
c. The protection and conservation of resources, including the necessity for the protection of 

the environment 
 

d. Venereal disease 
 

e. The effects of alcohol, narcotics, drugs, and tobacco upon the human body 
 

Note:  The following two items are optional pursuant to Education Code 51202. 
 

f. Prenatal care for pregnant individuals 
 
g. Violence as a public health issue 

 
Note: Item #12 is optional. Education Code 51220.3 authorizes age-appropriate instruction on violence 
awareness and prevention within any area of study listed above for grades 7-12. 

 
12. Violence awareness and prevention 
 

Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 51226.7, the State Board of Education has adopted a model curriculum in 
ethnic studies upon which districts may offer an elective course in social sciences or English language arts in at 
least one year during grades 9-12. 
 
Subject to funding in the annual Budget Act or other statute, Education Code 51225.3, as amended by AB 101 
(Ch. 661, Statutes of 2021), requires a one-semester course in ethnic studies for high school graduation 
beginning with students who graduate in the 2029-30 school year. 
 
Item #13 is currently optional, but, if funding is appropriated, districts will be required to offer a one-semester 
ethnic studies course, as specified, beginning in the 2025-26 school year. 

 
13. Ethnic studies 
 

Commencing in the 2025-26 school year, the district shall offer a one-semester course in ethnic 
studies as specified in Education Code 51225.3. 

 
Note:  Education Code 51220.5 requires the equivalent content of a one-semester course in parenting skills and 
education in grade 7 and/or 8, subject to funding which was not subsequently appropriated; thus the following 
paragraph is currently optional. 

 
In addition, the course of study for grade 7 and/or 8 may include parenting skills and education, including, 
but not limited to, child growth and development, parental responsibilities, household budgeting, child 
abuse and neglect issues, personal hygiene, maintenance of healthy relationships, teen parenting issues, and 
self-esteem.  (Education Code 51220.5) 
 



Page 6 of 8 

Note:  The following paragraph is for use by districts that maintain high schools. 
 
High schools shall offer automobile driver education that includes instruction in:  (Education Code 51220, 
51220.1, 51220.4) 
 
1. Vehicle Code provisions and other relevant state laws 
 
2. Proper acceptance of personal responsibility in traffic 
 
3. Appreciation of the causes, seriousness, and consequences of traffic accidents 
 
4. Knowledge and attitudes necessary for the safe operation of motor vehicles 
 
5. The safe operation of motorcycles 
 
6. The dangers involved in consuming alcohol or drugs in connection with the operation of a 

motor vehicle 
 
7. The rights and duties of a motorist as they pertain to pedestrians and the rights and duties of 

pedestrians as they pertain to traffic laws and traffic safety 
 
Certification of College Preparatory Courses 
 

Note:  The following optional section is for use by districts that maintain grades 9-12 and may be revised to 
reflect district practice. Among the criteria for admission to the University of California (UC) or California State 
University system is a requirement that students satisfactorily complete 15 yearlong/30 semesters of specified 
courses ("a-g" courses).  In order to qualify as an "a-g" course, the course must first be submitted to and 
approved by UC.  The district or school should develop course descriptions using the templates provided by UC 
and submit them through UC's online system. 
 
Education Code 51225.37 encourages districts that offer world language courses specifically designed for native 
speakers to submit those courses to UC for certification and addition to the school's "a-g" course list. 
 
The following paragraph may be revised to reflect the position in the district or school(s) that is responsible for 
submitting and updating "a-g" courses. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall identify district courses that may qualify for designation as 
"a-g" college preparatory courses, including courses in history-social science, English, 
mathematics, laboratory science, languages other than English, visual and performing arts, career 
technical education, and college preparatory electives. The Superintendent or designee shall 
submit any necessary information regarding each identified course to the University of California 
(UC) for "a-g" designation. 
 
Notification and Information to Students in Grades 9-12 
 

Note:  The following section is for use by districts that maintain grades 9-12. 
 
 At the beginning of each school year, the Superintendent or designee shall provide written notice to 
parents/guardians of students in grades 9-12 that, to the extent possible, shall not exceed one page in length 
and that includes all of the following:   (Education Code 51229) 
 
1. A brief explanation of the course requirements for admission to UC and the California State 

University (CSU) 



Page 7 of 8 

 
Note:  The UC maintains a searchable web site that lists certified "a-g" courses for all regular California public 
high schools. 

 
2. A list of the current UC and CSU web sites that help students and their families learn about 

college admission requirements and that list high school courses that have been certified by UC 
as satisfying the requirements for admission to UC and CSU 

 
3. A brief description of what career technical education is, as defined by the California Department 

of Education (CDE) 
 
4. The Internet address for the portion of the CDE web site where students can learn more about 

career technical education 
 
5. Information about how students may meet with school counselors to help them choose courses 

that will meet college admission requirements and/or enroll in career technical education courses 
 

Note:  Education Code 51225.8 requires districts to provide specified information on how to properly complete 
and submit the Free Application for Federal Student Aid (FAFSA) or the California Dream Act Application 
(CADAA), as appropriate, at least once before grade 12. At the district's discretion, the information provided 
may be disseminated through in-class instruction, an existing program, family information sessions, group or 
individual sessions with school counselors, or other appropriate means. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall provide information to students and parents/guardians regarding the 
completion and submission of the Free Application for Federal Student Aid (FAFSA) and/or the 
California Dream Act applicationApplication (CADAA) at least once before grade 12. 
(Education Code 51225.8) 
 
Financial Aid Requirements for Students in Grade 12 
 

Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 51225.7, as added by AB 132 (Ch. 144, Statutes of 2021), starting in the 
2022-23 school year, the district is required to confirm that each student in grade 12 completes and submits a 
FAFSA to the U.S. Department of Education and/or, if a student is exempt from paying nonresident tuition, a 
CADAA to the Student Aid Commission (CSAC), unless there is an exception as specified below. 
 
Pursuant to Education Code 51225.7, as added by AB 132, CSAC is required to, by July 1, 2022, adopt 
regulations that include model opt-out forms and acceptable use policies for the purpose of providing guidance 
on the protection of student and parent/guardian data, which will be available on CSAC's web site. 

 
Commencing in the 2022-23 school year, the Superintendent or designee shall ensure that each student in 
grade 12 completes and submits a FAFSA to the U.S. Department of Education or, if a student is exempt 
from paying nonresident tuition a CADAA to the Student Aid Commission (CSAC), unless either:  
(Education Code 51225.7) 
 
1. The student's parent/guardian, emancipated minor, or student age 18 years or older submits an 

opt-out form to the district 
 
2. If the district determines that a student is unable to complete a requirement of Education Code 

51225.7, the district shall exempt the student or the student's parent/guardian from completing the 
FAFSA, CADAA, or opt-out form and shall complete and submit an opt-out form on the student's 
behalf 

 
 



Page 8 of 8 

Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 51225.7, as added by AB 132, the district shall ensure that each high school 
student in Grade 12, and if applicable, the student's parent/guardian, is directed to any support and assistance 
necessary to complete the FAFSA and/or CADAA, as described below. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that each high school student in grade 12, and if applicable, 
the student's parent/guardian, be directed to any support and assistance necessary to complete the FAFSA 
and/or CADAA that may be available through outreach programs, including, but not limited to, programs 
operated by CSAC, postsecondary immigration resource centers, college readiness organizations, 
community-based organizations, and/or legal resource organizations.  (Education Code 51225.7) 
 
Information shared by students and parents/guardians in completing and submitting the FAFSA and/or 
CADAA shall be handled in compliance with the federal Family Rights and Privacy Act and applicable 
state law, regardless of any person's immigration status or other personal information.  (Education Code 
51225.7) 
 
SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Regulation approved: April 10, 2007 
revised: May 8, 2012  
revised: December 13, 2016 
revised: February 11, 2020 
revised: November 08, 2022 



Page 1 of 6 
 

Board Policy Manual 
Sierra County/Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District 

Instruction 
Policy 6146.1: High School Graduation Requirements 

 

 
CSBA NOTE: The following policy is for use by districts that maintain grades 9-12. 
The Governing Board desires to prepare all students to successfully complete the high school course 
of study and obtain a diploma that represents their educational achievement and increases their 
opportunities for postsecondary education and employment. 
 
District students shall complete graduation course requirements as specified in Education Code 
51225.3 and those adopted by the Board, except for students who are exempted as provided in 
"Exemptions from District-Adopted Graduation Requirements," below. Students who are 
exempted from district-adopted graduation requirements shall be eligible to participate in any 
graduation ceremony and school activity related to graduation in which other students are 
eligible to participate. 

 
Course Requirements 
 
CSBA NOTE: Education Code 51225.3 specifies the courses that a student is required to complete 
in order to graduate from high school as listed in Items #1-7 below. 

 
Pursuant to Education Code 66204, each district that maintains a high school is required to develop 
a process for submitting courses to the University of California (UC) to review and certify that 
they align with the "A-G" course requirements for college admission. 
To obtain a high school diploma, students shall complete the following courses in grades 9-12, 
with each course being one year unless otherwise specified: 

1. Four courses in English  (Education Code 51225.3) 
 

2. Three courses in mathematics  (Education Code 51225.3) 
 

Students shall complete at least one mathematics course that meets the state academic 
content standards for Algebra I or Mathematics I.  Students may complete such 
coursework prior to grade 9 provided that they also complete two mathematics courses in 
grades 9-12.  (Education Code 51224.5) 

 
CSBA NOTE: The following paragraph is for districts that require more than two mathematics 
courses for high school graduation. Pursuant to Education Code 51225.3 and 51225.35, a district 
that requires more than two courses in mathematics may be awardedaward up to one 
mathematics course credit for successfulan approved computer science course. Any such course 
must have been approved by UC as a "category C" (mathematics) course in the university's "A-
G" course admission criteria; see BP 6143 - Courses of Study. 

 
3. Successful completion of an approved computer science course that is classified as a 

"category cC" course based on the "a-g" course University of California (UC) and California 
State University (CSU) "A-G" admission requirements for college admission, which 
mayshall be counted toward the satisfaction of additional graduation requirements in 
mathematics.  (Education Code 51225.3, 51225.35) 

 
4. Two courses in science, including biological and physical sciences  (Education Code 

51225.3) 
 



Page 2 of 6 
 

 
5. Three courses in social studies, including United States (U.S.) history and geography; world 

history, culture, and geography; a one-semester course in American government and civics; 
and a one-semester course in economics  (Education Code 51225.3) 

 
CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 51225.3, as amended by AB 185 (Ch. 571, Statutes of 
2022), the option to authorize the completion of a course in career technical education (CTE) in 
lieu of the visual or performing arts or world language course requirement for high school 
graduation, which authority was deleted by AB 101 (Ch. 661, Statutes of 2021), has been restored 
until July 1, 2027. 

6. One course in visual or performing arts, world language, or career technical education 
(CTE). For purposes of this requirement, a course in American Sign Language shall be 
deemed a course in world language.  (Education Code 5122351225.3) 
 
To be counted towards meeting graduation requirements, a CTE course shall be aligned 
to the CTE model curriculum standards and framework adopted by the State Board of 
Education.  (Education Code 51225.3) 
 

7. Two courses in physical education, unless the student has been otherwise exempted 
pursuant to other sections of the Education Code  (Education Code 51225.3) 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 51225.3, as amended by AB 101, beginning with 
the 2029-30 school year, a student is required to complete a one-semester course in ethnic 
studies, as specified, in order to graduate from high school. At its discretion, a district may 
require a full-year course. Districts that require a full-year course should revise Item #7 
accordingly. 
 

8. Beginning with the 2029-30 school year, a one-semester course in ethnic studies 
(Education Code 51225.3)  
 

8.9. Completion, in grade 12 or academic equivalent, one senior project, the requirements of 
which are determined and outlined by the high school faculty and administration, to 
include a research paper, project activity and formal presentation. 
 
The unit requirements for Loyalton High School and Downieville High School are 30 units 
less than a full schedule taken every year for four years. Units may change based on 
number of total courses available to take in a given year (i.e. 8-period, 7-period, etc): 

 
Class of 2019 – 1 year 7 periods, 3 years 8 periods                                           300 Credits 
Class of 2020 – 2 years 7 periods, 2 years 8 periods                                         290 Credits 
Class of 2021 – 3 years 7 periods, 1 year 8 periods                                           275 Credits 
Class of 2022 – 4 years 7 periods                                                                       260 Credits 
Class of 2023 – 1 year 7; 1 year 8 +Flex; 1 year 8; 1 year 7 +Flex                    280 Credits 
Class of 2024 – 1 year 8 +Flex; 1 year 8; 2 years 7 +Flex                                 285 Credits 
Class of 2025 – 1 year 8; 3 years 7 +Flex                                                          275 Credits 
Class of 2026 – 4 years 7 periods +Flex                                                            270 Credits 

 
All district schools on an 8-period day shall remain at 300 Credits. 
 
 
 
 



Page 3 of 6 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

9.10.   ____________________________________________ 
____________________________________________ 
____________________________________________ 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 51225.3 requires the Board to adopt alternative means for students to 
complete the prescribed course of study. See BP/AR 6146.11 - Alternative Credits Toward 
Graduation. 
 
Because the prescribed course of study may not accommodate the needs of some students, the Board 
shall provide alternative means for the completion of prescribed courses in accordance with law. 
 
Exemptions from District-Adopted Graduation Requirements 
 
CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 51225.31, as added by AB 181 (Ch. 52, Statutes of 
2022), districts are required to exempt an eligible student with disabilities from all coursework and 
other requirements adopted by the Board that are in addition to the statewide course 
requirements specified in Education Code 51225.3, and award such student a high school 
diploma, as reflected below. Awarding a diploma pursuant to this exception does not change the 
district's obligation to provide a free appropriate public education or otherwise constitute a 
change in placement. 
 
Prior to the beginning of grade 10, the individualized education program (IEP) team for each 
student with disabilities shall determine whether the student is eligible for exemption from all 
coursework and other requirements adopted by the Board in addition to the statewide course 
requirements for high school graduation, and if so, shall notify the student's parent/guardian of 
the exemption. A student with disabilities shall be eligible for the exemption, if the student's 
IEP provides for both of the following requirements: (Education Code 51225.31) 

1. That the student take the alternate assessment aligned to alternate achievement standards 
in grade 11 as described in Education Code 60640 

 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 51225.3, the Governing Board may prescribe additional 
coursework (e.g., health education or service learning) or other requirements (e.g., portfolios or senior 
projects) that district students must complete in order to obtain a diploma. If the Board does so, such 
courses  
 
If the district requires a course in health education for graduation, Education Code 51225.36 requires 
that the district include instruction in sexual harassment and violence, including, but not limited to, 
information on the affirmative consent standard pursuant to Education Code 67386. See BP 6142.1 - 
Sexual Health and Prevention Instruction. In addition, pursuant to Education Code 51225.6, 
a district that requires a course in health education for graduation is required to include instruction in 
compression-only cardiopulmonary resuscitation (CPR). See AR 6143 - Courses of Study. 
 

 



Page 4 of 6 
 

2. That the student complete state standards aligned coursework to meet the statewide 
coursework s
pecified in Education Code 51225.3 

immigrant student who is in the third or fourth year of high school and is participating in a 
newcomer program (i.e., a program designed to meet the academic and transitional needs of newly 
arrived immigrant students that has as a primary objective the development of English language 
proficiency). This exemption does not apply if the Superintendent or designee makes a finding 
that the student is reasonably able to complete the requirements in time to graduate by the end of 
the fourth year of high school. Also see AR 6173 - Education for Homeless Children, AR 6173.1 - 
Education for Foster Youth, AR 6173.2 - Education of Children of Military Families, AR 
6173.3 - Education for Juvenile Court School Students, and AR 6175 - Migrant Education 
Program. 

 
Pursuant to Education Code 51225.1, within 30 calendar days of the transfer into a school by a 
foster youth, homeless student, former juvenile court school student, child of a military family, 
migrant student, or newly arrived immigrant student, or of the commencement of participation 
in a newcomer program, as applicable, the district is required to notify any eligible student 
and/or the student's parent/guardian, the person holding the right to make education decisions 
for the student, the district's liaison for homeless children, and the student's social worker or 
probation officer, as applicable, of the availability of the exemption from local graduation 
requirements and whether the student qualifies for it. If the district fails to provide that 
notification, the student will be eligible for the exemption once notified, even if the notification 
is received after the termination of the court's jurisdiction over the foster youth or former 
juvenile court school student, after the homeless student ceases to be homeless, or after the 
student no longer meets the definition of a child of a military family, a migrant student, or a 
student participating in a newcomer program, as applicable. 

 
Education Code 51225.1 also provides that, if an exempted student completes the statewide 
coursework requirements before the end of the fourth year of high school, the district or a district 
school must not require or request that the student graduate before the end of the fourth year of 
high school. 

 
Any complaint alleging the district's failure to comply with the requirements of Education Code 
51225.1 may be filed using the district's uniform complaint procedures pursuant to 5 CCR 4600-
4670. See BP/AR 1312.3 - Uniform Complaint Procedures. 
 
 
In addition, a foster youth, homeless student, former juvenile court school student, child of a 
military family, or migrant student who transfers into the district or between district schools any 
time after completing the second year of high school, or a newly arrived immigrant student who 
is in the third or fourth year of high school and is participating in a newcomer program, shall be 
exempted from any graduation requirements adopted by the Board that are in addition to 
statewide course requirements. This exemption shall not apply if the Superintendent or designee 
makes a finding that the student is reasonably able to complete the requirements in time to graduate 
by the end of the fourth year of high school. 

 
Within 30 days of the transfer into a school by a foster youth, homeless student, former juvenile 
court school student, child of a military family, migrant student, or a newly arrived immigrant 
student, or of the commencement of participation in a newcomer program, as applicable, the 
Superintendent or designee shall notify any eligible student, and others as required by law, of the 
availability of the exemption from local graduation requirements and whether the student 

homeless student, former juvenile court school student, child of a military 
family, or migrant student who transfers 

 



Page 5 of 6 
 

qualifies for it.  (Education Code 51225.1) 
 
If during the 2020-21 school year a student was in the third or fourth year of high school and is not 
on track to graduate in four years, the district shall exempt the student from any local graduation 
requirements adopted by the Board that are in addition to statewide course requirements specified in 
Education Code 51225.3.  (Education Code 51225) 
 
Additional Opportunities to Complete Required Coursework 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall provide a student who was enrolled in the third or fourth year 
of high school during the 2020-21 school year and is not on track to graduate in the 2020-21 or 2021-
22 school years the opportunity to complete the statewide coursework required for graduation, which 
may include, but is not limited to, completion of the coursework through a fifth year of instruction, 
credit recovery, or other opportunity to complete the required coursework.  (Education Code 51225) 
 
Retroactive Diplomas 
 
Any student who completed grade 12 in the 2003-04 through 2014-15 school year and met all 
applicable graduation requirements other than the passage of the high school exit examination shall 
be granted a high school diploma.  (Education Code 51413) 
 
In addition, the district may retroactively grant high school diplomas to former students 
who:  (Education Code 48204.4, 51430, 51440)  (Education Code 51413) 

 
CSBA NOTE: Items #1-4 below are optional and may be revised to reflect district practice. 
In addition, the district may retroactively grant high school diplomas to former students who: 
(Education Code 48204.4, 51430, 51440) 

1. Departed California against their will while in grade 12 and did not receive a diploma 
because the departure interrupted their education, provided that they were in good 
academic standing at the time of the departure. 

 
Persons may be considered to have departed California against their will if they were in 
custody of a government agency and were transferred to another state, were subject to a 
lawful order from a court or government agency that authorized their removal from 
California, were subject to a lawful order and were permitted to depart California before 
being removed from California pursuant to the lawful order, were removed or were 
permitted to depart voluntarily pursuant to the federal Immigration and Nationality Act, or 
departed due to other circumstances determined by the district that are consistent with the 
purposes of Education Code 48204.4. 
 
In determining whether to award a diploma under these circumstances, the Superintendent or 
designee shall consider any coursework that may have been completed outside of the United 
StatesU.S. or through online or virtual courses. 
 

1.2. Were interned by order of the federal government during World War II or are honorably 
discharged veterans of World War II, the Korean War, or the Vietnam War, provided 
that they were enrolled in a district high school immediately preceding the internment or 
military service and did not receive a diploma because their education was interrupted due 
to the internment or military service in those wars. 
 
Deceased former students who satisfy these conditions may be granted a retroactive 
diploma to be received by their next of kin. 

 
1.3. Are veterans who entered the military service of the United StatesU.S. while 

in grade 12 and who had satisfactorily completed the first half of the work required 
for grade 12 in a district school. 
  



Page 6 of 6 
 

 
2.4. Were in their senior year of high school during the 2019-20 school year, were in 

good academic standing and on track to graduate at the end of the 2019-20 school year as of 
March 1, 2020, and were unable to complete the statewide graduation requirements as a 
result of the COVID-19 crisis. 

Honorary Diplomas 
 

CSBA NOTE: The following optional section reflects the Board's authority to confer honorary high 
school diplomas pursuant to Education Code 51225.5 and may be revised to reflect district 
practice. 
 
The Board may grant an honorary high school diploma to: (Education Code 51225.5)  

1. An international exchange student who has not completed the course of study 
ordinarily required for graduation and who is returning to the student's home country 
following the completion of one academic school year in the district 
 

2. A student who is terminally ill 
 
The honorary diploma shall be clearly distinguishable from the regular diploma of graduation awarded by 
the district. (Education Code 51225.5) 
 
SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Policy adopted: April 10, 2007 
revised: September 14, 2010 
revised: April 12, 2011 
revised: May 8, 2012 
revised: April 8, 2014 
revised: February 9, 2016 
revised: February 14, 2017 
revised: February 13, 2018 
revised: September 11, 2018 
revised: March 12, 2019 
revised: June 11, 2019 
revised: April 13, 2021 
revised: December 13, 2021 
revised: September 13, 2022 
revised: November 08, 2022 



Page 1 of 16 

 

Board Policy Manual 

Sierra County/Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District 

Instruction 

Policy 6158: Independent Study 

 

 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 51744-51749.6 authorize districts to establish independent study 
programs to meet the educational needs of students. 

 
Education Code 51747 and 51749.5 mandate the Governing Board to adopt a policy with 
specified components as a condition of receiving state apportionments for traditional and course-
based independent study, and to implement the policy in accordance with the rules and 
regulations adopted by the Superintendent of Public Instruction. The mandated components for 
traditional independent study and course-based independent study are reflected throughout this 
policy and the accompanying administrative regulation. 

 
Education Code 51744, as added by AB 181 (Ch. 52, Statutes of 2022), encourages districts, when 
adopting policy, to consider offering more than one independent study model for short- and 
long-term placements in accordance with Education Code 51747, 51747.5 and 51749.6. 

 
In the event of a school closure necessitated by an emergency condition pursuant to Education 
Code 46392, districts must develop a plan for offering independent study to affected students 
pursuant to Education Code 46393. See BP 3516.5 - Emergency Schedules. 

 
Independent study may be offered as a program within a school, as a charter school, or as an 
alternative school of choice pursuant to Education Code 58500-58512; see AR 0420.4 - Charter 
School Authorization, BP 6146.11 - Alternative Credits Toward Graduation and BP/AR 6181 - 
Alternative Schools/Programs of Choice. 
 
The Governing Board authorizes independent study as an optional alternative instructional 
strategy for students whose needs may be best met through study outside of the regular classroom 
setting. Independent study shall offer a means of individualizing the educational plan to serve 
students who desire a more challenging educational experience, whose health or other personal 
circumstances make classroom attendance difficult, who are unable to access course(s) due to 
scheduling problems, and/or who need to make up credits or fill gaps in their learning.  As 
necessary to meet student needs, independent study may be offered for short- or long-term 
placements, on a full- time or part-time basis, and/or in conjunction with part- or full-time 
classroom study. 

 
CSBA NOTE: 5 CCR 11701 requires the Board to hold a public hearing when setting policy 
regarding the maximum length of time that may elapse between the time an independent study 
assignment is made and the date by which the student must complete it, and the level of 
satisfactory educational progress and the number of missed assignments that will be allowed 
before an evaluation is conducted to determine whether it is in the student's best interests to 
remain in independent study. See "General Independent Study Requirements" below for more 
information regarding these requirements. 
 
The Board shall hold a public hearing when considering the scope of its existing or prospective 
use of independent study as an instructional strategy, its purposes in authorizing independent study, 
and factors bearing specifically on the maximum realistic lengths of assignments and acceptable 
number of missed assignments for specific populations of students or adult education students. 
(Education Code 51747; 5 CCR 11701) 

 

 
The Superintendent or designee may provide a variety of independent study opportunities, 
including, but not limited to, through a program or class within a comprehensive school, an 



Page 2 of 16 

 

alternative school or program of choice, a charter school, and an online course. 
 
Except for students who, during the 2021-2022 school year, cannot participate in classroom-based 
instruction due to quarantine or school closure for exposure to or infection with COVID-19, 
student  

 
Student participation in independent study shall be voluntary.   and no student shall be required to 
participate. (Education Code 51747, 51749.5, 51749.6) 

 
Independent study for each student shall be under the general supervision of a district employee 
who possesses a valid certification document pursuant to Education Code 44865 or an emergency 
credential pursuant to Education Code 44300. Students' independent study shall be coordinated, 
evaluated, and documented, as prescribed by law and reflected in the accompanying 
administrative regulation.  (Education Code 51747.5) 

 
CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 46300, the attendance of students participating in 
independent study for only three or more consecutive school days will be included in computing 
average daily attendance for apportionment purposes. 
 
The minimum period of time for any independent study option shall be three consecutive school 
days.  (Education Code 51747)46300) 
 
General Independent Study Requirements 
 
For the 2021-22 school year, the district shall offer independent study, as specified in Education 
Code 51745, to meet the educational needs of students unless the district has obtained a 
waiver.  (Education Code 51745) 
 
For the 2022-23 school year and thereafter, the 

 
The Superintendent or designee may offer and approve independent study for an individual 
student upon determining that the student is prepared to meet the district's requirements for 
independent study participation and is likely to succeed in independent study as well as or better 
than the student would in the regular classroom setting. 

 
CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 46100, the Board is required to fix the length of the 
school day for each grade level, in accordance with law. The California Department of 
Education, in its "Frequently Asked Questions," clarifies that independent study is not an 
alternative curriculum and that students in independent study are required to meet the same 
number of instructional minutes as their peers who are physically at the school site for their 
instruction. 
 
The minimum instructional minutes forshall be the same for all students at each school including 
students participating in independent study shall be the same as required for their peers at the 
school who are receiving in-person instruction, except as otherwise permitted by 
law.  (Education Code 46100) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
CSBA NOTE: Education Code 51747 mandates the Board to adopt policy on the maximum length 



Page 3 of 16 

 

of time, by grade level and type of program, which may elapse between the time an independent 
study assignment is made and the date by which the student must complete the assignment. 5 CCR 
11700 defines "type of program" as the statutory program category for purposes of attendance 
accounting, such as adult education or continuation high school. In addition, 5 CCR 11701 
mandates that Board policy reflect an awareness that excessive leniency in the duration of 
independent study assignments can result in a student falling so far behind peers as to increase, 
rather than decrease, the risk of dropping out of school. 

 
The following paragraph sets one week for all grade levels and types of programs as the maximum 
length of time an independent study assignment should be completed, and should be revised to 
reflect the length of time determined by the Board. In order to ensure that apportionment credits 
are received, the length of time determined by the Board in its policy should be reflected in the 
student's written agreement. See the section "Master Agreement" below. 
 
Because excessive leniency in the duration of independent study assignments may result in a 
student falling behind peers and increase the risk of dropping out of school, independent study 
assignments shall be completed no more than one week after assigned for all grade levels and types 
of programprograms. When necessary based on the specific circumstances of the student's 
approved program, the Superintendent or designee may allow for a longer period of time between 
the date an assignment is made and when it is due. However, in no event shall the due date of an 
assignment be extended beyond the termination date ofspecified in the student's written 
agreement. 

 
CSBA NOTE: Education Code 51747 mandates the Board, to adopt policy which specifies the 
level of satisfactory educational progress and the number of missed assignments allowed before an 
evaluation is conducted to determine whether it is in a student's best interest to remain in 
independent study. The following paragraph specifies a maximum of three assignments and 
should be revised to reflect the Board's determination of the number of missed assignments that 
will trigger an evaluation. 

 
The number of missed assignments that will trigger an evaluation must be included in the student's 
written agreement. 
 
An evaluation shall be conducted to determine whether it is in a student's best interest to remain 
in independent study whenever the student fails to make satisfactory educational progress and/or 
misses three assignments.  
 
Satisfactory educational progress shall be determined based on all of the following 
indicators:  (Education Code 51747) 

1. The student's achievement and engagement in the independent study program, as indicated 
by the student's performance on applicable student-level measures of student achievement 
and engagement specified in Education Code 52060 
 

2. The completion of assignments, assessments, or other indicators that evidence that the 
student is working on assignments 
 

3. Learning of required concepts, as determined by the supervising teacher 

 
4. Progress towards successful completion of the course of study or individual course, as 

determined by the supervising teacher 



Page 4 of 16 

 

The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that students participating in independent study are 

provided with content aligned to grade level standards at a level of quality and intellectual challenge 

substantially equivalent to in- person instruction.  For high schools, this shall include access to all courses 

offered by the district for graduation and approved by the University of California (UC) or the 

California State University (CSU) as creditable under the A-G admissions criteria.  (Education Code 

51747) 

 
CSBA NOTE: Education Code 51747 mandates the Board to adopt policy that includes plans, by 
grade level, to provide students with specified levels of live interaction and/or synchronous 
instruction as described in Items #1-3 below and defined in the accompanying administrative 
regulation. This requirement does not apply to students participating in an independent study 
program for fewer than 15 school days, or, pursuant to Education Code 51747, as amended by 
AB 181, students enrolled in a comprehensive school for classroom-based instruction who 
participate in independent study due to necessary medical treatments or inpatient treatment for 
mental health care or substance abuse, as described below. 

 
Pursuant to Education Code 51747.5, as amended by AB 181, the district may claim 
apportionment credit for independent study only to the extent of the time value of student 
work products as personally judged by a certificated employee of the district, or the combined 
time value of student work products and participation in synchronous instruction, as long as the 
synchronous instructional offering augments the time value of the student work product and 
evidence of student participation is furnished and maintained. Evidence of student participation 
may include, but is not limited to, student work produced or performed as verified by a 
certificated employee and maintained by the district for each hour or fraction of an hour of the 
synchronous instructional offering. 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that all students participating in independent study 
for 15 school days or more receive the following throughout the school year:  (Education 
Code 51747) 
 

1. For students in grades transitional kindergarten, kindergarten, and grades 1 to 3, 
opportunities for daily synchronous instruction 
 

2. For students in grades 4-8, opportunities for both daily live interaction and at least 
weekly synchronous instruction 

 

3. For students in grades 9-12, opportunities for at least weekly synchronous instruction 

 
CSBA NOTE: Education Code 51747, as amended by AB 181, mandates the Board to adopt policy 
that includes procedures for tiered reengagement strategies for students who meet the conditions 
specified in Items #1-3 below. This requirement does not apply to students participating in an 
independent study program for fewer than 15 school days, or students who participate in 
independent study due to necessary medical treatments or inpatient treatment for mental health care 
or substance abuse, as described below. 
The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that procedures for tiered reengagement strategies are 
used for all students participating in an independent study program for 15 school days or more 
who:  are: (Education Code 51747) 
 
1.        Are not 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 51747, as amended by AB 181, mandates the Board to adopt policy that 
includes the provision of content aligned to grade level standards that is substantially equivalent to in-person 
instruction. For high schools, this requirement includes access to all courses offered by the district for 
graduation and approved by the University of California or the California State University as creditable under the 
A-G admissions criteria. See BP/AR 6143 - Courses of Study. 



Page 5 of 16 

 

1. Not generating attendance for more than three school days or 60 percent of the 
instructional days in a school week, or 10ten percent of required minimum 
instructional time over four continuous weeks of the district's approved 
instructional calendar 
 
2.        Are found to be not participatory 

2. Not participating in synchronous instructional offerings pursuant to SectionEducation Code 
51747.5 for more than the greater of three schooldays or 6050 percent of the scheduled 
daystimes of synchronous instruction in a school month as applicable by grade span 
 
3.        Are in 

3. In violation of their written agreement 

 
CSBA NOTE: Education Code 51747, as amended by AB 181, requires that the district's tiered 
reengagement strategies procedures include local programs intended to address chronic 
absenteeism, as applicable. 
Tiered reengagement strategies procedures used in district independent study programs shall include, 
local programs intended to address chronic absenteeism, as applicable, including but are not 
necessarily limited to, all of the following:  (Education Code 51747) 

1. Verification of current contact information for each enrolled student 

2. Notification to parents/guardians of lack of participation within one school day of 
the recording of a nonattendance day or lack of participation 

3. A plan for outreach from the school to determine student needs, including 
connection with health and social services as necessary 

 
CSBA NOTE: Education Code 51747, as amended by AB 181, requires that the district's tiered 
reengagement strategies procedures include local programs intended to address chronic 
absenteeism, as applicable. 

4. A clear standard for requiring a student-parent-educator conference to review a student's 
written agreement and reconsider the independent study program's impact on the student's 
achievement and well-being 

 
CSBA NOTE: Education Code 51747 mandates the Board to adopt policy that includes a plan to 
expeditiously, and not longer than five instructional days, transition students whose families 
wish to return to in-person instruction from independent study. This requirement does not 
apply to students participating in an independent study program for fewer than 15 school days. 
Pursuant to Education Code 51747, as amended by AB 181, the requirement is also not applicable 
to students who participate in independent study due to necessary medical treatments or inpatient 
treatment for mental health care or substance abuse, as described below. 
The Superintendent or designee shall, for students who participate in an independent study program 
for 15 school days of more, develop a plan to transition students whose families wish to return 
to in-person instruction from independent study expeditiously, and, in no case, later, than five 
instructional days. This requirement only applies(Education Code 51747) 

 
CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 51747, as amended by AB 181, the live interaction and/ 
or synchronous learning requirements, tiered reengagement strategies, and transition plan 
obligations do not apply to students enrolled in a comprehensive school for classroom-based 
instruction who, under the care of an appropriate licensed professional(s), participate in 
independent study due to necessary medical treatments or inpatient treatment for mental health 
care or substance abuse, provided the district obtains evidence of the need as specified in 
Education Code 51747. 
When any student enrolled in classroom-based instruction is participating in independent study 
due to necessary medical treatment or inpatient treatment for mental health or substance abuse 
under the care of appropriately licensed professionals, the student shall be exempt from the live 
interaction and/or synchronous instruction, tiered reengagement strategies, and transition back to 



Page 6 of 16 

 

in-person instruction requirements specified above. In such cases, evidence from appropriately 
licensed professionals, of the student's need to participate in independent study, shall be submitted 
to the Superintendent or designee. (Education Code 51747) 

 
CSBA NOTE: Education Code 51747 mandates the Board to adopt policy providing that a 
current written agreement (i.e., the "master agreement") will be maintained for each student who 
participates in independent study and for whom apportionment is claimed. Education Code 51747 
provides that no independent study agreement can be valid for longer than one school year. 
Pursuant to Education Code 51747, as amended by AB 181, the district is required to obtain a 
signed written agreement for an independent study program of 15 school days or more. 
 
 before the beginning of independent study, and for an independent program of less than 15 
school days, within ten school days of the beginning of the first day of the student's enrollment. 

 
In addition, Education Code 51749.5 mandates the Board to adopt policy providing that a "learning 
agreement" be maintained for each student participating in course-based independent study. 

 

See the section "Master Agreement" below for required content of these agreements. 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that a written master agreement exists for each 
participating student as prescribed by law.  (Education Code 51747, 51749.5) 
 
The district shall provide written notice to the parents/guardians of all enrolled students of the 
option to enroll their child in in-person instruction or independent study during the 2021-22 school 
year.  This notice shall be posted on the district's web site, and shall include, at a minimum, 
information about the right to request (Education Code 51747, 51749.5) 
 

 
CSBA NOTE: Education Code 51747 requires districts to hold a student-parent-educator 
conference upon the request of a parent/guardian prior to enrollment or disenrollment in 
independent study. The term student-parent- educator conference is defined in Education 
51745.5, and reflected in the accompanying administrative regulation.  
 
Upon the request of the parent/guardian of a student, and before signing a written agreement as 
described below in the section "Master Agreement," the district shall conduct a telephone, 
videoconference, or in-person student- parent-educator conference or other meeting during 
which the student, parent/guardian, and, if requested, their by the parent/guardian an advocate, 
may ask questions about the educational options, including which curriculum offerings and 
nonacademic supports will be available to the student in independent study.  (Education Code 
51747) 
 
Master Agreement 

 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 51747 mandates that, in order to receive apportionments for 
independent study, the district must adopt and implement policy providing for a signed written 
independent study agreement which contains the components listed in the following section. 
Because apportionments are only provided for independent study of three or more consecutive 
school days pursuant to Education Code 46300, written agreements are required only in such 
instances. 

 
Education Code 46300.7 states that apportionments shall be received for a student in independent 
study only if the district receives written permission from the parent/guardian before the 
independent study begins, specifying the actual dates of participation, methods of study and 
evaluation, and resources to be made available for the student's independent study. However, 
pursuant to Education Code 51747, as amended by AB 181, for independent study programs of 
less than 15 school days the written agreement may be signed within ten school days of the 



Page 7 of 16 

 

student's enrollment in independent study. As Education Code 46300.7 and 51747 are inconsistent 
as to when written agreements need to be signed for programs of less than 15 school days, districts 
are encouraged to consult CSBA District and County Office of Education Legal Services, or the 
district's legal counsel. 
 
A written agreement shall be developed and implemented for each student participating in 
independent study for three or more consecutive school days or when absences are fixed for a 
short period of time and related to an extracurricular program or competitive sports (i.e. absent 
every Friday for a season or leaving campus during Period 6 every day for 10 days). . (Education 
Code 46300, 51747; 5 CCR 11703) 
However, for the 2021-22) 

 
For student participation for 15 school year only, the district shall obtaindays or more, a signed 
written agreement from eachshall be obtained before the student participating in anbegins 
independent study program for any length. For student participation of less than 15 school days, a 
signed written agreement shall be obtained within ten school days of time, no later than 30 days 
after the first day of instruction in the independent study program.the student's enrollment. 
(Education Code 46300, 51747) 

 
The agreement shall include general student data, including the student's name, address, grade level, 
birth date, school of enrollment, and program placement. 

 
The independent study agreement for each participating student also shall include, but areis not limited 
to, all of the following:  (Education Code 51747; 5 CCR 11700, 11702) 

1. The manner, time, frequency, time,and place and manner for submitting the student's 
assignments, reporting the student's academic progress, and communicating with a 
student's parent/guardian regarding the student's academic progress 

 

2. The objectives and methods of study for the student's work and the methods used to evaluate that 

work 

 
3. The specific resources that will be made available to the student, including materials and 

personnel, and access to Internet connectivity and devices adequate to participate in the 
educational program and complete assigned work 

 
CSBA NOTE: As described in the section "General Independent Study Requirements" above, 
pursuant to Education Code 51747, the written agreement must contain statements reflecting 
Board policy pertaining to 
(1) the maximum length of time, by grade level and type of program, which may elapse 
between the time an independent study assignment is made and the date by which the 
student must complete the assignment and 
(2) the number of missed assignments allowed before an evaluation would be required to 
determine whether it is in a student's best interest to remain in independent study. Education 
Code 51747 also requires that the written agreement contain a statement of the Board's 
policy regarding the level of satisfactory educational progress for students participating 
in independent study. 

4. A statement of the Board's policy detailing the maximum length of time allowed between 
an assignment and its completion, the level of satisfactory educational progress, and the 
number of missed assignments which will trigger an evaluation of whether the student 
should be allowed to continue in independent study 

 
5. The duration of the independent study agreement, including the beginning and ending dates 

for the student's participation in independent study under the agreement, with a maximum 
of one school year 

 



Page 8 of 16 

 

6. A statement of the number of course credits or, for the elementary grades, other 
measures of academic accomplishment appropriate to the agreement, to be earned by 
the student upon completion 

 
7. A statement detailing the academic and other supports that will be provided to address the 

needs of students who are not performing at grade level, or need support in other areas, such 
as English learners, students with disabilities with an individualized education program or a 
Section 504 plan in order to be consistent with their program or plan, students in foster care 
or experiencing homelessness, and students requiring mental health supports 

8. A statement that independent study is an optional educational alternative in which no student 
may be required to participate 

 
9. In the case of a suspended or expelled student who is referred or assigned to any school, 

class, or program pursuant to Education Code 48915 or 48917, a statement that 
instruction may be provided through independent study only if the student is offered 
the alternative of classroom instruction 

 
CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 51747, as amended by AB 181, the date upon 
which a written agreement needs to be signed will vary depending on the projected length of 
independent study, as specified below. In addition, for students with disabilities, the 
certificated employee designated as having responsibility for the special education 
programming of the student is required to sign the written agreement. 

10. Before the commencement of independent study projected to last for 15 school days or 
more, or within ten school days of the first day of enrollment for independent study for 
less than 15 school days, the agreement shall be signed and dated by the student, the 
student's parent/guardian or caregiver if the student is under 18 years of age, the certificated 
employee responsible for the general supervision of independent study, and for students with 
disabilities, the certificated employee designated as having responsibility for the special 
education programming of the student 

Written agreements may be signed using an electronic signature that complies with state and federal 
standards, as determined by the California Department of Education (CDE). (Education Code 51747) 

 
The parent/guardian's signature on the agreement shall constitute permission for the student to receive 
instruction through independent study. 
Course-Based Independent Study 

 
CSBA NOTE: This section is for districts that provide independent study courses to its students. 
Education Code 51749.5-51749.6 establish a course-based independent study option that may be 
offered if certain requirements are met, as described below. Education Code 51749.5 mandates 
that boards adopt policies that comply with the legal requirements listed in the following 
section and any applicable regulations adopted by the State Board of Education. 

 

The following paragraph may be revised to reflect the grade levels offered by the district. 
 
The district's course-based independent study program for students in grades K-12 shall be subject to 
the following requirements: (Education Code 51749.5) 

1. A signed learning agreement shall be completed and on file for each participating 
student, pursuant to Education Code 51749.6 

 
2. Courses shall be taught under the general supervision of certificated employees who hold 

the appropriate subject matter credential and are employed by the district or by another 
district, charter school, or county office of education with which the district has a 
memorandum of understanding to provide the instruction 

 



Page 9 of 16 

 

3. Courses shall be annually certified by Board resolution to be of the same rigor and 
educational quality and to provide intellectual challenge that is substantially equivalent to 
in-person, classroom-based instruction, and shall be aligned to all relevant local and state 
content standards. For high schools, this shall include access to all courses offered by the 
district for graduation and approved by UC or CSU as creditable under the A-G admissions 
criteria. The certification shall, at a minimum, include the duration, number of equivalent 
daily instructional minutes for each school day that student is enrolled, number of 
equivalent total instructional minutes, and number of course credits for each course, 
consistent with that of equivalent classroom-based courses. The certification shall also 
include plans to provide opportunities throughout the school year, for all students in 
transitional kindergarten, kindergarten, and grades 1-3 to receive daily synchronous 
instruction, for all students in grades 4-8, to receive both daily live interaction and at least 
weekly synchronous instruction, and for all students in grades 9-12 to receive at least 
weekly synchronous instruction. 

 
4. Students enrolled in independent study courses shall meet the applicable age requirements 

established pursuant to Education Code 46300.1, 46300.4, 47612, and 47612.1, and the 
applicable residency and enrollment requirements established pursuant to Education 
Code 46300.2, 47612, 48204, and 51747.3 

 

5. For each student participating in an independent study course, satisfactory educational progress 
shall be determined based on the student's achievement and engagement in the independent 
study program as indicated by the student's performance on applicable student-level 
measures of student achievement and engagement set forth in Education Code 52060, 
completion of assignments, assessments, or other indicators that evidence that the student is 
working on assignments, learning of required concepts, as determined by the supervising 
teacher, and progress toward successful completion of the course of study or individual course, 
as determined by the supervising teacher. 

 
If satisfactory educational progress in one or more independent study courses is not being 
made, the teacher providing instruction shall notify the student and, if the student is under 
18 years of age, the student's parent/guardian. The teacher shall conduct an evaluation to 
determine whether it is in the student's best interest to remain in the course or whether the 
student should be referred to an alternative program, which may include, but is not limited 
to, a regular school program. A written record of the evaluation findings shall be treated as a 
mandatory interim student record maintained for three years from the date of the 
evaluation. If the student transfers to another California public school, the record shall be 
forwarded to that school. 

 
Procedures for tiered reengagement strategies shall be used for all students who are not 
making satisfactory educational progress in one or more courses or who are in violation of the 
written learning agreement, as described in the section "Learning Agreement for Course-
Based Independent Study" below. These procedures shall include, but are not necessarily 
limited to, the verification of current contact information for each enrolled student, a plan for 
outreach from the school to determine student needs, including connection with health and 
social services as necessary, and a clear standard for requiring a student-parent-educator 
conference to review a student's written agreement and reconsider the independent study 
program's impact on the student's achievement and well-being. 

 

6. Examinations shall be administered by a proctor 

 
7. Statewide testing results shall be reported and assigned to the school at which the student is 

enrolled and shall be included in the aggregate results of the district. Test results also shall be 
disaggregated for purposes of comparisons with the test results of students enrolled in 
classroom-based courses. 

 



Page 10 of 16 

 

8. A student shall not be required to enroll in courses included in the course-based independent 

study program 

 
9. The student-teacher ratio in the courses in this program shall meet the requirements of 

Education Code 51745.6 
 

10. For each student, the combined equivalent daily instructional minutes for courses in this 
program and all other courses shall meet applicable minimum instructional day requirements, 
and the student shall be offered the minimum annual total equivalent instructional minutes 
pursuant to Education Code 46200-46208 

 
11. Courses required for high school graduation or for admission to UC or CSU shall not be 

offered exclusively through independent study 

 

12. A student participating in this program shall not be assessed a fee that is prohibited by Education 

Code 49011 

 
13. A student shall not be prohibited from participating in independent study solely on the 

basis that the student does not have the materials, equipment, or access to Internet 
connectivity necessary to participate in the course 

 
CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 51749.5, as amended by AB 181, a student with 
disabilities may participate in a course-based independent study program if the student's 
individualized education program specifically provides for such participation. 

14. A student with disabilities, as defined in Education Code 56026, may participate in course-
based independent study if the student's individualized education program specifically 
provides for that participation 

 
15. A temporarily disabled student shall not receive individual instruction pursuant to 

Education Code 48206.3 through course-based independent study 
 

16. The district shall maintain a plan to transition any student whose family wishes to return to 
in-person instruction from course-based independent study expeditiously, and, in no case, 
later than five instructional days 

Learning Agreement for Course-Based Independent Study 

Before enrolling a student in a course within a course-based independent study program, the 
Superintendent or designee shall provide the student and, if the student is under age 18 years, the 
student's parent/guardian with a written learning agreement that includes all of the following: 
(Education Code 51749.6) 

1. A summary of the district's policies and procedures related to course-based independent 
study pursuant to Education Code 51749.5 

 
2. The duration of the enrolled course(s) and the number of course credits for each enrolled 

course, consistent with the Board certifications made pursuant to Item #3 of the Course-
Based Independent Study section above 

 

3. The duration of the learning agreement, which shall not exceed a school year or span multiple 

school years 

 
4. The learning objectives and expectations for each course, including, but not limited to, a 

description of how satisfactory educational progress is measured and when a student 
evaluation is required to determine whether the student should remain in the course or be 
referred to an alternative program, which may include, but is not limited to, a regular school 



Page 11 of 16 

 

program 
 

5. The specific resources that will be made available to the student, including materials and 
personnel, and access to Internet connectivity and devices adequate to participate in the 
educational program and complete assigned work 

 
6. A statement detailing the academic and other supports that will be provided to address the 

needs of students who are not performing at grade level, or need support in other areas, such 
as English learners, students with disabilities with an individualized education program or a 
Section 504 plan in order to be consistent with their program or plan, students in foster care 
or experiencing homelessness, and students requiring mental health supports. 

 
7. A statement that independent study is an optional educational alternative in which no student 

may be required to participate 
For the 2021-22 school year, this statement shall not be required for a student's participation 
in independent study if the student is unable to attend in-person instruction because of a 
quarantine or school closure mandated by a local or state health order or guidance due to the 
student's exposure to or infection with COVID-19. 
 
9.        In the case of a suspended or expelled student who is referred or assigned to any 
school, class, or program pursuant to Education Code 48915 or 48917, a statement that 
instruction may be provided through independent study only if the student is offered the 
alternative of classroom instruction(cf. 5144.1 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process) 
 
10.      Before the commencement of independent study, the agreement shall be signed and 
dated by the student, the student's parent/guardian or caregiver if the student is under age 18 
years, the certificated employee responsible for the general supervision of independent study, 
and all persons who have direct responsibility for providing assistance to the student. 
            
           However, for the 2021-22 school year, the district shall obtain a signed written 
agreement for independent study from the student, or the student's parent/guardian if the 
student is less than 18 years of age, the certificated employee who has been designated as 
having responsibility for the general supervision of independent study, and all persons who 
have direct responsibility for providing assistance to the student, no later than 30 days after 
the first day of instruction in the independent study program or October 15, whichever date 
comes later. 
 
Written agreements may be signed using an electronic signature that complies with state and 
federal standards, as determined by the California Department of Education 
(CDE).  (Education Code 51747) 
 
The parent/guardian's signature on the agreement shall constitute permission for the student 
to receive instruction through independent study. 
 
Course-Based Independent Study 
 
The district's course-based independent study program for students in grades K-12 shall be 
subject to the following requirements:  (Education Code 51749.5) 
 
1.        A signed learning agreement shall be completed and on file for each participating 
student, pursuant to Education Code 51749.6 
 
2.        Courses shall be taught under the general supervision of certificated employees who 
hold the appropriate subject matter credential and are employed by the district or by 
another district, charter school, or county office of education with which the district has a 
memorandum of understanding to provide the instruction.(cf. 4112.2 - Certification) 
 
3.        Courses shall be annually certified by Board resolution to be of the same rigor and 



Page 12 of 16 

 

educational quality and to provide intellectual challenge that is substantially equivalent to 
in-person, classroom-based instruction, and shall be aligned to all relevant local and state 
content standards. For high schools, this shall include access to all courses offered by the 
district for graduation and approved by the University of California or the California State 
University as creditable under the A-G admissions criteria. The certification shall, at a 
minimum, include the duration, number of equivalent daily instructional minutes for each 
school day that student is enrolled, number of equivalent total instructional minutes, and 
number of course credits for each course, consistent with that of equivalent classroom-
based courses. The certification shall also include plans to provide opportunities throughout 
the school year, for students in transitional kindergarten, kindergarten, and grades 1-3 to 
receive daily synchronous instruction, for students in grades 4-8, to receive both daily live 
interaction and at least weekly synchronous instruction, and for students in grades 9-12 to 
receive at least weekly synchronous instruction. 
 
4.        Students enrolled in independent study courses shall meet the applicable age 
requirements established pursuant to Education Code 46300.1, 46300.4, 47612, and 
47612.1, and the applicable residency and enrollment requirements established pursuant to 
Education Code 46300.2, 47612, 48204, and 51747.3. 
 
5.        For each student participating in an independent study course, satisfactory educational 
progress shall be determined based on the student's achievement and engagement in the 
independent study program, as indicated by their performance on applicable student-level 
measures of student achievement and student engagement set forth in Education Code 52060, 
completion of assignments, assessments, or other indicators that evidence that the student is 
working on assignments, learning of required concepts, as determined by the supervising 
teacher, and progress toward successful completion of the course of study or individual 
course, as determined by the supervising teacher. 
 
If satisfactory educational progress in an independent study class is not being made, the 
teacher shall notify the student and, if the student is under age 18 years, the student's 
parent/guardian. The teacher shall conduct an evaluation to determine whether it is in the 
student's best interest to remain in the course or whether the student should be referred to 
an alternative program, which may include, but is not limited to, a regular school program. 
A written record of the evaluation findings shall be a mandatory interim student record 
maintained for three years from the date of the evaluation. If the student transfers to another 
California public school, the record shall be forwarded to that school. 
 
Procedures for tiered reengagement strategies shall be used for all students who are not 
making satisfactory educational progress in one or more courses or who are in violation of 
the written learning agreement, as described in the section "Learning Agreement for Course-
Based Independent Study" below. These procedures shall include, but are not necessarily 
limited to, the verification of current contact information for each enrolled student, 
notification to parents/guardians of lack of participation within one school day of the absence 
or lack of participation, a plan for outreach from the school to determine student needs, 
including connection with health and social services as necessary, and a clear standard for 
requiring a student-parent-educator conference to review a student's written agreement and 
reconsider the independent study program's impact on the student's achievement and well-
being. 
(cf. 5125 - Student Records) 
 
6.        Examinations shall be administered by a proctor. 
 
7.        Statewide testing results shall be reported and assigned to the school at which the 
student is enrolled and shall be included in the aggregate results of the district. Test results 
also shall be disaggregated for purposes of comparisons with the test results of students 
enrolled in classroom-based courses. 
           (cf. 6162.51 - State Academic Achievement Tests) 
 
8.        A student shall not be required to enroll in courses included in the course-based 



Page 13 of 16 

 

independent study program. 
 
9.        The student-teacher ratio in the courses in this program shall meet the requirements of 
Education Code 51745.6. 
 
10.      For each student, the combined equivalent daily instructional minutes for courses in 
this program and all other courses shall meet applicable minimum instructional day 
requirements, and the student shall be offered the minimum annual total equivalent 
instructional minutes pursuant to Education Code 46200-46208.(cf. 6111 - School 
Calendar)(cf. 6112 - School Day) 
 
11.      Courses required for high school graduation or for admission to the University of 
California or California State University shall not be offered exclusively through independent 
study. 
 
12.      A student participating in this program shall not be assessed a fee that is prohibited by 
Education Code 49011.(cf. 3260 - Fees and Charges) 
 
13.      A student shall not be prohibited from participating in independent study solely on 
the basis that the student does not have the materials, equipment, or access to Internet 
connectivity necessary to participate in the course. 
 
14.      A student with disabilities, as defined in Education Code 56026, shall not participate 
in course-based independent study, unless the student's individualized education program 
specifically provides for that participation. 
 
15.      A temporarily disabled student shall not receive individual instruction pursuant to 
Education Code 48206.3 through course-based independent study. 
 
16.      The district shall maintain a plan to transition any student whose family wishes to 
return to in-person instruction from course-based independent study expeditiously, and, in no 
case, later than five instructional days. 
 
Learning Agreement for Course-Based Independent Study 
 
Before enrolling a student in a course within this program, the Superintendent or designee 
shall provide the student and, if the student is under age 18 years, the student's 
parent/guardian with a written learning agreement that includes all of the 
following:  (Education Code 51749.6) 
 
1.        A summary of the district's policies and procedures related to course-based 
independent study pursuant to Education Code 51749.5 
 
2.        The duration of the enrolled course(s) and the number of course credits for each 
enrolled course, consistent with the Board certifications made pursuant to item #3 of the 
Course-Based Independent Study section above 
 
3.        The duration of the learning agreement, which shall not exceed a school year or span 
multiple school years 
 
4.        The learning objectives and expectations for each course, including, but not limited 
to, a description of how satisfactory educational progress is measured and when a student 
evaluation is required to determine whether the student should remain in the course or be 
referred to an alternative program, which may include, but is not limited to, a regular school 
program 
 
5.        The specific resources that will be made available to the student, including materials 
and personnel, and access to Internet connectivity and devices adequate to participate in the 
educational program and complete assigned work 



Page 14 of 16 

 

 
6.        A statement detailing the academic and other supports that will be provided to address 
the needs of students who are not performing at grade level, or need support in other areas, 
such as English learners, students with disabilities with an individualized education program 
or a Section 504 plan in order to be consistent with their program or plan, students in foster 
care or experiencing homelessness, and students requiring mental health supports. 
 
7.        A statement that enrollment is an optional educational alternative in which no 
student may be required to participate.  In the case of a student who is suspended or 
expelled, or student who is referred or assigned to any school, class, or program pursuant to 
Education Code 48915 or 48917, the agreement also shall include thea statement that 
instruction may be provided to the student through course-based independent study only if 
the student is offered the alternative of classroom instruction. 

 
8. The manner, time, frequency, and place for submitting a student's assignments, for 

reporting the student's academic progress, and for communicating with a student's 
parent/guardian regarding a student's academic progress. 

 

9. The objectives and methods of study for the student's work, and the methods used to evaluate 

that work. 

 
10. A statement of the adopted policies regarding the maximum length of time allowed between 

the assignment and the completion of a student's assigned work, the level of satisfactory 
educational progress, and the number of missed assignments allowed before an 
evaluation of whether the student should be allowed to continue in course-based 
independent study. 

 
1.11. A statement of the number of course credits or, for the elementary grades, other 

measures of academic accomplishment appropriate to the learning agreement, to be 
earned by the student upon completion. 
 
12.      For 2022-23 school year and thereafter, before 

 
CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 51749.6, as amended by AB 181, the date upon 
which a learning agreement needs to be signed will vary depending on the projected length of an 
independent study course, as specified below. In addition, for students with disabilities, the 
certificated employee designated as having responsibility for the special education 
programming of the student is required to sign the learning agreement. 

12. Before the commencement of an independent study course projected to last for 15 school 
days or more, or within ten school days of the first day of enrollment for an independent 
study course projected to last less than 15 school days, the learning agreement shall be 
signed and dated by the student, and by the student's parent/guardian or caregiver if the 
student is less than 18 years of age, the certificated employee who has been designated as 
having responsibilityresponsible for the general supervision of the independent study course, 
and all persons who have direct responsibilityas applicable for providing assistance tostudents 
with disabilities, the certificated employee designated as having responsibility for the special 
education programming of the student.  For purposes of this paragraph "caregiver" means a 
person who has met the requirements of Family Code 6550-6552. 
 
For the 2021-22 school year only, the district shall obtain a signed written agreement for 
independent study from the student, or the student's parent/guardian if the student is less than 
18 years of age, the certificated employee who has been designated as having responsibility for 
the general supervision of the independent study course, and all persons who have direct 
responsibility for providing assistance to the pupil no later than 30 days after the first day of 
instruction. 
 
WrittenLearning agreements may be signed using an electronic signature that complies with 



Page 15 of 16 

 

state and federal standards, as determined by the CDE.  (Education Code 51749.6) 

A signed learning agreement from a parent/guardian of a student who is less than 18 years of age shall 
constitute the parent/guardian's permission for the student to receive instruction through course-
based independent study.  (Education Code 51749.6) 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall retain a physical or electronic copy of the signed learning 
agreement for at least three years and as appropriate for auditing purposes.  (Education Code 51749.6) 

 
Upon the request of a student's parent/guardian, and before signing a writtenlearning agreement as 
described above, the district shall conduct a telephone, videoconference, or in-person student-
parent-educator conference, or other meeting during which the student, parent/guardian, or 
theirand, if requested by the parent/guardian, an advocate, may ask questions about the 
educational options, including which curriculum offerings and nonacademic supports will be 
available to the student in independent study.  (Education Code 51749.6) 

 

Student-Parent-Educator Conferences 

 
CSBA NOTE: Education Code 51747 and 51749.5 require districts to hold student-parent-educator 
conferences as defined by Education Code 51745.5, at specified times. See the accompanying 
administrative regulation for the definition of student-parent-educator conference. 
A student-parent-educator conference shall be held as appropriate including, but not limited to, as a 
reengagement strategy and/or, if requested by a parent/guardian, prior to enrollment or 
disenrollment from independent study.  (Education Code 51745.5, 51747, 51749.5) 

 

Records 

 
CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 51745.6, 51747, 51747.5, and 51749.5, the Education 
Audit Appeals Panel's, "Guide for Annual Audits of K-12 Local Education Agencies and State 
Compliance Reporting," includes verification of compliance with specified components of law 
related to independent study, with loss of apportionment for independent study for districts 
found to be noncompliant. 
The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that records are maintained for audit purposes. 

 

 These records shall include, but not be limited to:  (Education Code 51748; 5 CCR 11703) 

 
1. A copy of the Board policy, administrative regulation, and other procedures related to 

independent study 

 
2. A listing of the students, by grade level, program, and school, who have participated in 

independent study, along with the units of the curriculum attempted and completed by 
students in grades K-8 and the course credits attempted by and awarded to students in 
grades 9-12 and adult education 

 
3. A file of all agreements, with representative samples of each student's work products bearing 

the supervising teacher's signed or initialed and dated notations indicating that the teacher has 
personally evaluated the work or personally reviewed the evaluations made by another 
certificated teacher 

 
4. As appropriate to the program in which the students are participating, a daily or hourly 

attendance register that is separate from classroom attendance records, maintained on a 
current basis as time values of student work products judged by a certificated teacher, and 
reviewed by the supervising teacher if they are two different persons 

 
5. Appropriate documentation of compliance with the teacher-student ratios required by 

Education Code 51745.6 and 51749.5  (Education Code 51745.6 and 51749.5) 



Page 16 of 16 

 

 
6. Appropriate documentation of compliance with the requirements pursuant to Education 

Code 51747.5 to ensure the coordination, evaluation, and supervision of the independent 
study of each student by a district employee who possesses a valid certification document 
pursuant to Education Code 44865 or an emergency credential pursuant to Education Code 
44300  (Education Code 51747.5) 

The district shall document each student's participation in live interaction and synchronous 

instruction pursuant to Education Code 51747 on each school day, as applicable, in whole or in part, 

for which live interaction or synchronous instruction is provided as part of the independent study 
program. A student who does not participate in scheduled live interaction or synchronous instruction 
shall be documented as nonparticipatory for that school day.  (Education Code 51747.5) 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall also maintain a written or computer-based record such as a 
grade book or summary document of student engagement, for each class, of all grades, 
assignments, and assessments for each student for independent study assignments.  (Education 
Code 51747.5) 
 
The signed, dated agreement, any 

 
CSBA NOTE: Education Code 51747 and 51749.6 authorize specified records to be maintained in 
an electronic file, as provided in the following paragraph. Pursuant to Education Code 51747 and 
51749.6, an electronic file includes a computer or electronically stored image of an original 
document, including, but not limited to, a PDF, JPEG, or other digital file type, that may be sent 
via fax machine, email, or other electronic means. 
Signed written and supplemental agreementagreements, assignment records, work samples, and 
attendance records may be maintained onas an electronic file electronically.  (in accordance with 
Education Code 51747) and 51749.6, as applicable. 

 

Program Evaluation 

 

CSBA NOTE: The following optional section may be revised to reflect district practice. 
The Superintendent or designee shall annually report to the Board the number of district students 
participating in independent study, the average daily attendance generated for apportionment 
purposes, student performance as measured by standard indicators and in comparison to students in 
classroom-based instruction, and the number and proportion of independent study students who 
graduate or successfully complete independent study.  Based on the program evaluation, the Board and 
Superintendent shall determine areas for program improvement as needed. 
 
 
SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Regulation approved: April 10, 2007 
revised: August 9, 2011 
revised: April 14, 2015 
revised: August 10, 2021 
revised: March 08, 2022 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 51747.5 requires districts to document each student's participation in live 
interaction 

interaction or synchronous instruction on a school day must be documented 
as nonparticipatory for that school day.

assignments, assessments, and associated grades. 



Page 1 of 6 
 

Board Policy Manual 
Sierra County/Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District 

Instruction 
Regulation 6158: Independent Study 

 

 
Definitions 
 
Live interaction means interaction between the student and classified or certificated staff, and may 
include peers, provided for the purpose of maintaining school connectedness, including, but not limited 
to, wellness checks, progress monitoring, provision of services, and instruction. This interaction may take 
place in -person, or in the form of Internet or telephonic communication.  (Education Code 51745.5) 
 
Student-parent-educator conference means a meeting involving, at a minimum, all parties who signed 
the student's written independent study agreement pursuant to Education Code 51747 or the written 
learning agreement pursuant to Education Code 51749.6.  (Education Code 51745.5) 
 
Synchronous instruction means classroom-style instruction or designated small group or one-on-one 
instruction delivered in -person, or in the form of Internet or telephonic communications, and 
involving live two-way communication between the teacher and student. Synchronous instruction shall 
be provided by thea teacher or teachers of record for that student pursuant to Education Code 51747.5 
or the certificated employee providing instruction for course-based independent study.  (Education Code 
51745.5) 
 
Educational Opportunities 
 
For the 2021-22 school year, the district shall offer independent study 
 
CSBA NOTE: The following section is optional. Pursuant to Education Code 51745, as amended by AB 
181 (Ch. 52, Statutes of 2022), the list of educational opportunities that may be provided through 
independent study includes Items #1-5 below, and may be revised or expanded to reflect district 
practice. 
 
Educational opportunities offered through independent study may include, but are not limited 
to:  (Education Code 51745) 
 

1. Special assignments extending the content of regular courses of instruction 
 

2. Individualized study in a particular area of interest or in a subject not currently available in the regular 
school curriculum 
 
3.        Individualized alternative education designed to teach the knowledge and skills of the core 
curriculum, but not provided as an alternative curriculum 
 
4.         

3. Continuing and special study during travel 
 
5.         

4. Volunteer community service activities and leadership opportunities that support and strengthen student 
achievement 
 
6.         

5. Individualized study for a student whose health, as determined by the student's parent/guardian, would be 
put at risk by in-person instruction or for a student who is unable to attend in-person instruction due 
to a quarantine due to exposure to, or infection with, COVID-19, pursuant to local or state public 
health guidance 



Page 2 of 6 
 

 
In addition, when requested by a parent/guardian due to an emergency or illness, independent study may 
be used on a short-term basis to ensure that the student is able to maintain academic progress in the 
student's regular classes. 
 
CSBA NOTE: The following paragraph is for use by districts maintaining high schools. 
No course required for high school graduation shall be offered exclusively through independent 
study.  (Education Code 51745) 
 
Equivalency 
 
The district's independent study option shall be substantially equivalent in quality and quantity to 
classroom instruction to enable participating students to complete the district's adopted course of 
study within the customary timeframe. Students in independent study shall have access to the same 
services and resources that are available to other students in the school and shall have equal rights and 
privileges.  (5 CCR 11700, 11701.5) 
 
Students participating in independent study shall have access to Internet connectivity and devices 
adequate to participate in the educational program and complete assigned work.  (Education Code 
51747) 
 
The district shall not provide independent study students and their parents/guardians with funds or items 
of value that are not provided for other students and their parents/guardians.  Providing access to 
Internet connectivity and local educational agencydistrict-owned devices adequate to participate in an 
independent study program and complete assigned work consistent with Education Code 51747, or to 
participate in an independent study course, as authorized by Education Code 51749.5, shall not be 
considered funds or other things of value.  (Education Code 46300.6, 51747.3) 
 
Eligibility for Independent Study 
 
CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 51748, independent study students must be enrolled in school 
as a condition of receiving state apportionments. 
To participate in independent study, a student shall be enrolled in a district school.  (Education Code 
51748) 
 
For the 2022-23 school year and thereafter, the 
 
CSBA NOTE: The following optional paragraph may be revised to reflect district practice. 
The Superintendent or designee may approve the participation of a student who demonstrates the 
motivation, commitment, organizational skills, and academic skills necessary to work independently 
provided that experienced certificated staff are available to effectively supervise students in 
independent study.  The Superintendent or designee may also approve the participation of a student 
whose health would be put at risk by in-person instruction.  A student whose academic performance is 
not at grade level may participate in independent study only if the program is able to provide 
appropriate support, such as supplemental instruction, tutoring, counseling, ongoing diagnostic 
assessments, and/or differentiated materials, to enable the student to be successful.  For an elementary 
student, the Superintendent or designee may consider the parent/guardian's level of commitment to 
assist the student. 
 
CSBA NOTE: The following paragraph limits eligibility for independent study to those students for 
whom state apportionments can be claimed. Education Code 46300.2 provides that districts will 
receive state funding for independent study for students who are residents of the county or an adjacent 
county. Pursuant to Education Code 51747.3, students whose residency status is based on 
parent/guardian employment within district boundaries in accordance with Education Code 48204 are 
not eligible for funds apportioned for average daily attendance (ADA).  
 



Page 3 of 6 
 

 
A student participating in independent study must be a resident of the county or an adjacent 
county.  Full-time independent study shall not be available to students whose district residency status 
is based on their parent/guardian's employment within district boundaries pursuant to Education Code 
48204.  (Education Code 46300.2, 51747.3) 
 
CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 51745, as amended by AB 181, a student with disabilities may 
participate in independent study if the student's individualized education program specifically provides 
for such participation, as specified below. 
 
A student with disabilities, as defined in Education Code 56026, may(Education Code 51745) 
With the exception of students who, during the 2021-2022 school year, cannot participate in classroom-
based independent study if the student's individualized education program (IEP) specifically provides 
for such participation. If a parent/guardian of a student with disabilities requests independent study 
because the student's health would be put at risk by in-person instruction due to a COVID-19 
quarantine, the student's IEP team shall make an individualized determination as to whether the student 
can receive a free appropriate public education (FAPE) in an independent study placement. A 
student's inability to work independently, need for adult support, or need for special education or 
related services shall not preclude the IEP team from determining that the student can receive FAPE in 
an independent study placement. (Education Code 51745)school closure, a 
 
CSBA NOTE: The following paragraph is based on uncodified Section 110 of AB 181 and will remain in 
effect only until July 1, 2024. 
In addition, any student with disabilities who receives services from a nonpublic, nonsectarian school 
through a virtual program may be permitted to participate in independent study if the student's IEP team 
determines that FAPE can be provided to the student by means of the virtual program and other 
conditions of law are satisfied. 
 
A temporarily disabled student shall not receive individual instruction pursuant to Education Code 
48206.3 by means ofthrough independent study. (Education Code 51745) 

Students age 21 or older, and Except for students age 19 or older who have not been continuously 
enrolled in school since their 18th birthday, may participateparticipating in independent study only 
through the adult education program for the purpose of enrolling in courses required for a high school 
diploma by due to an emergency as described in Education Code 51225.3 or the Governing 
Board.  (Education Code 46300.1, 46300.4) 
 
No41422 and 46392 and pregnant and parenting students who are the primary caregiver for their 
child(ren), no more than 10 percent of the students enrolled in a continuation high school or 
opportunity school or program, not including pregnant students and parenting students who are primary 
caregivers for one or more of their children, shall be enrolled in independent study.  (Education Code 
51745)  
 
Monitoring Student Progress 
 
CSBA NOTE: The following optional section may be revised to reflect district practice. 
The independent study administrator and/or supervising teacher shall promptly and directly address 
any failure by the student to meet the terms of the student's written agreement. The following 
supportive strategies may be used: 

to an emergency as described in Education Code 41422 and 46392. A pregnant student 
or a parenting student who  



Page 4 of 6 
 

 
1. A letter to the student and/or parent/guardian 

  
2. A meeting between the student and the teacher and/or counselor 

 
3. A meeting between the student and the independent study administrator, including the parent/guardian if 

appropriate 
 

4. An increase in the amount of time the student works under direct supervision 
 
When the student has failed to make satisfactory educational progress or missed the number of 
assignments specified in the written agreement as requiring an evaluation, the Superintendent or 
designee shall conduct an evaluation to determine whether or not independent study is appropriate 
forin the studentstudent's best interest. This evaluation may result in termination of the independent 
study agreement and the student's return to the regular classroom program or other alternative program. 
 (Education Code 51747, 51749.5; 5 CCR 11701) 
 
A written record of the findings of any such evaluation shall be treated as a mandatory interim student 
record which shall be maintained for three years from the date of the evaluation.  , and if the student 
transfers to another public school in California, the record shall be forwarded to that school. 
(Education Code 51747), 51749.5) 
 
Responsibilities of Independent Study Administrator 
 
CSBA NOTE: The following optional section may be revised to reflect district practice.  
 
The responsibilities of the independent study administrator include, but are not limited to: 
 

1. Recommending certificated staff to be assigned as independent study teachers at the required teacher-
student ratios pursuant to Education Code 51745.6 and supervising staff assigned to independent study 
functions who are not regularly supervised by another administrator 
 

2. Approving or denying the participation of students requesting independent study 
 

3. Facilitating the completion of written independent study agreements 
 

4. Ensuring a smooth transition for students into and out of the independent study mode of instruction 
 

5. Approving all credits earned through independent study 
 

6. Completing or coordinating the preparation of all records and reports required by law, Board policy, or 
administrative regulation 
 
Assignment and Responsibilities of Independent Study Teachers 
 
 
 



Page 5 of 6 
 

Each student's independent study shall be coordinated, evaluated, and carried out under the general 
supervision of a district employee who possesses a valid certification document pursuant to Education 
Code 44865 or emergency credential pursuant to Education Code 44300, registered as required by law, 
and who consents to the assignment.  (Education Code 44865, 51747.5; 5 CCR 11700) 
 

The ratio of student average daily attendance for independent study students age 18 years or younger 
to full-time equivalent certificated employees responsible for independent study shall not exceed the 
equivalent ratio for all other education programs in the district, unless a new higher or lower ratio for 
all other educational programs offered is negotiated in a collective bargaining agreement or the district 
enters into a memorandum of understanding that indicates an existing collective bargaining agreement 
contains an alternative ratio.  (Education Code 51745.6) 
 
CSBA NOTE: The remainder of this section is optional and may be revised to reflect district practice. 
The responsibilities of the supervising teacher shall include, but are not limited to: 
 

1. Completing designated portions of the written independent study agreement and signing the agreement 
 

2. Supervising and approving coursework and assignments 
 

3. Maintaining records of student assignments showing the date the assignment is given and the date the 
assignment is due 
 

4. Maintaining a daily or hourly attendance register in accordance with itemItem #4 in the section on 
"Records for Audit Purpose" in the accompanying Board policy 
 

5. Providing direct instruction and counsel as necessary for individual student success 
 

6. Regularly meeting with the student to discuss the student's progress 
 
CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 51747.5, as amended by AB 181, the district may claim 
apportionment credit for independent study only to the extent of the time value of student work 
products as personally judged by a certificated employee of the district, or the combined time value 
of student work products and participation in synchronous instruction, as long as the synchronous 
instructional offering augments the time value of the student work product and evidence of student 
participation is furnished and maintained. Evidence of student participation may include, but is not 
limited to, student work produced or performed as verified by a certificated employee and maintained 
by the district for each hour or fraction of an hour of the synchronous instructional offering. Education 
Code 51747.5 specifies that the teacher is not required to sign and date the work products. 
 

7. Determining the time value of assigned work or work products completed and submitted by the student 
 

8. Assessing student work and assigning grades or other approved measures of achievement 
 
 
 
 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 51745.6, the equivalency of teacher-student ratios as described 
below is

The Education Audit Appeals Panel's, "Guide for Annual Audits of K-12 Local Education Agencies and State 
Compliance Reporting," includes verification that the district calculated its independent study teacher-student 
ratio  
 



Page 6 of 6 
 

 
CSBA NOTE: Education Code 51747.5 requires districts to document each student's participation in 
live interaction and synchronous instruction pursuant to Education Code 51747 on each school day, as 
applicable, in whole or in part, for which live interaction or synchronous instruction is provided as 
part of the independent study program. A student who does not participate in scheduled live 
interaction or synchronous instruction on a school day shall be documented as nonparticipatory for 
that school day, for purposes of student participation reporting and tiered reengagement pursuant to 
Education Code 51747. 
 

9. Documenting each student's participation in live interaction and/or synchronous instruction pursuant 
to Education Code 51747 on each school day, as applicable, in whole or in part, for which live interaction 
or synchronous instruction is provided as part of the independent study program 
 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that independent study teachers have access to professional 
development and support comparable to classroom-based teachers. 
 
 
SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Regulation approved: April 10, 2007 
revised: August 9, 2011 
revised: April 14, 2015 
revised: June 14, 2016 
revised: September 13, 2016 
revised: May 11, 2021 
revised: August 10, 2021 
revised: March 08, 2022 
revised: November 08, 2022 



Page 1 of 6 

 

**Choose Option 1 or Option 2 on page 5 

Board Policy Manual 

Sierra County/Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District 

Instruction 

Policy 6164.2: Guidance/Counseling Services 

 

 

CSBA NOTE: The following optional Board policy should be revised to reflect district practice. 
Education Code 49600, as amended b AB 2508 (Ch. 153, Statutes of 2022) urges districts to 
offer students a comprehensive educational counseling program that is implemented in a 
structured and coherent manner within a Multi-Tiered Systems of Support framework. Pursuant 
to Education Code 49600, as amended by AB 2508, specialized services offered under such a 
program must be provided by appropriately credentialed school counselors. 

The Governing Board recognizes that a structured, coherent, and comprehensive counseling program 
promotes academic achievement and growth, and serves the diverse needs of all district 
studentsdistrict students. The district shall provide an educational counseling program that offers 
students services and supports within a Multi-Tiered Systems of Support (MTSS) framework, in 
accordance with law. Counseling staff shall be available to provide students with individualized 
reviews of their educational progress toward academic and/or career and vocational goals and, as 
appropriate, may discuss social, personal, or other issues that may impact student learning and well-
being. 

 
CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 44266 and 5 CCR 80049-80049.1, persons authorized 
to provide services in school counseling, school psychology, or school social work must possess a 
Pupil Personnel Services credential, with the appropriate specialization, issued by the 
Commission on Teacher Credentialing. 

The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that all persons employed to provide direct 
school counseling, school psychology, and/or school social work services to students, and/or 
implement equitable school programs and services that support students' academic and social 
emotional development and college and career readiness shall possess the appropriate credential 
from the Commission on Teacher Credentialing authorizing their employment in such 
positions. Responsibilities of each positionsuch positions shall be clearly defined in a job 
description. 

 
CSBA NOTE: The following optional list may be revised to reflect district practice. Education 
Code 49600, as amended by AB 2508, expresses the Legislature's intent that school counselors fulfill 
the following responsibilities.  

Responsibilities of school counselors include, but are not limited to: 

1. 1. Engaging with, advocating for, and providing support for all students with respect to 
learningdirect services, such as individual counseling, group counseling, risk assessment, 
crisis response, and achievementinstructional services, including mental health and 
behavioral, academic, and postsecondary educational services and indirect services, 
including but not limited to, positive school climate strategies, teacher and parent 
consultations, and referrals to public and private community services 

2.  

2. Planning, implementing, and evaluating school counseling programs to promote the academic, 

career, personal, and social development of all students, including students from low-income 

families, foster youth, homeless youth, undocumented youth, and students at all levels of 

academic, social, and emotional abilities 

3. Using 
3. Working within a MTSS that uses multiple data sources of information to monitor and 

improve student behavior, attendance, engagement, and achievement 

4. Collaborating and coordinating with school and community resources 



Page 2 of 6 

 

5.  
4. Developing, coordinating, and supervising comprehensive student support systems in 

collaboration with teachers, administrators, other pupil personnel services professionals, 
families, community partners, and community agencies, including county mental health 
agencies 

 
5. Promoting and maintaining a safe learning environment for all students by providing 

restorative justice practices, positive behavior interventions, and support services, and by 
developing a variety of intervention strategies, and using those strategies, to meet individual, 
group, and school community needs before, during, and after a crisis 

6.  
6. Intervening to ameliorate school-related problems, including issuesproblems related to 

chronic absences and retention 
7.  

7. Using research-based strategies to promote mental wellness, reduce mental health stigma, 
conflict, and student-to-studentand to identify characteristics, risk factors, and warning 
signs of students who develop, or are at risk of developing, mental health and behavioral 
disorders and who experience, or are at risk of experiencing, mistreatment and, including 
mistreatment related to any form of conflict or bullying 

8.  

1.8. Improving school climate and student well-being by addressing the mental and 
behavioral health needs of students during a period of transition, separation, heightened 
stress, and critical changes, accessing community programs and services to meet those 
needs, and providing other appropriate services 

 

2.9. Enhancing students' social and emotional competence, character, health, civic engagement, 
cultural legacyliteracy, and commitment to lifelong learning and the pursuit of high-
quality educational programs 

 
CSBA NOTE: Item #10.  below may be revised to specify only English learners, students 
eligible for free and reduced-price meals, and foster youth, as provided in Education Code 
49600. However, a district is permitted to provide such services to other categories of 
students who may be in need, such as students experiencing homelessness 

10. Providing counseling interventions and support services for unduplicated students who are 
classified as English learners, or foster youth, homeless children, and students eligible for free 
orand reduced-priced meals, or foster youth, including enhancinginterventions and support 
services that enhance equity and access to theappropriate education systemsystems and 
communitypublic and private services 

11.  

11. Engaging in continued development as a professional school counselor 

Educational And Career Counseling 

 
CSBA NOTE: The following optional section is for use by districts that maintain any of grades 7-
12 and may be revised to reflect district practice and the grade levels offered by the district. 
Beginning in grade 7, parents/guardians shall receive a general notice at least once before career 
counseling and course selection so that they may participate in the counseling sessions and 
decisions. (Education Code 221.5) 

 
CSBA NOTE: Items #1-5 below reflect required components of educational counseling programs 
specified in Education Code 49600, as amended by AB 2508. 
The educational counseling program shall include academic counseling and postsecondary services, in 
the following areas: (Education Code 49600)): 

1. 1. Development and implementation, with parent/guardian involvement, of the student's 
immediate and long- range educational plans 

2.  



Page 3 of 6 

 

2. Optimizing progress towards achievement of proficiency standards and competencies 

3.  
3. Completion of the required curriculum in accordance with the student's needs, 

abilities, interests, and aptitudes 
4.  

4. Academic planning for access and success in higher education programs, including 
advisement on courses needed for admission to public colleges and universities, 
standardized admissions tests, and financial aid 

5. Career 
CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 49600, educational counseling must include 
career and vocational counseling, as described in Item #5 below. As amended by AB 2508, 
Education Code 49600 requires that professional development related to career and 
vocational counseling include strategies for counseling students pursuing postsecondary 
education, career technical education, multiple pathways, college, and global career 
opportunities. 

5. High-quality career programs at all grade levels in which students are assisted in doing all of the 

following: 

a.  
a. Planning for the future, including, but not limited to, identifying personal interests, 

skills, and abilities, career planning, course selection, and career transition 
b.  

b. Becoming aware of personal preferences and interests that influence educational 
and occupational exploration, career choice, and career success 

c.  
c. Developing realistic perceptions of work, self-efficacy for the ever-changing work 

environment, the changing needs of the workforce, and the effecteffects of work 
on lifestylequality of life 

d.  
d. Understanding the relationship between academic achievement and career success, and 

the importance of maximizing career options 
e.  

e. Understanding the value of participating in career technical education and work-based 
learning activities and pathways, programs, and certifications, including, but not 
limited to, service learning, those related to regional occupational centers and programs, 
partnership programs, job shadowing, and mentoring experiences and centers, the 
federal program administered by the United States Department of Labor offering free 
education and vocational training to students, known as "Job Corps," the California 
Conservation Corps, work-based learning, industry certifications, college preparation 
and credit, and employment opportunities 

f. Understanding the need to develop essential employable skills and work habits 

g. Understanding the variety of four-year colleges and universities and community college vocational and 

technical preparation programs, as well as admission criteria and enrollment procedures 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 49600, as amended by AB 2508, adds the following 
component to educational counseling programs, reflected below. 

g. Understanding entrance requirements to the Armed Forces of the United States, 
including the benefits of the Armed Services Vocational Aptitude Battery 
(ASVAB) test 

 

 

 

 

 



Page 4 of 6 

 

CSBA NOTE: In addition to the required components listed above, Education Code 49600, as 
amended by AB 2508, includes a list of optional components which a district may, at its discretion, 
offer as part of the educational counseling program. 

The district's educational counseling program also may include, but not be limited to, 
identification of students who are at risk of not graduating with the rest of their classpeers, 
development of a list of coursework and experience necessary to assist students to satisfy the 
curricular requirements for college admission and successfully transition to postsecondary 
education or employment, and counseling regarding available options for a student to continue 
his/her education if he/she failsstudents who fail to meet graduation requirements. to continue 
with their education. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall establish and maintain a program of guidance, placement, 
and follow-up for all high school students subject to compulsory continuation education. 
(Education Code 48431) 

 
CSBA NOTE: As amended by AB 2508, Education Code 49600 also permits districts to offer mental 
and behavioral health services as provided in the following paragraph. 

As part of the district's educational counseling program, students may be offered mental and 
behavioral health services under which a student may receive prevention, intervention, short-term 
counseling services, and mental health related classroom instruction to reduce stigma and increase 
awareness of counseling support services. 

 
CSBA NOTE: Education Code 221.5 prohibits school counselors from offering vocational or 
school program guidance to a student of one sex that is different from that offered to a student 
of the opposite sex. In addition, 5 CCR 4930 prohibits discrimination in counseling programs to 
the same extent that discrimination is prohibited in all other district programs and activities. 
Prohibited bases for discrimination in district programs are specified in BP 0410 - 
Nondiscrimination in District Programs and Activities. 

No counselor shall unlawfully discriminate against any student. Guidance counseling regarding 
school programs and career, vocational, or higher education opportunities shall not be 
differentiated on the basis of any protected category specified in BP 0410 - Nondiscrimination 
in county/districtDistrict Programs and Activities. 

 
In addition, counselors shall affirmatively explore with studentsa student the possibility of careers, 
or courses leading to careers, that are nontraditional for that student's sex. (Education Code 
221.5) 

 
For assessing or counseling students, the county/district shall not use testing or other materials that 
permit or require impermissible or unlawful differential treatment of students. (5 CCR 4931) 

 
CSBA NOTE: 20 USC 7908 requires districts receiving funds under the Elementary and 
Secondary Education Act (ESEA) to provide military recruiters with the same access to students 
as is provided to colleges and prospective employers. Districts that do not grant similar access 
may lose those funds and may be subject to specific interventions, such as notification to the 
Governor and Congress, so that public officials can work with the district. Districts that do not 
receive ESEA funds and that choose to grant access to college and employment recruiters 
should do so on a nondiscriminatory basis. Education Code 49603 provides that military service 
recruiters may not be denied on-campus access to students in grades 9-12 if the district provides 
such access to other employers. For information regarding military recruiter access to student 
directory information, see BP/AR 5125.1 - Release of Directory Information. 

 
Option 1 below is for use by districts that choose to adopt a policy that permits college and 
employment recruiters, including military recruiters, access to students. Option 2 is for districts 
that choose to adopt a policy that does not permit such access. 

 
 



Page 5 of 6 

 

OPTION 1: Colleges and prospective employers, including military recruiters, shall have the same 
access to students for recruiting purposes. (Education Code 49603; 10 USC 503; 20 USC 7908) 

 

OPTION 1 ENDS HERE 

 

OPTION 2: Colleges and prospective employers, including military recruiters, shall not have access to 
students for recruiting purposes. (Education Code 49603; 10 USC 503) 

 

OPTION 2 ENDS HERE 

 
CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Labor Code 3074.2, as added by AB 643 (Ch. 324, Statutes of 
2021), districts are encouraged to provide students with opportunities to explore, make career 
choices, and seek appropriate instruction and training to support those choices, by hosting 
locally focused apprenticeship and/or career and technical education fair events, such as 
college and career fairs. 

The Superintendent or designee shall collaborate with businesses, government agencies, postsecondary 
institutions including universities and career technical schools, community organizations, and/or 
other employers to provide students with actual or simulated work-based learning opportunities 
through college and/or career fairs. 

 
CSBA NOTE: Labor Code 3074.2, as added by AB 643, requires any district planning to hold a 
college or career fair to identify approved apprenticeship programs in the county and notify 
such programs that they are hosting a college or career fair. To identify approved programs the 
district is required to rely on the Division of Apprenticeship Standards' database of approved 
apprenticeship programs, published by the Division of Apprenticeship Standards located on its 
internet web site. 

When planning to hold a college or career fair, the Superintendent or designee shall notify each 
apprenticeship program in the county. The notification shall include the planned date, time and 
location of the college or career fair. (Labor Code 3074.2) 

 

Personal or Mental Health Counseling 

 
CSBA NOTE: The following optional section may be revised to reflect district practice. A 
school counselor, school psychologist, or school social worker may offer personal or family 
counseling in accordance with the authorizations on their credentials. In addition, districts may 
provide mental health services through school-based health centers (see BP 5141.6 - School 
Health Services) and/or may collaborate with community agencies, organizations, and health care 
providers to ensure that services are available. 

A school counselor, school psychologist, or school social worker may provide individualized 
personal, mental health, or family counseling to students in accordance with the specialization(s) 
authorized by his/hertheir credential. Such services may include, but are not limited to, support 
related to the student's social and emotional development, behavior, substance abuse, mental 
health assessment, depression, or mental illness. As appropriate, students and their 
parents/guardians mayshall be informed about community agencies, organizations, or health 
care providers that offer qualified professional assistance. 

 
CSBA NOTE: If a minor is 11 years old or younger, consent by a parent/guardian is required 
before providing the minor with outpatient mental health counseling or treatment services. 
Family Code 6920-6929 and Health and Safety Code 124260 allow a minor age 12 or older to 
consent to outpatient mental health counseling or treatment services without parent/guardian 
consent if, in the opinion of a school psychologist or other professional person, as defined, the minor 
is mature enough to participate intelligently in the services. However, the child's parent/guardian 
must still be involved unless the professional person determines it would be inappropriate. 

Written parent/guardian consent shall be obtained before mental health counseling or 
treatment services are provided to a student, except when the student is authorized to consent 



Page 6 of 6 

 

to the service pursuant to Family Code 6920-6929, Health and Safety Code 124260, or other 
applicable law. 

 
Any information of a personal nature disclosed to a school counselor by a student age 12 years 
or older or by his/herthe student's parent/guardian is confidential and shall not become part of 
the student record without the written consent of the person who disclosed the confidential 
information. The information shall not be revealed, released, discussed, or referred to except 
under the limited circumstances specified in Education Code 49602. (Education Code 49602) 
 
A counselor shall consult with the Superintendent or designee and, as appropriate, with the district's 
legal counsel whenever unsure of how to respond to a student's personal problem or when questions 
arise regarding the possible release of confidential information regarding a student. 

 

Crisis Counseling 

 
The Board recognizes the need for a prompt and effective response when students are confronted with 
a traumatic incident. School counselors mayshall assist in the development of the comprehensive 
school safety plan, emergency and disaster preparedness plan, and other prevention and intervention 
practices designed to assist students and parents/guardians before, during, and after a crisis. 

In addition, the Superintendent or designee shall identify crisis counseling resources to train 

county/district staff in effective threat assessment, appropriate response techniques, and/or methods to 

directly help students cope with a crisis if it occurs. 

Early identification and intervention plans shall be developed to help identify those students who 
may be at risk for violence so that support may be provided before they engage in violent or 
disruptive behavior. 

In addition, the Superintendent or designee shall identify crisis counseling resources to train district staff 

in effective threat assessment, appropriate response techniques, and/or methods to directly help students 

cope with a crisis if it occurs. 

Teacher-Based Advisory Program 

 
CSBA NOTE: The following optional section is for use by districts that choose to provide a teacher-
based advisory program as authorized by Education Code 49600. The following section may be 
revised to reflect district practice, including the grade levels at which the program will operate. It 
should be deleted by districts in which all student counseling is provided by credentialed school 
counselors. 

The Board recognizes that a supportive, ongoing relationship with a caring adult can provide a 
student with valuable advice, enhance student-teacher relationships, and build the student's feelings 
of connectedness with the school. The Board authorizes the development of a teacher-based advisory 
program in which teachers advise students in such areas as academic planning, character 
development, conflict resolution, and self-esteem. Any teacher participating in this program shall be 
under the supervision of a credentialed school counselor as appropriate, receive related information 
and training, and be subject to this Board policy and law, including requirements pertaining to 
student confidentiality and nondiscrimination. 
 
SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Policy adopted: April 8, 2014 
revised: April 12, 2016 
revised: November 08, 2022 



Page 1 of 4 
 

Board Policy Manual 
Sierra County/Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District 

Instruction 
Policy 6178: Career Technical Education 

 

 
CSBA NOTE: The following policy is for use by districts that maintain any of grades 7-12. Education 
Code 51220 requires that the adopted course of study for grades 7-12 include courses in career technical 
education (CTE); see BP/AR 6143 - Courses of Study. 
 
Funding for CTE programs may be available through the federal Strengthening Career and Technical 
Education for the 21st Century Act, sometimes referred to as Perkins V (20 USC 2301-2414), and state 
grant programs such as the California Career Pathways Trust pursuant to Education Code 53010-
53016, the California Career Technical Education Incentive Grant Program pursuant to Education 
Code 53070-53076.4, the Golden State Pathways Program pursuant to Education Code 53020-53025, 
the Apprenticeship Innovation Funding Program pursuant to Labor Code 3110-3112.1, and Youth 
Apprenticeship pursuant to Labor Code 3120-3122.4. In addition, secondary schools may offer CTE 
through partnership academies (Education Code 54690-54697), regional occupational centers and 
programs (ROC/Ps) (Education Code 52300-52335.12), and/or district-funded programs. 
 
The following policy should be revised to reflect program(s) offered by the district and grade levels at 
which such programs shall be offered. 
 
The Board of EducationThe Governing Board desires to provide a comprehensive career technical 
education (CTE) program in the secondary grades which integrates core academic instruction with 
technical and occupational instruction in order to increase student achievement, graduation rates, and 
readiness for postsecondary education and employment. The district's CTE program shall be designed to 
help students develop the academic, career, and technical skills needed to succeed in a knowledge- and 
skills-based economy. The program shall include a rigorous academic component and provide students 
with practical experience and understanding of all aspects of an industry. 
 
The district's CTE program shall focus on preparing students to enter current or emerging high-skill, 
high-wage, and/or high-demand occupations. by providing a rigorous academic component and practical 
experience in all aspects of an industry. CTE opportunities may be offered through linked learning 
programs, partnership academies, apprenticeship programs or orientation to apprenticeships, regional 
occupational centers or programs (ROC/Ps), charter schools, small learning communities, magnet 
programs, or other programs that expose students to career options while preparing them for future 
careers in a given industry or interest area. 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall explore available funding sources that may be used to support CTE 
programs. The Board shall review and approve all district plans and applications for the use of district, 
state, and/or federal funds supporting CTE. 
 
CSBA NOTE: State model curriculum standards for CTE for grades 7-12 integrate the state's academic 
content standards with industry-specific knowledge and skills in 58 career pathways organized into 15 
industry sectors: agriculture and natural resources; arts, media, and entertainment; building trades and 
construction; education, child development, and family services; energy and utilities; engineering and 
design; fashion and interior design; finance and business; health science and medical technology; 
hospitality, tourism, and recreation; information technology; manufacturing and product development; 
marketing, sales, and service; public services; and transportation. The state's curriculum framework for 
CTE provides guidance in implementing the state content standards. Any district that adopts a course 
of study that meets or exceeds the state model curriculum standards will be deemed to have satisfied 
the requirement of Education Code 51228 that the district offer students in grades 7-12 the 
opportunity to attain entry-level employment skills in business or industry upon high school graduation; 
see BP 6143 - Courses of Study. 
The Board shall adopt district standards for CTE which meet or exceed the state's model content standards 
and describe the essential knowledge and skills that students enrolled in these courses are expected to 
master. The course curriculum shall be aligned with district-adopted standards and the state's curriculum 
framework. 



Page 2 of 4 
 

 
CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 52376, the following two paragraphs are mandated for districts 
that accept funds for the purpose of developing and implementing, in consultation with the ROC/P and 
community college serving the geographic area of the district, a CTE program for high school students. 
At least every three years, the Board shall compare the district's curriculum, course content, and course 
sequence of CTE with the model state curriculum standards. (Education Code 52376) 

 
Education Code 51225.3, as amended by AB 185 (Ch. 571, Statutes of 2022), the option to authorize the 
completion of a course in career technical education (CTE) in lieu of the visual or performing arts or 
world language course requirement for high school graduation, which authority was deleted by AB 101 
(Ch. 661, Statutes of 2021), has been restored until July 1, 2027. 
The Superintendent or designee shall systematically review the district's CTE courses to determine the 
degree to which each course may offer an alternative means for completing and receiving credit for 
specific portions of the course of study prescribed by the district for high school graduation. The 
BoardCTE courses approved for these purposes shall ensure that these classes arebe equivalent in 
content and rigor to the courses prescribed for graduation. (Education Code 52376) 
 
CSBA NOTE: Education Code 51760.1 authorizes districts, county offices of education, ROC/Ps, and 
partnership academies to provide work-based learning opportunities which may include, but are not 
limited to, work experience education as defined in Education Code 51764, community classrooms or 
cooperative CTE programs as defined in Education Code 52372.1, and job shadowing as defined in 
Education Code 51769; see BP/AR 6178.1 - Work- Based Learning. In addition, although not specified 
in state law, other examples of work-based learning opportunities cited in CDE's publication, "Multiple 
Pathways to Student Success: Envisioning the New California High School," include student 
internships/field study, apprenticeships, service learning, work in social/civic enterprises or school-based 
enterprises such as student stores, and technology-based or other simulated work experiences. 
The Superintendent or designee shall develop partnerships with local businesses and industries to ensure 
that course sequences, career technical and integrated curriculum, classroom instruction and projects, and 
assessments have real-world relevance and reflect labor market needs and priorities. He/sheThe 
Superintendent or designee shall also work to develop connections with businesses, postsecondary 
institutions, community organizations, and/or other employers to provide students with actual or 
simulated work-based learning opportunities. 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall collaborate with postsecondary institutions to ensure that the 
district's program is articulated with postsecondary programs in order to provide a sequential course of 
study. Articulation opportunities may include dual or concurrent enrollment in community college 
courses. 
 
CSBA NOTE: Education Code 8070 requires the Board to appoint a CTE advisory committee 
composed of representatives from specified groups, as detailed below. During the Federal Program 
Monitoring process, CDE staff will review whether the district has appointed such a committee. 
 
In addition, pursuant to 20 USC 2354 districts that receive Perkins V funding are required to involve 
specified stakeholders in conducting a needs assessment and developing the district application, and on a 
continuing basis thereafter. One way to accomplish this is to include such stakeholders on the CTE 
advisory committee. Other programs may have similar requirements for stakeholder involvement. The 
following paragraph may be revised to reflect requirements applicable to programs offered by the 
district. 
 
The Board shall appoint a CTE advisory committee to develop recommendations on the district's CTE 
program and to serve as a liaison between the district and potential employers. The committee shall 
consist of at least one student, teacher, business representative, industry representative, school 
administrator, member of the general public knowledgeable about the disadvantaged, and representative 
of the field office of the California Employment Development Department. (Education Code 8070) 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 52376 requires districts to determine the extent to which their CTE courses 
may  



Page 3 of 4 
 

 
CSBA NOTE: The following optional paragraph may be revised to reflect district practice. Among 
the criteria for admission to the University of California (UC) or California State University (CSU) 
system is a requirement that high school students satisfactorily complete 15 units of specified courses 
("A-G" courses). These include a growing number of CTE courses that connect knowledge of 
academic content with practical or work-related applications. Education Code 51229 requires that 
districts annually provide parents/guardians of students in grades 9-12 with (1) a brief explanation of 
the A-G course requirements; (2) a list of UC and CSU web sites that provide related information and 
a list of certified A-G courses; (3) a brief description of CTE, as defined by CDE; (4) the Internet 
address for the portion of CDE's web site where students can learn more about CTE; and (5) information 
about how students may meet with school counselors to help them choose courses that will meet 
college admission requirements and/or to enroll in CTE courses. See AR 6143 - Courses of Study and 
E(1) 5145.6 - Parental Notifications. 
The Superintendent or designee shall inform all secondary students and their parents/guardians about the 
CTE experiences available in the district, CTE courses that satisfy college admission criteria, and, if 
applicable, CTE courses that satisfy high school graduation requirements. In addition, secondary students 
shall receive individualized academic counseling which provides information about academic and CTE 
opportunities related to the student's career goals. 
 
CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to 34 CFR 100 (Appendix B), the notice specified below may be made in local 
newspapers, publications or media reaching target populations, or by other means and should include a 
brief summary of program offerings, admission criteria, and the name and contact information of the 
person designated to coordinate Title IX and Section 504 compliance activity. If the population within 
the district contains a community of persons with limited English language skills, the notification must 
be disseminated in the languages of the community. See BP 5145.6 - Parental Notifications for state 
requirements pertaining to the translation of parental notifications. 
Prior to the beginning of each school year, the Superintendent or designee shall advise students, 
parents/guardians, employees, and the general public that all CTE opportunities are offered without 
regard to any actual or perceived characteristic protected from discrimination by law. The notification 
shall be disseminated in languages other than English as needed and shall state that the district will take 
steps to ensure that the lack of English language skills will not be a barrier to admission and participation 
in the district's CTE program. (20 USC 2354; 34 CFR 100 Appendix B, 104.8, 106.9) 
 
CSBA NOTE: The following paragraph is for use by districts that receive funding through Perkins V 
for basic CTE programs pursuant to 20 USC 2301-2414. See the accompanying administrative regulation 
for further information regarding the participation of private school students and staff in district 
programs. 
To the extent required by law, the Superintendent or designee shall invite the participation of private 
school students in CTE programs supported by federal funding under the Strengthening Career and 
Technical Education for the 21st Century Act (Perkins). (20 USC 2397) 
 
CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Labor Code 3074.2, as added by AB 643 (Ch. 324, Statutes of 2021), districts 
are encouraged to provide students with opportunities to explore, make career choices, and seek 
appropriate instruction and training to support those choices, by hosting locally focused apprenticeship 
and/or career technical education fair events, such as college and career fairs. 
The Superintendent or designee shall collaborate with businesses, government agencies, postsecondary 
institutions including universities and career technical schools, community organizations, and/or other 
employers to provide students with actual or simulated work-based learning opportunities through 
college and/or career fairs. 
 
CSBA NOTE: Labor Code 3074.2, as added by AB 643, requires any district planning to hold a college 
or career fair to identify approved apprenticeship programs in the county and notify such programs 
that they are hosting a college or career fair. To identify approved programs the district is required to 
rely on the Division of Apprenticeship Standards' database of approved apprenticeship programs, located 
on its web site. 
When planning to hold a college or career fair, the Superintendent or designee shall notify each 
apprenticeship program in the county. The notification shall include the planned date, time and 
location of the college or career fair. (Labor Code 3074.2) 



Page 4 of 4 
 

 
CSBA NOTE: Teachers of technical, trade, or vocational courses must possess a single subject credential 
or a designated subjects credential issued by the Commission on Teacher Credentialing which authorizes 
teaching CTE courses. The designated subjects CTE credential is available in 15 subjects which reflect 
the 15 industry sectors identified in the state's model curriculum standards; see AR 4112.2 - Certification. 
In order to obtain the preliminary designated subjects credential, teachers must have at least three years 
of work experience directly related to each industry sector specified on the credential. 
The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that teachers of CTE courses possess the qualifications and 
credentials necessary to teach their assigned courses. He/sheThe Superintendent or designee shall also 
provide teachers and administrators with professional development designed to enhance their knowledge 
of standards-aligned CTE and shall provide opportunities for CTE teachers to collaborate with teachers 
of academic courses in the development and implementation of integrated curriculum models. 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall provide counselors and other guidance personnel with professional 
development that includes, but is not limited to, information about current workforce needs and 
trends, requirements of the district's CTE program, work-based learning opportunities, and postsecondary 
education and employment options following high school. 
 
CSBA NOTE: The following paragraph is optional. Education Code 17078.72 provides funding for 
improving and expanding CTE programs through construction of new facilities, remodeling of existing 
facilities, and/or purchase of equipment. 
The Superintendent or designee shall regularly assess district needs for facilities, technologies, and 
equipment to increase students' access to the district's CTE program. 
 
CSBA NOTE: The following paragraph may be revised to reflect requirements applicable to programs 
offered by the district. Pursuant to Education Code 52060, the district must annually review its 
progress toward the goals identified in its local control and accountability plan, including, when 
applicable, measures of student achievement such as the percentage of students who have successfully 
completed courses that satisfy the requirements for CTE sequences or programs of study that align with 
state CTE standards and frameworks. The California School Dashboard provides a tool to assist in 
evaluation of district and school performance and includes measures of CTE pathway completion within 
the college/career readiness indicator. 
 
In addition, each district receiving Perkins V funding must evaluate its progress in achieving specific 
performance levels on core indicators as detailed in the state plan and 20 USC 2323. Pursuant to 20 USC 
2343, if the district falls below 90 percent on any of these targets, the district will be required to 
develop and implement an improvement plan. 

The Superintendent or designee shall annually report to the Board achievement data on participating 
students, including, but not limited to, the percentage of participating students who successfully complete 
CTE programs, their performance on state and district academic achievement tests, and graduation 
raterates. Data shall be disaggregated by program and various student subgroups. Based on such data, the 
Board shall determine the need for program improvements and update the goals in the district's local 
control and accountability plan as necessary. 
 
SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Policy adopted: April 10, 2007 
revised: December 11, 2018 
revised: November 08, 2022 



Page 1 of 6 
 

CSBA NOTE: The following optional administrative regulation should be revised to reflect program(s) 
offered by the 
 

Board Policy Manual 
Sierra County/Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District 

Instruction 
Regulation 6178: Career Technical Education 

 

 
 
 

Federal Grants for Career Technical Education (Perkins) 
 

CSBA NOTE: The following optional section is for use by districts that receive basic grants to 
support programs of career technical education (CTE) pursuant to the Strengthening Career and 
Technical Education for the 21st Century Act, often referred to as Perkins V (20 USC 2301-
2355), which guarantees that each state will receive a minimum grant equal to 90 percent of 
its prior year allocation. 

 
During the Federal Program Monitoring (FPM) process, California Department of Education 
(CDE) staff will review whether the district uses these federal funds to supplement, not supplant, 
state and local funds for CTE activities, as required by 20 USC 2391, and whether funds are used 
for appropriate purposes as described in 20 USC 2355 and in the four-year state plan adopted 
pursuant to 20 USC 2342. 
The district shall submit to the California Department of Education an application for a basic 
grant of the federal Strengthening Career and Technical Education for the 21st Century Act. The 
application shall address the components specified in 20 USC 2354 and any additional 
requirements specified in the state plan developed pursuant to 20 USC 2342. (20 USC 2354) 

 
The district shall conduct a needs assessment in accordance with 20 USC 2354, which shall be updated 
at least once every two years. The needs assessment shall be conducted in consultation with 
representatives of district CTEcareer technical education (CTE) programs, postsecondary CTE 
programs, state or local workforce development boards and businesses, parents/guardians, students, 
and other specified stakeholders. (20 USC 2354) 

 
CSBA NOTE: The district may use Perkins V and other federal, state, and/or district funds to meet the 
program requirements listed below. 
To meet the needs identified in the needs assessment, the Superintendent or designee shall develop, 
coordinate, implement, or improve CTE programs that are of sufficient size, scope, and quality to be 
effective and that fulfill the following purposes: (20 USC 2355) 

1. 1. Provide career exploration and career development activities through an organized, 
systematic framework designed to aid students, including students in the middle grades, in 
making informed plans and decisions about future education and career opportunities and 
programs of study. Such activities shall occur before students enroll and while they are 
participating in a CTE program, and may include: 

a.  
a. Introductory courses or activities focused on career exploration and career awareness, 

including non- traditional fields 
b.  

b. Readily available career and labor market information, including information on 
occupational supply and demand, educational requirements, other information on 
careers aligned to economic priorities, and employment sectors 

c.  
c. Programs and activities related to the development of student graduation and career plans 

d.  
d. Career guidance and academic counselors who provide information on 



Page 2 of 6 
 

postsecondary education and career options 
e.  

e. Any other activity that advances knowledge of career opportunities and assists 
students in making informed decisions about future education and employment 
goals, including nontraditional fields 

f.  
f. Activities that provide students with strong experience in, and comprehensive 

understanding of, all aspects of an industry 
2.  

2. Provide the skills necessary to pursue careers in high-skill, high-wage, or in-demand 
industry sectors or occupations 

3.  
3. Integrate academic skills into CTE programs and programs of study to support participating 

students in meeting state academic standards 
4.  

4. Provide professional development for teachers, school leaders, administrators, specialized 
instructional support personnel, guidance counselors, and/or paraprofessionals, which may 
include the types of activities listed in 20 USC 2355 

5.  
5. Plan and carry out elements that support the implementation of CTE programs and programs 

of study and that result in increased student achievement. Such elements may include 
curriculum aligned with program requirements, sustainable relationships among community 
stakeholders, opportunities for students to participate in accelerated learning programs, 
equipment and instructional materials aligned with business and industry needs, and other 
activities specified in 20 USC 2355. 

6.  
6. Develop and implement evaluations of the activities funded by the grant 

 
CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to 20 USC 2354, the district application for Perkins V funding must 
describe how individuals will not be discriminated against based on their status as members of 
"special populations," as defined in 20 USC 2302. In addition, a district that receives federal aid 
is required by 34 CFR 100 (Appendix B), 104.8, and 106.9 to take "continuing steps" to notify 
students, parents/guardians, employees, employee organizations, and applicants for admission and 
employment that it does not discriminate in its educational programs or activities. See BP 0410 - 
Nondiscrimination in District Programs and Activities. 

 
During the FPM process, CDE staff will check whether the district complies with requirements 
to (1) ensure equitable access by special population students through outreach, recruitment, 
enrollment, and placement activities; (2) identify and adopt strategies to overcome barriers to 
access or success in the program; (3) ensure that counseling materials and activities, including 
student program selection and career/employment selection, and promotional and recruitment 
efforts are nondiscriminatory; and (4) advise students, parents/guardians, employees, and the 
general public, prior to the beginning of the school year, that all CTE opportunities are offered 
without regard to race, color, national origin, sex, or disability in accordance with 34 CFR 100 
(Appendix B). 
The district's program shall provide activities to prepare special populations for high-skill, high-
wage, or in-demand industry sectors or occupations that will lead to self-sufficiency. Special 
populations shall be provided with equal access to CTE programs and shall not be unlawfully 
discriminated against. Special populations include, but are not limited to, students with disabilities, 
students from economically disadvantaged families, pregnant and parenting students, out-of-work 
individuals, English learners, homeless students, foster youth, children of military families, and 
students preparing for nontraditional fields. Nontraditional fields include occupations or fields 
of work, including careers in computer science, technology, and other emerging high-skill 
occupations, for which individuals from one gender constitute less than 25 percent of the 
individuals employed in each such occupation or field of work. (20 USC 2302, 2354, 2373) 
 



Page 3 of 6 
 

Upon written request from a nonprofit private school within the geographical area served by the 
district, the Superintendent or designee shall consult with private school representatives in a timely 
and meaningful manner and may provide for the participation of private school secondary students in 
the district's programs and activities funded pursuant to 20 USC 2301-2414. To the extent 
practicable, the Superintendent or designee shall also, upon request, permit participation of CTE 
teachers, administrators, and other personnel from private schools in the district's inservice and 
preservice professional development programs funded through such grants. (20 USC 2397) 

 
Linked Learning Programs 

 
CSBA NOTE: The following optional section is for use by districts that offer "linked learning" 
programs integrating academic and career technical study (sometimes called "multiple pathways") 
and may be revised to reflect district practice. 
The district shall offer one or more comprehensive, multi-year linked learning programs in grades 
9-12 that are organized around a broad theme, interest area, or industry sector including, but not 
limited to, the industry sectors identified in model standards adopted by the State Board of 
Education pursuant to Education Code 51226. The program shall provide all participating students 
with curriculum choices that prepare them for career entry and a full range of postsecondary 
options, including two-year and four-year colleges, apprenticeships, and formal employment 
training. 

 
At a minimum, the district's linked learning program shall include: 

1. 1. An integrated core curriculum that meets the eligibility requirements for admission to 
the University of California (UC) and the California State University (CSU) and is 
delivered through project-based learning and other engaging instructional strategies that 
bring real-world context and relevance to the curriculum where broad themes, interest 
areas, and CTE are emphasized 

2.  
2. An integrated technical core of a sequence of at least four related courses that may reflect 

CTE standards- based courses and that provide students with career skills, are aligned to 
academic principles, and fulfill academic core requirements described in itemItem #1 
above to the extent possible 

3.  
3. A series of work-based learning opportunities that begin with mentoring and job shadowing 

and evolve into intensive internships, school-based enterprises, or virtual apprenticeships 
4.  

4. Support services, including supplemental instruction in reading and mathematics, that help 
students master the advanced academic and technical content that is necessary for success in 
college and career 

Partnership Academies 
 

CSBA NOTE: The following optional section is for use by districts that have established a 
partnership academy pursuant to Education Code 54690-54699.1 and 54750-54760. A 
partnership academy functions as a school- within-a-school with a career theme and related 
academic courses primarily directed at students who are at risk of dropping out. 
The district shall operate one or more partnership academies as a school-within-a-school focused on 
a broad career theme. The program shall be available to students in grades 10-12, at least half of 
whom shall be students who are at risk of dropping out of school as indicated by three or more of 
the following criteria: (Education Code 54690-54691) 

1. 1. Past record of irregular attendance, with absence from school 20 percent or more of the school 
year 

2.  
2. Past record of underachievement in which the student is at least one-third of a year behind the 



Page 4 of 6 
 

coursework for the respective grade level, or as demonstrated by credits achieved 
3.  

3. Past record of low motivation or disinterest in the regular school program 

4. 4. Economic disadvantage 
5.  

5. Scores below basic or far below basic on the mathematics or English language arts test 
of the California Assessment of Student Performance and Progress 

6.  
6. A grade point average of 2.2 or below or the equivalent of a C minus 

Ninth-grade teachers and counselors shall identify students eligible to participate in a partnership 
academy. Participating students shall be selected by academy staff from among those who have 
expressed an interest in the academy and whose parents/guardians have approved the student's 
participation. (Education Code 54695) 

 
The district's program shall provide: (Education Code 54692) 

1. 1. During each regular school term, instruction in at least three academic subjects that: 

a. a. Prepares students for a regular high school diploma 
b.  

b. Where possible and appropriate, prepares students to meet subject requirements for 
admission to the California State UniversityUC and University of CaliforniaCSU 

c.  
c. Contributes to an understanding of the occupational field of the academy 

2. CTE 
CSBA NOTE: Education Code 54692, as amended by AB 1923 (Ch. 114, Statutes of 2022), 
includes science, technology, engineering, and mathematics courses as required alternative 
courses that must be offered to students participating in partnership academies. 

2. CTE or science, technology, engineering, and mathematics courses offered at each grade level 
at the academy that are part of an occupational course sequence that targets comprehensive 
skills and meets the criteria specified in Education Code 54692 

3.  
3. Classes that are block scheduled in a cluster whenever possible to provide flexibility to 

academy teachers and which may vary in number during grade 12 
4. 4. A mentor from the business community for students during grade 11 

5.  
5. An employer-based internship or work experience that occurs during the summer following 

grade 11 or during grade 12 
6.  

6. Additional motivational activities with private sector involvement to encourage academic 
and occupational preparation 

Attendance in academy classes shall be limited to students enrolled in the academy. (Education Code 
54692) 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall establish an advisory committee consisting of individuals 
involved in academy operations, including district and school administrators, lead teachers, and 
representatives of the private sector. (Education Code 54692) 
 
 
 
 



Page 5 of 6 
 

Apprenticeship Programs 
 

CSBA NOTE: The following optional paragraph may be used by districts that provide a program 
of "orientation to apprenticeships" to students who have not yet applied to an apprenticeship 
program. Such programs are sometimes referred to as "pre-apprenticeship programs." However, 
the Department of Industrial Relations (DIR), in its publication, "Orientation to Apprenticeship: A 
Guide for Educators," notes that "pre-apprentice" is used by some trades as a classification of 
worker and therefore prefers the term "orientation to apprenticeship" to refer to a program 
offered by secondary schools. Items #1-5 below reflect key program components recommended in 
the DIR publication and may be revised to reflect district practice. 
The district shall offer high school and/or adult education students a program of orientation to 
apprenticeships that acquaints students with a broad range of career options, provides information 
regarding available apprenticeship programs, and provides classroom instructional job training which 
guides students to a registered apprenticeable occupation. 

 
The district's program shall: 

1. 1. Introduce students to what they need to know in order to apply, test, and interview for 
acceptance into an apprenticeship program 

2.  
2. Demonstrate the need for proficiency in reading and comprehension, mathematics, science, and 

technology 
3.  

3. Emphasize the necessity to have the ability to communicate in reading, writing, 
speaking, listening, and numeration skills 

4.  
4. Identify the knowledge, skills, and attitudes needed to enter and successfully complete an 

apprenticeship program 
5.  

5. Provide an orientation to a specific craft or trade or to an industry 
 

CSBA NOTE: The following optional paragraph is for use by districts that contract with 
sponsors of approved apprenticeship programs (e.g., individual employers, labor or 
management apprenticeship committees, or joint labor-management apprenticeship 
committees) pursuant to Education Code 8150-8155 and Labor Code 3070- 
3099.5 to provide classes of related and supplemental instruction. Apprenticeship programs are 
offered for a period of one to six years (typically four years) and provide specialized on-the-job 
training that prepares an individual for employment in a craft or trade profession. 
The district may enter into an agreement with a local business, labor or management 
apprenticeship committee, and/or joint labor-management apprenticeship committee that has been 
approved by the Department of Industrial Relations' Division of Apprenticeship Standards to 
sponsor an apprenticeship program in order to develop and deliver related and supplemental 
instruction to students participating in a registered apprenticeship program. (Education Code 
8150-8155; Labor Code 3074, 3075, 3078) 

 



Page 6 of 6 
 

Regional Occupational Center/Program 

The district shall operate and/or partner with a regional occupational center or program (ROC/P), 
established pursuant to Education Code 52335.12, which offers CTE courses, linked learning 
programs, partnership academies, and/or pre-apprenticeship and apprenticeship programs as 
appropriate. 

 
Occupational course sequences offered by the ROC/P shall provide prerequisite courses needed to 
enter apprenticeship or postsecondary vocational certificate or degree programs, focus on 
occupations requiring comprehensive skills leading to high entry-level wages and/or the 
possibility of significant wage increases after a few years on the job, offer as many courses as 
possible that meet college admission requirements, and lead to attainment of an occupational skill 
certificate. (Education Code 52302) 

 
Student Organizations 

 
CSBA NOTE: The following optional section may be used by districts providing any CTE 
program(s). 20 USC 2355 permits the use of Perkins V funding to support career technical student 
organizations and related activities. 
According to CDE, state-supported organizations include California DECA: A Marketing 
Association (formerly Distributive Education Clubs of America), Future Business Leaders of 
America (FBLA), Future Farmers of America (FFA), Future Homemakers of America-Home 
Economics Related Occupations (FHA-HERO), Health Occupations Students of America (HOSA), 
and Skills USA (formerly Vocational Industrial Clubs of America-VICA). 

The district may provide support, including supplies, materials, activities, and advisor expenses, to 
student organizations which engage in activities that are integral to the CTE program and provide for the 
development of student leadership skills. However, no state or federal funds shall be used to pay students' 
membership dues, food or lodging expenses, out-of-state travel, or the cost of a social activity or 
assemblage. 

SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Regulation approved: December 11, 2018 
revised: November 08, 2022 

or more located in a class 2 county, as defined in Education Code 1205. 
ROC/P courses are open to secondary 

 



Page 1 of 3 
 

Board Policy Manual 
Sierra County/Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District 

Instruction 
Policy 6200: Adult Education 

 

 
Cautionary Notice: As added and amended by SBX3 4 (Ch. 12, Third Extraordinary Session, Statutes of 
2009) and ABX4 2 (Ch. 2, Fourth Extraordinary Session, Statutes of 2009), Education Code 42605 grants 
districts flexibility in "Tier 3" categorical programs. The Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District has 
accepted this flexibility and thus is deemed in compliance with the statutory or regulatory program and 
funding requirements for these programs for the 2008-09 through 2012-13 fiscal years. As a result, the 
district may temporarily suspend certain provisions of the following policy or regulation that reflect these 
requirements. For further information, please contact the Superintendent or designee. 

CSBA NOTE: The following policy is for use by any high school district or unified school district 
that maintains an adult education school or program or that participates in a program offered by 
the county office of education. 

 
Education Code 84900-84920 establish the Adult Education Program to provide adult education 
services through a regional consortium of school districts, county offices of education, 
community college districts, and joint powers authorities consisting of those entities. Other 
funding for adult education may be available through local control funding formula 
apportionments, California Work Opportunity and Responsibility to Kids (CalWORKs) funds 
for education and job training (Welfare and Institutions Code 11320-11329.5), the federal 
Workforce Innovation and Opportunity Act (29 USC 3101-3255), Adult Education and 
Literacy Act (29 USC 3271-3333), and/or Strengthening Career and Technical Education for 
the 21st Century Act (20 USC 2301-2414). Pursuant to Education Code 41976, as amended by 
AB 486 (Ch. 666, Statutes of 2021), funds allocated through the Adult Education Program may 
only be used in accordance with law and as specified in the accompanying administrative 
regulation. The district may revise the following policy to reflect requirements of the 
program(s) it offers. 
The Governing Board of Education recognizesbelieves that education is a lifelong 
processendeavor and that it is important for individuals to continuously develop new skills 
necessary to participate effectively as citizens, workers, parents/guardians, and family and 
community members. Eligible adults shall be offered opportunities to enroll in programs and 
courses that develop academic and workforce skills and, as appropriate, lead to completion of 
requirements for high school graduation. 

 
CSBA NOTE: Education Code 51056 and 52515 require approval by the California Department 
of Education (CDE) of courses offered in adult education programs. For further information 
regarding course approval see the accompanying administrative regulation and CDE's web site. 
The Superintendent or designee may develop and overseeshall recommend, for approval by the 
Board and the California Department of Education, courses to be offered through the district's 
adult education program. The  

 
Adult education classes may be offered any day or evening, including weekends, for such length of 
time during the school year as determined by the Board shall . (Education Code 52505) 

 
CSBA NOTE: Classes organized primarily for adults may be taught by holders of the designated 
subjects adult teaching credential pursuant to Education Code 44260.2-44260.3. See the 
Commission on Teacher Credentialing's web site for further information and credential 
requirements. 
The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that all teachers of adult education classes possess an 
appropriate credential issued by the Commission on Teacher Credentialing and have access to high-
quality professional development to continuously enhance their knowledge and skills. 
 
 

 



Page 2 of 3 
 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 52620 permits the Governing Board to authorize an adult 
education student pursuing a high school diploma or a high school equivalency certificate to 
enroll as a special part-time student at a community college. 
Upon recommendation of the administrator of the student's adult school or noncredit program 
of attendance, the Board may authorize an adult education student pursuing a high school diploma 
or a high school equivalency certificate to attend a community college during any session or term as 
a special part-time student. (Education Code 52620) 

 
CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 52508, the Board is authorized to award diplomas 
or certificates to adults and eligible minors enrolled in adult schools upon satisfactory 
completion of a prescribed course of study in an elementary school program, as long as the Board 
has prescribed the requirements for the awarding of any such diplomas pursuant to Education 
Code 52509. 
The Board may award diplomas or certificates to adults and eligible minors enrolled in adult 
schools upon satisfactory completion of a prescribed course of study in an elementary school 
program. (Education Code 52508, 52509) 

Adult education students who fulfill the district's graduation requirements shall receive a diploma 
of high school graduation. 

 
CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 52511, a district may contract with another district to 
provide adult education instruction in any of the situations specified in the following paragraph. 
If the district has an adult school or classes for adults but is unable to maintain such school or classes 
because of an inability to secure a teacher(s) or because of a lack of facilities, the district may, with 
the approval of the County Superintendent of Schools and the Superintendent of Public 
Instruction, contract with another district for the instruction of such students. (Education Code 
52511) 

 
CSBA NOTE: The following two optional paragraphs may be used by districts that participate in 
the regional consortium established for purposes of the Adult Education Program pursuant to 
Education Code 84900-84920. Education Code 84906 requires the consortium to approve all courses 
to be offered in this program.a three-year adult education plan that addresses a three-year fiscal 
planning cycle, and fulfills the components specified in Education Code 84906. The plan is required 
to be updated at least once each year based on available data. 
To ensure efficient and coordinated adult education services, the district may join a regional 
adult education consortium. The district shall participate in the consortium's identification of the 
educational needs of adults in the region, identification of available funding and services, 
development and approval of an adult education plan pursuant to Education Code 84906, and 
implementation of strategies to address the identified needs, improve the effectiveness of district 
services, and improve students' transitions into postsecondary education and the workforce. 

 
The district's representative to the regional adult education consortium shall be designated by the 
Board. (Education Code 84905) 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 52509 mandates the Board of any district maintaining an adult school or program to 
prescribe requirements for the granting of a high school diploma. Courses required for a high school diploma in 
California are specified in Education Code 51225.3; see BP 6146.1 - High School Graduation Requirements. 
Students seeking their high school diploma through adult education must meet those course requirements. However, 
the district may waive any additional district-established high school graduation requirements. Districts that have so revised 
their local graduation requirements for adult education students should modify the following paragraph as appropriate. 



Page 3 of 3 
 

CSBA NOTE: The following paragraph may be revised to reflect indicators of program 
effectiveness identified by the district and/or adult education regional consortium in which the 
district participates. Education Code 84920 requires the Superintendent of Public Instruction and 
California Community College Chancellor (CCCC) to identify common measures for determining 
consortium members effectiveness in meeting the educational needs of adults, which is provided 
for in CDE's and CCCC's, "Adult Education Block Grant (AEBG) Measures of Effectiveness". In 
addition, for districts participating in the federal Adult Education and Family Literacy Act, CDE 
requires the use of the Comprehensive Adult Student Assessment Systems (CASAS), a set of 
standardized assessment instruments developed by the nonprofit organization CASAS, to track 
the progress of adult students. 
The Superintendent or designee shall regularly report to the Board on the effectiveness of the 
district's adult education program. This report shall include, but not be limited to, the number of 
adults and high school students participating in the program, student participation in each type of 
adult education course or class, and the extent to which students successfully completed these 
programs, including, as applicable, the completion of requirements for the high school diploma or 
certificate of equivalency. 
 
SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Policy adopted: April 10, 2007 
revised: January 13, 2009 
revised: November 08, 2022 





Page 1 of 5 
 

CSBA NOTE: The following administrative regulation may be revised for consistency with the adult 
education plan 

 

Board Policy Manual 
Sierra County/Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District 

Instruction 
Regulation 6200: Adult Education 

 

 
Cautionary Notice: As added and amended by SBX3 4 (Ch. 12, Third Extraordinary Session, Statutes of 
2009) and ABX4 2 (Ch. 2, Fourth Extraordinary Session, Statutes of 2009), Education Code 42605 grants 
districts flexibility in "Tier 3" categorical programs. The Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District has 
accepted this flexibility and thus is deemed in compliance with the statutory or regulatory program and 
funding requirements for these programs for the 2008-09 through 2012-13 fiscal years. As a result, the 
district may temporarily suspend certain provisions of the following policy or regulation that reflect these 
requirements. For further information, please contact the Superintendent or designee. 
 
 
 

Enrollment 
 
For adult education programs, adults include persons age 18 or older and other persons not concurrently 
enrolled in a regular high school program. However, high school students may be concurrently enrolled in 
adult education under the conditions specified in the section "Concurrent Enrollment of High School 
Students" below. (Education Code 52523, 52610) 

All adult education programs, courses and classes and their enrollment period shall be listed in the 
district's catalog of adult education classes provided to the public. (Education Code 52523) 

Enrollment 
Adults shall have first priority for enrollment in any adult education class, provided they enroll during the 
regular enrollment period. (Education Code 52523) 
For purposes 

With the exception of these programs, " for adults" include persons age 18 or older or other persons not 
concurrently enrolled in a regular high school program. ( with disabilities specified in Education Code 
52610) 

Students possessing or seeking an F-1 visa designation shall not be enrolled in district52570, adult school 
programs. Students currently enrolled with an F-1 visa designation shall continue to be eligible for 
enrollmenteducation classes shall be located in a facility which clearly identifies attendance in district adult 
schools until their visas expire or until they leave the United States. (8 USC 1184the class as being open to 
the general public. (Education Code 52517, 52570) 
 
Concurrent Enrollment of High School Students 
 
High school students shallmay be permitted to enroll in an adult education program, course, or class for 
sound educational purposes. Such classes shall supplement and not supplant the regular high school 
curriculum. Sound educational purposes include, including, but are not limited to, the following: 
(Education Code 52523) 

1. 1. The adult education program, course, or class is not offered in the regular high school curriculum. 
2.  

2. The student needs the adult education program, course, or class in order to make up deficient credits for 
graduation from high school. 
3.  

3. The adult education program, course, or class allows the student to gain vocational and technical skills 
beyond that provided by the regular high school's vocational and technical education program. 



Page 2 of 5 
 

4.  
4. The adult education program, course, or class supplements and enriches the high school student's 

educational experience. 

CSBA NOTE: The following paragraph is optional. 
High school students are expected to enroll in regular high school classes before seeking admission to any 
similar classes offered in the adult education program. A failed course, however, may be repeated through 
adult education. 
 
Before enrolling in an adult education class, the high school student shall complete a counseling session 
that includes his/herthe student, the student's parent/guardian, and a certificated representative of the high 
school. The certificated high school representative shall ensure that the student's school record includes 
written documentation of the meetingcounseling session and both of the following statements: 
(Education Code 52500.1, 52523) 

1. 1. That the student is enrolling voluntarily in the adult education course or class 
2.  

2. That thisthe enrollment will enhance the student's progress toward meeting educational requirements for 
high school graduation 
 
CSBA NOTE: The following paragraph is optional. Education Code 52500.1 does not require that the 
above statement be signed. However, obtaining the signature of all parties is one way to document the 
student's voluntary participation in the program and the high school representative's determination that 
the program will enhance the student's progress toward graduation. 
The above statement shall be signed by the student, the student's parent/guardian, and the certificated high 
school representative. 
 
ClassesA proposedoffered in the district's adult education classprogram shall have an educational 
purposesupplement and meet the following criteria not supplant the regular high school curriculum. No 
course required for approval by the California Department of Education: 
 
1. The classdistrict for high school graduation or necessary for students to maintain satisfactory 
academic progress shall be located in a facility which clearly identifies the class as being open to offered 
exclusively through the general public, with the exception of apprenticeship training classes, classes 
designed to serve the needs of disabled adults, classes in state hospitals and classes in jails and 
prisons.adult education program. (Education Code 52517, 5257052523) 

Programs and Courses 
2. Class time shall be devoted to instruction. 
3. Course content shall be educational and intended to teach a skill or knowledge unrelated to repetitive 
practices. 
4. The course title shall clearly indicate its educational nature. 
Adult education classes or courses 
CSBA NOTE: The following list should be revised to reflect the types of adult education programs 
offered by the district. Education Code 41976, as amended by AB 486 (Ch. 666, Statutes of 2022), 
authorizes the use of Adult Education Program funds to support the programs listed in Items #1-7 below. 
Local control funding formula (LCFF) and/or other district funds may be used for many of these same 
purposes. 
The district's adult education program shall offer instruction in one or more of the following 
categoriesareas: (Education Code 41976) 

1. Parenting, including parent cooperative preschools, classes in child growth and development, and 
parent-child relationships 

1. 2. ElementaryPrograms in elementary and secondary basic skills and other courses and classes required 
for the , including programs leading to a high school diploma or high school equivalency certificate 



Page 3 of 5 
 

3. English as a second language (ESL) 

4.  
CSBA NOTE: Education Code 52550-52555 require establishing citizenship programs in high school 
districts when 25 or more persons residing in the district apply for such training, and permit such classes 
upon demand when there are a lesser number of applicants. Pursuant to Education Code 41976, as 
amended by AB 486, the course may include immigrant integration. 

2. Programs for immigrants eligible for educational services in citizenship, English as a second language, 
and workforce preparation classes in the basic skills of speaking, listening, reading, writing, mathematics, 
decision making and problem solving, and other classes required for preparation to participate in job-
specific technical trainingworkforce preparation, and immigrant integration 
5.  

3. Programs that are primarily related to entry or reentry into the workforce 
 

4. Programs that are primarily designed to develop knowledge and skills to assist elementary and secondary 
students to succeed academically in school 
 

5. Programs for substantially disabled personsadults with disabilities 

6. 6. Short-term vocationalcareer technical education programs with high employment potential 
7. Programs  

7. Programs offering pre-apprenticeship training activities in coordination with one or more apprenticeship 
programs approved by the Division of Apprenticeship Standards for the occupation and geographic area. 
 
CSBA NOTE: Education Code 52540 sets conditions for establishing English as a second language classes 
in high school districts when 20 or more adults residing in the district apply for such classes. 
 
The district may also offer programs in parenting, family and consumer awareness, English as a second 
language, classes for older adults 
8. Programs for apprentices 
9. Home, home economics 
10. Health, and health and safety education. Such programs shall not be paid for with Adult  
Classes for adults may be offered any day or evening, including weekends, for such length of time during 
the school year as determined by the Board of Education. (Education Code 52505, 52513)Program Funds. 
 
Community Service Classes 
 
CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 51056 and 52515, adult education courses must be approved 
by the California Department of Education (CDE). According to CDE's website, within 20 working 
days of receiving a request, CDE will provide electronic certification of course approval. Authorized 
courses are listed in the Adult Education Course Approval System (A-22) on CDE's web site. 
The Superintendent or designee shall regularly submit to the California Department of Education for 
approval the titles of classes that have been approved by the Governing Board to be offered in any of the 
program, the Board may establish and maintain areas listed above. 
 
CSBA NOTE: The following optional paragraph is for use by districts that offer community service classes; 
see BP 6142.4 - Service Learning/Community Service Classes. Pursuant to Education Code 51810, the 
district may provide community service classes in specified subjects without the approval of CDE. 
Certificates of skill or accomplishmentAdults may also be provided upon the satisfactory completion 
ofenrolled in community service classes. offered by the district. (Education Code 5181351811) 
 
All adult education programs, courses, and classes and their enrollment period shall be published in the 
district's catalog of adult education classes provided to the public. (Education Code 52523) 
 
 



Page 4 of 5 
 

 
 
 
Independent Study 
 
The Superintendent or designee may make independent study available as an instructional strategy for 
students enrolled in adult education as appropriate to meet their individual needs. 
 
ParticipationStudent participation in independent study shall be voluntary. and no student shall be required 
to participate. (Education Code 51747) 

For students 21 years of age or older, or students 19 years of age or older who have not been continuously 
enrolled in school since their 18th birthday, any course taken through independent study must be a course 
listed in Education Code 51225.3 or otherwise required by the Board as a prerequisite to receiving a 
diploma for high school graduation. (Education Code 46300.4) 

Fees 

The district may charge adult education students a registration fee for each  
Fees 
 
CSBA NOTE: Education Code 52612-52613 authorize the district to charge fees for adult education classes, 
with certain exceptions. The total of these fees plus revenues derived from average daily attendance must 
not exceed the estimated cost of all such classes. The following section should be revised to reflect 
district practice. 

The district may require fees for enrollment in an adult education class, with the following exceptions: 

1. No fee. However, no fees shall be charged for athe following adult education programs or classes: 
(Education Code 52612, 52613) 

1. A class for which high school credit is granted, if the class is taken by an individual who does not hold a 
high school diploma. (Education Code 52612) 
2. No charge shall be made for a 

2. A class in an elementary subject or a class in English as a second language or citizenship for foreigners, 
unless the student is a nonimmigrant alien with an F-1 visa status. Any nonimmigrantsnonimmigrant 
enrolled in these classes shall be charged a fee to cover the full cost of the instruction, not to exceed 
actual costs. The fee shall be adopted by the Board at a regular meeting at least 90 days before the 
beginning of the class for which the fee is charged. (Education Code 52612, 52613) 

CSBA NOTE: The following paragraph is optional. 
Except for those fees required by law, the payment of fees may be waived in cases of hardship at the 
recommendation of the Superintendent or designee, the payment of fees may be waived in cases of 
unusual hardship. 
 
The Board may fix a charge, not to exceed costscost, for books furnished to adult education students. 
In some casesIn lieu of fixing such charge, books may be obtained from the district at cost or may be 
obtained on loan loaned to students with the payment of a refundable deposit. In addition, materials 
purchased from the incidental expense account may be sold to adult school students for use in their classes. 
(Education Code 52615, 60410) 

Graduation Requirements 

A certificate of completion of the eighth grade shall be awarded through the adult school upon successful 
completion of the following: 



Page 5 of 5 
 

1. At least one term in the adult elementary program which includes reading, writing, arithmetic, spelling, 
current events, geography, California and U.S. history, civics and natural science 

2. Overall eighth-grade placement on a recognized standard achievement test 

3. Successful passage of a district test in U.S. history and Constitution 

Adult education students who fulfill the district's graduation requirements shall receive a diploma of high 
school graduation. 

SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Regulation approved: April 10, 2007 
revised: November 08, 2022 





Page 1 of 3 
 

Board Policy Manual 
Sierra County/Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District 

Facilities 
Policy 7110: Facilities Master Plan 

 

 
CSBA NOTE: The following optional policy may be revised to reflect district practice. Pursuant to 
the School Facility Program (Education Code 17070.10-17079.30), the State Allocation Board (SAB) 
and Office of Public School Construction administer state funding programs for new construction, 
modernization, career technical education facilities, charter school facilities, critically overcrowded 
school facilities, facility hardships, seismic mitigation, high performance incentives (environmentally 
efficient schools), joint use programs, labor compliance, overcrowding relief, emergency repairs, and 
deferred maintenance. 
 
For additional information about the facilities master planning process, see CSBA's fact sheet, "Facilities 
Master Planning." In addition, CSBA's Facilities Planning program provides assistance with enrollment 
projections and/or the development of facilities master plans. 
 
Although not required by law, the California Department of Education's (CDE) publication, 
"Educational Specifications: Linking Design of School Facilities to Educational Program," recommends 
that the district's facilities master plan be adopted by formal resolution of the Governing Board. 
 
The Governing Board recognizes the importance of long-range planning for school facilities in order to 
address changes in student enrollment, teacher housing needs, and in the district's educational program 
needs. The Superintendent or designee mayshall develop, for Board approval, a master plan for district 
facilities which describes the district's anticipated short- and long-term facilities needs and priorities. 
 
Plan Development 
 
The district's facilities master plan shall be based on an assessment of the condition and adequacy of 
existing facilities, a projection of future enrollments, and alignment of facilities with the district's 
vision for the instructional program. 
 
To solicit broad input into the planning process, the Superintendent or designee may establish a facilities 
advisory committee that may consistconsisting of staff, parents/guardians, and business, local 
government, and other community representatives. He/she alsoThe Superintendent or designee shall 
ensure that the public is informed of the need for construction and modernization of facilities and of 
the district's plans for facilities. The committee may consult local governmental and state planning 
agencies in order to ensure compliance with local and state standards. 
 
At least 45 days prior to completion of any facilities plan that relates to the potential expansion of 
existing school sites or the necessity to acquire additional school sites, the Superintendent or designee 
shall notify and provide copies of the plan or any relevant and available information to the planning 
commission or agency of the city or county with land use jurisdiction within the district. 
(Government Code 65352.2) 
 
If the city or county commission or agency requests a meeting, the Superintendent or designee shall meet 
with the commission or agency within 15 days following the notification. Items that the parties may 
discuss at the meeting include, but are not limited to, methods of coordinating planning with proposed 
revitalization efforts and recreation and park programs, options for new school sites, methods of 
maximizing the safety of persons traveling to and from the site, and opportunities for financial assistance. 
(Government Code 65352.2) 
 
CSBA NOTE: The following optional paragraph may be revised to reflect district practice. In its 
"Public School Construction Cost Reduction Guidelines," SAB recommends that facilities master plans be 
reevaluated whenever a new construction project is initiated or at intervals not exceeding five years. 
 



Page 2 of 3 
 

The master plan shall be regularly reviewed and updated as necessary to reflect changes in the educational 
program, existing facilities, finances, or demographic data. 
 
Plan Components 
 
CSBA NOTE: CDE's publication, "Educational Specifications: Linking Design of School Facilities to 
Educational Program (Appendix 1)," recommends components that should be addressed in the facilities 
master plan. Items #1-8 below are optional and may be revised to reflect district practice. 
 
The facilities master plan shall include: 
 

1. A statement of purpose, including district goals, philosophy, and related policies
2. A description of the planning process 
3. Demographics of the community, such as economic trends, migration patterns, employment base, 

residential base, socioeconomic makeup, historical school enrollments, and inventory of physical 
resources and needs 

4. A description of the educational program, such as grade-level organization, class size, staffing 
patterns, technology plans, special programs and support services, and other educational 
specifications 

5. Analysis of the safety, adequacy, and equity of existing facilities and potential for expansion, including 
the adequacy of classrooms, school cafeterias and food preparation areas, physical activity areas, 
playgrounds, parking areas, and other school grounds 

6. Site selection criteria and process 
7. Development of a capital planning budget and identification of potential funding sources 
8. Policy for reviewing and updating the plan 

 
Planning shall ensure that school facilities meet the following minimum standards: (5 CCR 14001) 
 

1. Are aligned with the district's educational goals and objectives 
2. Provide for maximum site enrollment at school facilities 
3. Are located on a site that meets California Department of Education standards as specified in 5 CCR 

14010 
4. Are designed for the environmental comfort and work efficiency of the occupants 
5. Are designed to require a practical minimum of maintenance 
6. Are designed to meet federal, state, and local statutory requirements for structure, fire, and public 

safety 
7. Are designed and engineered with flexibility to accommodate future needsneed 

 
CSBA NOTE: 5 CCR 14030 delineates detailed standards for developing plans for the design and 
construction of school facilities. All school districts must comply with these standards, whether a project 
is state funded or locally funded. Other legal requirements for facilities plans, including Education 
Code 16011, 16322, and 17251, vary depending on the funding source and type of project. 
 
Pursuant to the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) (42 USC 12101-12213) and 28 CFR 35.150 
and 35.151, district facilities must be accessible to and usable by individuals with disabilities. In 
achieving compliance, a district need not make structural changes to existing facilities if other methods 
are effective and the district can demonstrate that the structural change would result in a fundamental 
alteration in the nature of the activity or an undue financial or administrative burden. However, all 
newly constructed facilities must comply with the 2010 ADA Standards for Accessible Designs 
pursuant to 28 CFR 35.151. CSBA's ADA Compliance Program offers a variety of accessibility services 
including, but not limited to, facilities inspections and planning to transition facilities into full ADA 
compliance. 
 
California Green Building Standards Code, Title 24, Part 11 of the California Code of Regulations, 



Page 3 of 3 
 

("CALGreen") establishes both mandatory requirements and voluntary standards for "green" building, 
which apply to all new construction and are applicable to K-12 schools. CALGreen addresses five major 
areas: (1) planning and design, (2) energy efficiency, (3) water efficiency, (4) material conservation and 
resource efficiency, and (5) indoor environmental quality. 
 
Health and Safety Code 53570-53574, The Teacher Housing Act of 2016, authorizes districts to establish 
and implement programs that address the housing needs of teachers and district employees facing 
challenges in securing affordable housing. Pursuant to Education Code 17283.5 and Government Code 
4454.5, as added by AB 306 (Ch. 49, Statutes of 2021), residential housing, defined as any building used 
as a personal residence by a teacher or employee of a district, with the teacher's or employee's family, is 
specifically exempt from obtaining approval from the Department of General Services for earthquake 
safety (Field Act) and access by persons with disabilities. 
 
Plans for the design and construction of new school facilities also shall also meet the standards described 
in 5 CCR  
14030, green building standards pursuant tothe California Green Building Standards Code, Title 24 CCR 
101 et seq.,, Part 11 of the California Code of Regulations ("CALGreen"), the Americans with 
Disabilities Act (ADA) pursuant to 42 USC 12101-12213, and any other requirements applicable to 
the funding source and type of project. 
 
However, plans for residential housing, which includes any building used or intended to be used by the 
district as a personal residence by a teacher or employee of the district, is not considered to be a "school 
building" and does not require approval by the Department of General Services regarding earthquake 
safety and/or the ADA. (Education Code 17283.5; Government Code 4454.5) 
 
CSBA NOTE: Subject to the availability of funds, districts may apply pursuant to Education Code 
17077.40- 17077.45 to fund joint use projects which are part of (1) a qualifying new construction 
project that will either increase the size and/or create extra costs beyond that necessary for school use 
of the multipurpose room, gymnasium, child care facility, library, or teacher education facility; or (2) a 
modernization project or a stand-alone project to provide for a multipurpose room, gymnasium, child care 
facility, library, or teacher education facility at a school that does not have the type of facility needed or 
has an inadequate facility. 
 
To facilitate the efficient use of public resources when planning for new construction or 
modernization of school facilities, the district may consider designs that facilitate joint use of the facility 
with a local governmental agency, public postsecondary institution, or nonprofit organization. 
 
SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Policy adopted: April 10, 2007 
revised: August 14, 2012 
revised: November 08, 2022 





Page 1 of 2 
 

Board Policy Manual 
Sierra County/Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District 

Facilities 
Policy 7150: Site Selection And Development 

 

 
CSBA NOTE: Education Code 17070.10-17077.10 sets forth eligibility requirements for the receipt 
of state facilities funds under the Leroy F. Greene School Facilities Act of 1998 (Proposition 1A). As 
a condition for receipt of the funds, Education Code 17070.50 requires districts to obtain written 
approval from the California Department of Education (CDE) and certify to the State Allocation 
Board that the district's site selection and building plans comply with the regulations developed by 
CDE, pursuant to Education Code 17251(b) and (c). In addition, Education Code 17070.50 requires the 
district to certify that the services of an architect, a structural engineer, or other design professional has 
been selected using a competitive process consistent with Government Code 4526. See BP/AR 7140 - 
Architectural and Engineering Services. 
 
The Governing Board of Education believes that a school site should serve the district's educational needs 
in accordance with the district's master plan, as well as show potential for contributing to other 
community needs. 
 
The Board recognizes the importance of community input in the site selection process. To this end, the 
Board will solicit community input whenever a school site is to be selected and shall provide public 
notice and hold public hearings in accordance with law. 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall establish a site selection process which complies with law and 
ensures that the best possible sites are acquired and developed in a cost-effective manner. 
 
CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 17211, districts are required to ensure that property acquired 
for a new school or an addition to an existing school site meets standards for school site selection as 
specified in 5 CCR 14010-14012. 
 
Before acquiring property for a new school or an addition to an existing school site, the Board, at a public 
hearing, shall either evaluate the property at a public hearing using state site selection standards. 
(Education Code 17211 specified in 5 CCR 14010 or, if a district advisory committee was appointed to 
evaluate the property, receive the committee's report of findings based on those standards. (Education 
Code 17211, 17251) 
 
Environmental Impact Investigation for the Site Selection Process 
 
CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Public Resources Code 21082, districts are mandated to adopt procedures for 
the evaluation of all projects (beyond just site selection) and the preparation of environmental impact 
reports and negative declarations required under the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA). 
In order to satisfy this mandate, the district may either (1) adopt the actual CEQA guidelines, as 
applicable, as its own procedure, (2) adopt the county or city guidelines, (3) or develop its own 
procedure. In most cases, the district's environmental investigation will conclude with a simultaneous 
public review of both the environmental documentation and, if applicable, the Department of Toxic 
Substance Control (DTSC) documents. 
 
Pursuant to Public Resources Code 21092 and 21092.2, as amended by AB 819 (Ch. 97, Statutes of 
2021), when CEQA requires a draft environmental impact report, environmental impact report, negative 
declaration, or mitigated negative declaration (environmental review documents), the district is required 
to post on its web site those environmental review documents, and public notice of the preparation and 
availability of such documents. The district must email specified notices when written requests for 
notices have been filed. See Exhibit 1113-District and School Web Sites and the accompanying 
administrative regulation. 
 



Page 2 of 2 
 

The following paragraph provides for the use of CEQA guidelines for the evaluation of all projects, 
including site selection. Districts that have adopted the city/county guidelines or their own procedure 
should modify the paragraph accordingly. 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall determine whether any proposed development project is subject 
to the requirements of the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) and shall ensure compliance 
with this Act whenever so required., including any web site posting requirements. When evaluating 
district projects, the CEQA guidelines shall be used. 
 
Environmental review documents, including a draft environmental impact report, environmental 
impact report, negative declaration or mitigated negative declaration, and public notice of the preparation 
and availability of such documents, shall be posted on the district's web site. (Public Resources Code 
21082.1, 21092, 21092.2) 
 
Agricultural Land 
 
CSBA NOTE: In 82 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 130 (1999), the Attorney General opined that a district may 
construct a school on land designated by a county ordinance for "agricultural, open space or rural land 
use." However, the Board must, by a two-thirds vote pursuant to Government Code 53094, render the 
ordinance inapplicable to the proposed use of the property. See 9323.2 - Actions by the Board. The 
exemption can be blocked only by a court determination that the action was "arbitrary and capricious." 
 
If the proposed site is in an area designated in a city, county, or city and county general plan for 
agricultural use and zoned for agricultural production, the Board shall determine all of the following: 
(Education Code 17215.5) 
 

1. That the district has notified and consulted with the city, county, or city and county within 
which the prospective site is to be located 
 

2. That the Board has evaluated the final site selection based on all factors affecting the public 
interest and not limited to selection on the basis of the cost of the land 

 
3. That the district shall attempt to minimize any public health and safety issues resulting from the 

neighboring agricultural uses that may affect students and employees at the site 
 

SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Policy adopted: April 10, 2007 
revised: November 08, 2022 



Page 1 of 2 
 

Board Policy Manual 
Sierra County/Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District 

Facilities 
Regulation 7150: Site Selection And Development 

 

 
As part of the district's site selection process, the Superintendent or designee shall: 
 

1. Meet with appropriate local government recreation and park authorities to review all 
possible methods of coordinating the planning, design, and construction of new school 
facilities and school sites or major additions to existing school facilities and recreation and 
park facilities in the community. (Education Code 35275) 

 
2. Notify the appropriate local planning agency in writing and request its report and 

recommendations regarding the proposed site or proposed addition's conformity with the 
adopted general plan. (Government Code 65402; Public Resources Code 21151.2) 

 
3. Have the site investigated by competent personnel with regard to population trends, 

transportation, water supply, waste disposal facilities, utilities, traffic hazards, surface 
drainage conditions, and other factors affecting initial and operating costs. This investigation 
shall include geological and soil engineering studies to preclude locating the school on terrain 
that has the potential for earthquake or other geologic hazard damage as specified in 
Government Code 65302. (Education Code 17212-17212.5) 

 
4. As necessary, request 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 17212.2 authorizes the district to request information from 
the following entities in order to evaluate the safety of a proposed site. 

4. Make a written request for information necessary or useful to assess and determine the safety 
of a proposed school site, or an addition to an existing school site, from a person, 
corporation, public utility, locally publicly owned utility, or governmental agency 
regarding pipelines, electric transmission and distribution lines, railroads, and storage 
tanks in accordance with law. (Education Code 17212.2, 17251) 

 
4.5. Ensure that the site meets state standards for school site selection as specified in 5 CCR 14010-

14012. 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Public Resources Code 21092, 21092.2, 21092.3, and 21152, as 
amended by AB 819 (Ch. 97, Statutes of 2021), districts are required to (1) post specified 
notices to the district's web site, (2) submit a notice of determination or notice of 
exemption with the county clerk electronically, if that option is offered by the county 
clerk, and (3) file an environmental notice with the Office of Planning and Research using 
their online process. 

 
6. Ensure compliance with the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) as required by 

law., including posting required notices to the district web site. (Public Resources Code 
21000-21177) 

7. If 
7. Notify the California Department of Education in writing before acquiring title or 

leasing the site if the proposed site is within two miles of the air line of an airport 
runway or proposed runway, before acquiring title to or leasing the site, notify the 
California Department of Education in writing.. (Education Code 17215) 

8. If 
8. Conduct an air quality analysis pursuant to Health and Safety Code 44360 and Education 

Code 17213 if the proposed site is within 500 feet of the edge of the closest traffic lane 
of a freeway or other busy traffic corridor, conduct an air quality analysis pursuant to 
Health and Safety Code 44360 and Education Code 17213 and determine that the air 
quality at the proposed site is such that neither short-term nor long-term exposure poses 
significant health risks to students. (Education Code 17213) 



Page 2 of 2 
 
 

CSBA NOTE: Both a Phase I environmental assessment and a preliminary endangerment 
assessment, if necessary, must be conducted pursuant to Education Code 17213.1 to determine 
whether a release of hazardous materials has occurred, as provided in Item #1 below. The district 
must submit these documents to CDE and the Department of Toxic Substance Control (DTSC) 
for review. If hazardous substances are disclosed, Education Code 17213.1 authorizes DTSC to 
order the district to complete certain "response actions" prior to securing state funding. 
 
In the selection and development of projects funded pursuant to the School Facilities Program of 
1998 (Proposition 1A) as contained in Education Code 17070.10-17077.10, the Superintendent 
or designee shall: 
 

1. 1. Determine whether the proposed site is free of toxic contamination by ensuring that a 
Phase I environmental assessment and/or preliminary endangerment assessment is conducted 
as required by law (Education Code 17213.1) 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that the preliminary endangerment assessment is 
made available for public review and comment in accordance with Education Code 
17213.1. 
 

2. Annually submit a
2. Submit an annual summary report of expenditures to the State Allocation Board in accordance 

with law (Education Code 17076.10) 
 

3. Include in the plans a hard-wired connection to a public switched telephone network or utilization of 
wireless technology (Education Code 17077.10) 

 
CSBA NOTE: The Office of Public School Construction recommends that districts consult with legal 
counsel to ensure compliance with the disabled veteran provisions of Item #4 below. 
 

1.4. Establish a participation goal of at least three percent, per year, of the overall dollar amount expended 
each year by the district for disabled veteran business enterprises (Education Code 17076.11) 

 
 
SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Regulation approved: April 10, 2007 
revised: November 08, 2022 




